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Preface
to the Seventh Edition

Some people seem to take to bookkeeping and accounts like ducks to
water. Others dread the prospect of 'doing the books' and looking after
the paperwork of a business or other organisation. However you feel
about it, do remember that accounts are just as important as any other
aspect of a business, and can be crucial to its prosperity and even
survival.

In 'doing the books' you will be at the very heart of the business with
your hands on the controls. You will be involved in the management of
its assets and liabilities, its expenses and its profit margins. The more
control you have over these, and the records and figurework on which
they are based, the better you will be able to control the business.

At first it may seem unfamiliar and even daunting - a world of
accounts books, journals, ledgers, adjustments and strange calculations.
If your business is small, you can actually keep things very simple: then
as it grows you may want to start a proper double entry bookkeeping
system. Whatever your needs, this book has been written to guide you
through step by step, to show how you can keep your business accounts
and apply your new knowledge and experience, whether as a sole
trader, partnership or limited company.

Like so many things the world of accountancy and finance is ever
changing. This seventh edition of the book has been updated to reflect
these changes. In particular sections are now included to introduce the
concept of Limited Liability Partnerships, and the introduction of the
Flat Rate VAT scheme for smaller businesses. There are also many
other alterations to reflect the changes in taxation, and in accountancy
practice.

11
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1

Why You'll Need Proper
Business Records

HOW YOUR ACCOUNTS WILL HELP YOU

Bookkeeping can sometimes seem a chore - especially if you feel like
getting on with other things such as production or sales; but it's worth
remembering that there are several reasons (and advantages) for keeping
good business records, and many of them are a real advantage to you:

to show you where you stand financially
to help you make important financial decisions
to help you agree (and perhaps reduce) your tax liabilities
to control VAT - collecting it in and paying it out
to help your audit in certain cases, and keep the auditing costs down
to discuss your financial position with other people.

Let's consider them in turn.

Knowing where you stand financially
Without proper business records you will never know what your real
financial position is. Not all businessmen and women, particularly when
running small businesses, want to produce detailed financial statements
every month, but it is very useful to be able to work out:

how much money you have at the bank
how much is owed to you by your customers
how much you owe to your suppliers.

If you know that the money owed to you is enough to pay off your cred-
itors and the bank, then you should certainly be able to sleep at night.
(Do you know your current financial position?)

Suppose you suddenly find yourself short of £540 to pay a pressing
supplier. You decide to telephone your bank manager to see if he will
grant you some temporary help to tide you over.

13



14 Book-keeping & Accounting for the Small Business

Business manager. 'Hello Alan, I wonder if you can help me? I
urgently need to find £540 to pay off a supplier who's threatened to stop
an important delivery of new materials unless I pay. Can you help?'

Bank manager. 'Yes, I should think so. What's your overdraft at the
moment?'

Business manager. 'It's only about £1300 . . .'
Bank manager (checking statement). 'Yes, but hold on - I see some

cheques still haven't cleared. I make it £1819.89 - and didn't we agree
a limit of £1500?'

Business manager. 'Eighteen hundred quid? Good heavens, are you
sure? I'd no idea.'

Bank manager. 'Well, you should have! How much is owed to you
by your customers? If it's a lot, we may be able to sort something out.'

Business manager. 'I don't think we've got an exact figure - it must
be a thousand or two. The papers are all over the place at the moment.'

Bank manager. 'Look, why don't you get your accountant in, and get
the exact figures, then we can meet and see what can be done.'

Business manager (groaning). 'That's going to take ages and cost
money - isn't there anything else we can do?'

Bank manager. 'Well, we've got to have the facts first. . .'

The business manager needs help, and the bank manager wants to give
it - but not just on a wing and a prayer. What would you think of your
bank manager if he was sloppy with key figures?

Could you answer the above questions about your own business?
Broadly speaking, if 'what we've got' is more than 'what we owe'

the business is solvent. If not, it is insolvent and probably should not go
on trading. However, it should be kept in mind that some of the assets
('what we've got') are not in a form that can be used to pay the bills. The
vehicles and equipment, etc. (collectively called fixed assets) are for the
long-term benefit of the business and are not readily turned into cash.
You should therefore also consider the situation without taking account
of these items.

But these are basic questions, and are only the beginning of gaining
a real understanding of your business as a financial entity. If you can't
find the answers to these questions fairly quickly and accurately, you
will certainly need this book.

Making financial decisions
Armed with an up-to-date statement of your financial position and
recent trading you can start to make real financial decisions. Can you
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afford to replace the delivery van? Is it worth taking on an extra sales-
man? Do you need a partner? Without business records to provide you
with the necessary facts you will not be in a position to make such
decisions.

Let's take some examples:

Decision

1 Buy a new van?

Information needed Business records

Exact cash position?
General liquidity

position?

Enough profit to
cover?

Cash book
Sales and purchase

ledgers; cash flow
forecast

Management
accounts

How my business stands financially

What we 've got
Vehicles, plant, buildings, equipment, etc.
Value of our work in progress
Value of our stocks
Money owed to us by our customers
Cash at bank and in hand

What we owe
To the bank
To our suppliers
To HP companies
To anyone else

Total

Difference
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Decision

2 Take on new staff?

3 Extra credit to big
customer?

Information needed Business records

Wages and NI costs?
Afford?

Can I finance it?

PAYE records
Profit forecast
Cash flow forecast

Cash book
Cash flow forecast
Profit forecast

(interest)

'We got a great new account - lots of new business - but had no idea
what giving them so much credit would mean. If only we knew what our
trading margins had been, and had had a proper cash flow.' Director of
insolvent engineering company.

'I desperately needed a partner to help the business and put in more
cash, but I just couldn't prove to him that we're getting a good return on
our money.' Proprietor of a catering firm.

'Our customer had several different invoices from us. He paid part of
the third one, none of the first two and queried part of the seventh. We
completely lost track of the account, and ended up having to write it off.'
Housewife running a wholesale crafts business.

Agreeing your tax liability
If the business seems to be 'running itself you may not feel you need
information to make financial decisions (although you could probably
run the business even better if you did). But you will still need to keep
records in order to agree your exact liability with the Inland Revenue.
Under Self Assessment you are required by law to maintain proper
accounting records and you can be fined up to £3,000 if you fail to do
so. If you don't keep on top of the situation you could soon lose out in
several ways:

fines imposed by the Inland Revenue
loss of tax allowances you might be entitled to
much wasted expense in getting your accountant in to sort out the
details
wasted time that could have been better spent on production or
sales
annoyed customers through mix-ups on their accounts, causing loss
of business
aggravation, spoiled plans and sleepless nights.
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'We seemed to spend the whole of November and December trying to
sort out the wretched problem - and when the accountant sent in his bill
it was more than double last year's and I think the Revenue have made
me a marked man.'

Rate you.rself
I know: Exactly.       Roughly No idea
What allowances I can claim 2 1 0
How much tax us duye
When it is du.e 
When my Self Assessment

form is due with the Inland Revenue 2
How much my accountant

charges per hour for tax
work

Score
10 You've got the message.
7-9 You can identify the information you need.
4-6 Time to give yourself a serious talking to.
1-3 You have been warned!

Accounting for VAT
Except in certain cases (see page 41) your business will have to register
for VAT. You will have to keep proper records so that you can account
for the correct amount of VAT to the Customs & Excise. You will usu-
ally need to charge 17.5 per cent VAT to your customers and pay 17.5
per cent VAT to your suppliers. There is no way round this (unless you
run a crooked business) and you need to keep right on top of it each
month or quarter - as the Customs & Excise most certainly will. If you
get behind, they'll soon be after you with final warnings and penalties.
But since you collect VAT, it can actually be a benefit to your cash flow.
VAT is dealt with more fully in Chapter 3.

Auditing your business
If your business is a limited company its accounts may have to be audit-
ed (checked) each year by an independent qualified auditor. The auditor,
usually a chartered accountant or certified accountant, has to go right
through your records and satisfy himself that your accounts give a 'true
and fair' view of the company's financial situation and of its profit or
loss for the period. He must then give a report (which is appended to the

2 1                   0.
2 1                  0.

1                   0.2

2               1                0.
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accounts) to say that he has examined the records and to state his
findings. This is required under company law. If the auditor is not happy
about the accounts he may qualify his report (include a note of warning
or caution). A company has to file its audited accounts each year at
Companies House, where they are open to public inspection for a small
fee.

In addition various other legislative and professional requirements
have made an audit necessary for certain classes of business. For exam-
ple, solicitors' accounts need to have a specific report submitted to the
Law Society and the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 requires
an audit of businesses that do investment advisory work.

Without proper business records the auditor won't be able to do his
work and the business won't be able to meet the requirements of an
audit. What then?

you will have to pay an accountant possibly large fees to sort out
your books
you may ultimately be prosecuted under company law.

However, once you do have the audited accounts, you should have an
accurate picture of the financial position of your business. Indeed, you'll
probably be chasing your accountant to get them out as soon as possi-
ble, so that you know exactly where you stand.

Discussing your financial position with other people
From time to time you may need to give other people an up-to-date
financial picture of your business. In particular if you are relying on
bank finance then the bank may ask you to provide regular information
about your debtors (customers owing you money) and creditors
(money owed by you to your suppliers) so that they can monitor the
healthy progress of the business. And you may need facts and figures to
discuss with:

any co-directors, partners or senior staff
a possible outside investor or partner in your business
a major supplier (for example, if you are hoping to get extended
credit)
any major creditor who is unhappy about the way your business is
going, and the risk he is taking.
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Some horror stories
Some typical comments from bankruptcy proceedings:

'The company was flying by the seat of its pants. It simply had no
idea whether it was trading at a profit or loss each month.'

'None of the partners knew what bills the other partners were run-
ning up. There were no proper records, and none of them seemed to
appreciate that each was individually liable for all the debts of the
partnership.'

'Didn't you ever sit down and do a cash flow forecast?'
'You left it all to your accountant? Are you saying he was actually a

director of the company?'
'They never bothered to do a bank reconciliation statement and

didn't seem to realise their cheques would bounce. No wonder the bank
foreclosed. They had been pretty patient.'

'They didn't know what all that gear was really costing them - not
just the repayments, but interest charges, service costs, let alone
depreciation which seemed to take them by surprise.'

'The receiver couldn't collect any money from customers, to speak
of. The firm didn't even issue statements, let alone keep a sales ledger.'

'They seemed to think they'd never actually have to send in a PAYE
return.'

Hard to believe? Yet the failure to keep proper business records is
given time and time again as the main reason why an otherwise promis-
ing venture eventually failed.

WHAT RECORDS WILL I NEED?

The type of records you will need will depend on several factors. For
example:

Is the business large or small?
How much bookkeeping work does the proprietor want to do?
What kind of business is it - sole trader, partnership or limited
company?
What type of trade is conducted by the business?

Let's consider each in turn.

The size of the business
There can be no hard and fast categories for size of a business. But
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obviously a national chain store such as Marks & Spencer will have a
more sophisticated accounting system than a local trader with a market
stall. The point at which you need more complicated records will also
depend partly on the type of trade. However, here are some guidelines
to get you started:

If you are owed money by more than about 15 customers then you
should consider starting a sales ledger system with the appropriate
sales day book. (For the explanation of these terms see Chapter 4.)

If you have more than about 30 purchase invoices a month you
should consider starting a purchase ledger and purchase day book
(see Chapter 4).

If you have more than about 5 cash payments a week you should
think about starting a cash record system independent of your bank
records.

How much work does the proprietor wish to undertake?
There is no point in becoming a slave to bookkeeping. Unless you are
going to use the information from a comprehensive bookkeeping system
there is little point in doing more than the minimum in writing up your
records. Clearly you will need enough records to run the business but
there is normally no need to keep a full set of double entry records. You
might, however, be forced to keep a sales and/or purchase ledger to
administer the business and, for example, to help control your cash flow.

The type of entity conducting the business
There are three types of entity commonly found running a business.
These are:

Sole traders
One person owning the business which he is running in his own right,
e.g. Joe Bloggs trading as Uttoxeter Window Cleaners. Since the person
is trading in his own right he is personally responsible for any debts his
business incurs. Even if he uses a trading name the customers and sup-
pliers are still trading with him as an individual.

Partnership.s
A group of people owning and running the business, e.g. Taylor &
Woodward, Estate Agents - a business run by Mr Taylor and Miss
Woodward. As with the sole trader, it is the individuals in the partner-
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ship who are responsible for the partnership debts. Solicitors, accoun-
tants and other professionals often trade as partnerships, but in general
anyone can do so.

Limited companies
A business which is owned by at least two people who may or may not
also be involved in the day-to-day running of the business. The owners
(or shareholders as they are better known) have a limited personal lia-
bility for the debts incurred by the company which is itself a separate
legal 'person' or entity. The day-to-day running of a limited company is
entrusted to its directors. The directors of a company may also be the
shareholders. Note: in theory the shareholders' liability is limited to the
amount (if any) outstanding by way of payment for their shares. In prac-
tice a bank will often ask the major shareholders to personally guaran-
tee the company's overdraft; that is, to repay the overdraft if the
company is unable to do so, and to use their own assets as security.

Limited Liability Partnerships
Limited Liability Partnerships (LLPs) have been available since 6 April
2001. They are a cross between the ordinary partnership as outlined
above and a limited company. The LLP has the organisational flexibili-
ty of a partnership and is taxed in the same way as a partnership but in
other ways it is similar to a limited company. It is a separate legal enti-
ty like a company and enjoys the limited liability status. It must also file
its accounts with the Registrar of Companies and if the turnover is large
enough it must have its accounts audited.

If you are starting a business, it is wise to discuss with your accountant
which approach will suit you best.

Type of trade
Some types of trade need more records than others. For example, a small
engineering company may well need a sales ledger system to keep track
of its credit sales to customers. On the other hand, a clothes shop which
does not allow credit to customers will only need a simple record to keep
track of its takings.

Choosing what records to keep
Unless the owners decide otherwise, there is no legal need for an annu-
al audit of the records of a sole trader or a partnership. There is, howev-
er, a legal obligation for an annual audit of the accounts of most limited
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companies. An audit is a formal check of all the accounting records; the
modern auditor has to certify that they have examined a company's
records and that the balance sheet gives a 'true and fair' view of the
state of affairs of the business, and that the profit and loss account
accurately reflects the profit.

But the auditor can only audit the accounts if there are proper records
for them to check. A company has a legal obligation to keep proper
records and if it doesn't the auditor must say so in their report. A copy
of their report has to be filed with the Registrar of Companies, where it
is on public record. If you're not sure what records to keep, discuss
things with the company's auditor.

Unless you have a limited company it's best to keep your records as
simple as possible. You'll save yourself unnecessary work which will make
bookkeeping a chore and even lead to inaccuracy and other problems.

Distinction between a business and its owner
Before writing up any business records you need to understand the
distinction between the business and its owner. This may seem odd,
particularly as we said that the owner of a sole trader business or part-
nership is himself legally responsible for the debts of the business.
Whilst this is true, there is no need for the business records to contain all
the personal expenditure of the individual, assuming it has no bearing
on the business. For example, the records of Taylor & Woodward, Estate
Agents, should not record how much Mr Taylor has paid to his milkman
for his daily pinta at home. It's of no concern to the business.

Recording business expenses
There will be some expenses which are partly for business and partly for
private purposes. For example, when Miss Woodward buys petrol for
her car it is partly a business expense and partly a private expense. The
car will be used on business, such as when she visits clients' houses in
connection with her estate agency business. But if she takes her friends
out for pleasure the car is being used for private motoring. In such cases,
you should:

record the whole of the cost of the expense
disallow part for taxation purposes (see Chapter 10).

Drawings
A subject which can cause problems is that of drawings taken from a
business. From time to time the owner may want to draw money out of
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the business for his own private use. As this expenditure will in some
way affect the business it must be recorded in the records. If Mr Taylor
draws £500 from the partnership bank account for his own use then this
must be recorded by the business, otherwise the bank account would not
agree with the bank statement. But it's of no concern to the business how
Mr Taylor spends the money: all it has to record is 'Mr Taylor - draw-
ings - £500'.

The situation differs in the case of a limited company. This is
because the company is a separate legal entity and whenever it makes
a payment to its directors it must operate PAYE. The directors of small
businesses quite often have loan accounts with their company
(because the directors have lent money to the business). If at the end
of the year the company has made a good profit it may want to grant a
bonus to its directors. However, it might want to keep the cash inside
the company to help its liquidity. If so, the company has to operate
PAYE in the normal way on the bonus payment; but instead of paying
out all the cash, the net amount of the bonus is placed to the credit of
the director's loan account. The director can then withdraw from the
loan account as he needs to.

A company must not, however, lend money to its directors (except in
very special cases) and so the directors must never 'overdraw' their loan
accounts. They must always stay in credit.

Profits and drawings are not the same
There is often confusion between 'profit' and 'drawings' for sole traders
or partnerships. Many people believe that they will be taxed on the
amount that they actually withdraw from the business, and that if the
money is left within the business they will not pay tax. This is not the
case.

There is no direct connection between the 'paper' profits and actual
drawings for a small business. If the business makes more profit than the
proprietor withdraws then there is more money in the business bank
account. If the business does not make enough profit to cover the draw-
ings it will eventually go bust! This is the only ultimate connection.

When the business has made a profit, the profit is credited to the
proprietor's capital account. This could be likened to an employee
paying his salary cheque into his bank account. When he makes with-
drawals these are debited to his capital account rather as an employee
might write cheques for housekeeping or to pay the mortgage. There is
no direct link between the amounts that the employee receives and pays
out (except of course that his bank manager will write to him if he
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becomes overdrawn, or his bank balance will increase if his expenditure
is less than his earnings). The same applies to the proprietor of a small
business.

We've already seen that a small business is just the 'business side' of
the owner's personal financial affairs. If the business side earns a profit
it doesn't matter whether the proprietor takes the profit out of the busi-
ness bank account or not. Since in one way or another it is all his money,
it is still his profit available for him to spend even if it is still within the
business.

Outline of records
The records that you will need are described more fully in Chapters 2 to
7. However, in outline you will need:

a cash book to record the banking transactions of the business
copy sales invoices (of what you sell) and some way of filing them
original purchase invoices (of what you buy) and some way of fil-
ing them.

Depending on your business you may also need:
a cash book to record the cash transactions of the business
a wages book
a day book and ledger system for your sales
a day book and ledger system for your purchases
a nominal ledger for miscellaneous items.

We'll see how to operate these later on.

Warning
Many people starting in business are tempted to rush out and buy a com-
puter to 'do the bookkeeping'. They are under the false impression that
the computer will sort out their bookkeeping worries. There are more
details about how to choose and use computer software in Chapter 7, but
before you skip to that chapter, a note of caution. Experience shows that
unless the person knows what they're doing, computerised records often
end up as an unbelievable mess. This is no reflection on the computer
software (indeed there is some very good software available) - it's the
human factor. The software only does as it is told and where matters fall
down is in the non-accountant's idea of what is needed.

Often the 'run of the mill' work (e.g. invoicing) can be handled with
a fair degree of success, but problems arise over one-off transactions. On



Why You'll Need Proper Business Records 25

a manual system the bookkeeper can handle such transactions by just
noting sufficient details to balance the books and leaving the rest to the
accountant to sort out at the end of the year. They can also write notes
in the margin of the book to say what has happened and what they have
done. On the computer system this is not possible. You'll run into prob-
lems if you're not yet familiar with double entry bookkeeping and the
preparation of accounts. You also need to know the way in which your
particular software treats each item.

You should therefore work through the rest of this book to obtain at
least a basic understanding of bookkeeping before you computerise your
accounting records. When you understand what is needed, perhaps it
will not seem so difficult after all, and remember a small business can
still work wonders with a pocket calculator!

Fig. 1. A simple business accounts system.
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SUMMARY

You will need to keep proper business records in order to operate
efficiently and to fulfil your legal obligations.

Larger businesses will generally need more complex records than
smaller ones.

There are differences between sole traders, partnerships and limited
companies, and between the records they need to keep.

The requirement that accounting records must be kept is laid down
by law.

Your accounts should show all expenses, even if part of a particular
item was for personal use. This part should then be disallowed for
tax purposes.

All money drawn from the business by sole traders and partners
must be shown in the accounts.
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HOW TO KEEP YOUR ACCOUNTING RECORDS

We've looked at why you need to keep business records; now we'll see
how these records could be kept.

As we have seen, the type of records you need will depend very much
on the type and size of your business. There is no point in starting a com-
plicated bookkeeping system in a tiny business that doesn't need such a
system. It will only become a chore and the bookkeeping will soon
become counter-productive.

We'll start with the very smallest business and watch it grow. The
business of some readers may have already passed this stage but it will
still be useful to read this as we introduce the basic bookkeeping
principles. The suggested routines should be enough for most small
businesses and you should use those parts that apply to your business.
Some businesses will need to develop their records in a slightly differ-
ent order, and so you may have to tailor things accordingly. Everyone
does things slightly differently. Although some things in bookkeeping
are definitely wrong there is often more than one right way of doing
things.

Keeping records to suit your business
For example, rather than using the basic cash book described in this
chapter and in Chapter 4, you may wish to consider the use of one
of the specialised cash books as described in Chapter 7. These are
very useful for small shops or other small businesses where sales
or purchase ledgers as such are not really needed. In a larger business
you may want to consider computerised record-keeping or the use of
one of the carbon-copy integrated ledger systems also described in
Chapter 7.

If you have any employees you'll need some sort of wages system to
record their wages (see Chapter 6).

Various other records are often used to record the transactions of a
business. These could include, for example:

2
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job costing records
continuous stock recording
equipment registers.

As these and other similar records are of a specialised nature they must
be designed to best suit the needs of the individual user. Indeed you may
want to develop your own. If you need more information about this have
a word with an accountant first.

Using just a cash book
At the smallest level there is no need for expensive books to record the
transactions. A cheap exercise book from Woolworths is probably all
you need to record the transactions in the form of a basic cash book.

Keeping a separate bank account
It would, however, be wise to open a separate bank account for your
business. This will in itself form a useful permanent record of your busi-
ness. It will help settle any queries from the Inland Revenue or other
government agencies. Also, by separating the business banking transac-
tions from your personal banking transactions you'll help yourself (or
your accountant) to produce your year-end accounts. The bank will pro-
vide you with weekly or monthly bank statements, paying-in books and
cheque books.

Invoices
Apart from the bank details and the exercise book the only other records
you'll need to start with are the original purchase and copy sales
invoices. We'll look at these in more detail below.

Starting your cash book
The phrase cash book just means the book where you record cash and
bank transactions (cheques, etc.). Normally the cash transactions and
bank transactions are recorded in separate books although more complex
systems are sometimes used to combine these in one book using separate
columns for each. For anyone new to book-keeping this combined book
can be confusing, and it's best avoided if possible.

Figure 2 shows the typical ruling of the simplest cash book. This book
is only used to record the bank transactions: a simple way to incorporate
cash transactions is described on page 32. Here are a few simple rules to
follow when writing up the cash book:



RECEIPTS
Date
200X
1 May
4 May
9 May
12 May
14 May
18 May
20 May
23 May
30 May

200X
1 June

Name and Details

Balance - Brought forward
P Roberts Sales
D Andrews Sales
J Wright Sales
C Hollins Sales
Royal Insurance Insurance Claim
P Roberts Sales
E Whitaker Sales
C Hammond Sales

Balance - Brought down

Amount

€ P
1026.07

125.00
63.00

147.00
184.00
114.67

372.05
89.00

122.50

2243.29

1077.57

PAYMENTS
Date
200X
2 May
5 May
5 May
9 May
16 May
16 May
30 May
31 May

31 May

Name and Details

J Philips
S Davenport
Royal Insurance
Cash
P Holford
Cash
Cash
J Philips

Stock Purchase
Stock Purchase
Car Insurance
Drawings
Rent of Warehouse
Drawings
Drawings
Stock Purchase

Balance - Carried down

Amount

£ p
298.00

59.00
183.00
50.00

100.00
100.00
50.00

325.72

1165.72
1077.57

2243.29

Fig. 2. The simplest cash book.
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By tradition, your receipts should be on the left and your payments
on the right. Technically, the left-hand receipts page is called the
debit whereas the right-hand payments page is called the credit. But
you don't need to remember these names.

Do remember to enter the year at the top of the date column. It can
be very difficult at times, when looking back, to work out which
year you are looking at!

When you enter the items in your cash book it is useful to record,
as in the example, what the items are for. A brief note will help you
(and your accountant) when checking back to see what expenses
you paid.

If you take money out of the business for your own use, or pay for
some private item from the business bank account, then this should
be recorded as drawings. Likewise if you put your own money into
the business it should be recorded as a receipt marked Capital intro-
duced and its source (e.g. your name) written beside it.

When you receive money for sales in cash (notes, coins) it's good
practice to bank it intact without keeping any back to pay other
bills. If you hold some back your records become far more compli-
cated and there is the danger that part of the transaction will not be
recorded, with complications and expense later on.

Each month check out the amounts received and paid against your state-
ments (see below) and add them up (see Figure 2). Then record the dif-
ference between your receipts and payments. This represents the amount
of money that the business has in its bank account. If the receipts
(including the balance brought forward from the previous month)
exceed the payments, then you have cash at the bank; in this case the
balance should be 'carried down' as shown. If on the other hand your
payments exceed the receipts then you'll have a bank overdraft and the
balance should be entered at the start of the payments column for the fol-
lowing month.

RUNNING YOUR BANK ACCOUNT

If you already have a personal bank account you will know how to oper-
ate a bank account. But it will pay you to open a second account for use
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by the business. To open your business bank account visit your local
bank for a chat. However, there are some matters you should think about
before you go:

1. What name is the account to be in? This could be your own name
but if you have a trade name you might want that to appear on your
cheques. For example, Mrs C. Dyche running a livery stable might
want her business bank account to be C. Dyche t/a Christine's
Equestrian Centre. T/a just means 'trading as'.

2. If you don't already bank with the particular bank they will proba-
bly ask you for the names of two or three people they can approach
for references. This is so that they can establish that you are of good
character. Do ask the people that you name before you give their
details to the bank.

3. Decide who is to sign cheques and how many signatures you will
need on the cheques (e.g. both partners? two directors?).

4. Decide how often you need bank statements to be issued to you:
generally once a month is about right.

Handling cheques and paying-in books
A cheque is a simple means of making payments out of your bank
account. Do always record details of the payment on your cheque stubs
so that you can write up your cash book later on. This might seem obvi-
ous but it is surprising how often people forget. In the same way, use
your paying-in book to pay money into your bank account. Once again
the details from whom the money was received and why (e.g. sales)
should be noted on the counterfoil. Unfortunately some banks don't
make provision for recording the details on the face of the counterfoil:
if so write the details on the back.

Transfer the information from your cheque book and paying-in book
to your cash book on a regular basis. Some people do this once a week,
others once a month. It depends on how many transactions there are. It's
best not to leave it too long, and certainly not more than a month.

Drawing up a bank reconciliation statement
Each time you receive your bank statement, check the entries on the
statement against your cash book. This will bring to light any payments
from the bank account that you haven't recorded, and any errors you
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may have made. It will also highlight the rare occasions where the bank
may have made a mistake.

Bank charges and standing order payments can easily be overlooked
and omitted from your cash book: write them in as soon as you dis-
cover their omission.

Having checked that you have recorded everything, it's a good idea to
agree (reconcile) the balance on the bank statement with the balance in
the cash book. Using Figure 2 let's suppose that when you checked the
items from the bank statement against the cash book you found that the
payment to J Philips on 31 May was not shown on the bank statement.
This is not an error: it is just that there hasn't been time for the item to
pass through the banking system (it generally takes about 3 days for the
item to appear on your statements). In order to agree the balances you'll
need to make allowance for this, and write a simple reconciliation state-
ment like this:

Bank reconciliation statement
£ P

Balance as per bank statement - 31 /5/200..                                                       1403.29
Less unpresented cheque 325.72

Balance per cash book 1077.57

Of course, there may be several unpresented cheques, or there may be
some items that you have paid into the account that have not been
recorded on the statement. Appropriate adjustments should then be
made. Keep all the reconciliation statements you have written out. They
will be useful if any queries arise on the bank account, and will help
your accountant at the end of the year.

Dealing with cash payments
Most of your business expenses are best paid by cheque so that you keep
a permanent record, but there will be some payments you need to make
in cash (window cleaner, postage stamps, car parking, etc.).
The simplest way to record these is to:

pay them out of your own pocket and
make out a corresponding expense voucher (see Figure 3).
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Expenses - May 200X

4 May Car park 1.30
6 May Window cleane                 .5.00

10 May Lunch with supplier 14.32
Car park 1.30

12 May Stationery - envelopes etc. 3.27
18 May Car park 1.50

Telephone 0.20
24 May Postage stamps 10.40

Cheque 37.29

Any receipts that you can get (e.g. car park tickets) should be clipped to
the expense voucher. At the end of the month (or when it totals a rea-
sonable amount) you should write a cheque on your business bank
account, payable to yourself (or to cash) to reimburse yourself. File the
expense vouchers on your paid purchase invoice file to match the pay-
ment that the business has made by cheque.

HANDLING INVOICES

So far we have dealt with receiving and paying out money for your
business. But of course you will need to know how much to pay for
your purchases and others will need to know how much to pay you.
This is where invoices come in. An invoice is a simple document list-
ing the goods or services provided and stating how much is due to the
supplier. Your business will receive invoices for its purchases and you
in turn will have to issue invoices to your customers for sales you make
to them.

The invoices will thus be two sorts: purchase invoices and sales
invoices.

Fig. 3. An expenses voucher.



34 Book-keeping & Accounting for the Small Business

Receiving purchase invoices
You will receive purchase invoices, not only for goods that you buy but
also for services such as telephone charges and rates. Accumulate these
invoices in an unpaid invoice file until you are ready to pay them. When
you pay them mark them 'Paid' and record the date of payment and
ideally the cheque number. You should also transfer them from the
unpaid invoice file to a paid invoice file. For the unpaid invoice file use
the pocket or box type; for the paid invoice file use a lever arch or ring
type available from most stationers. The paid invoices should be filed
according to date of payment.

Issuing sales invoices
The type of sales invoice that you issue to your customers will depend on
the nature of your business. Suppose you run a shop: all your sales are
cash (no credit allowed). In this case you'll only need to issue a simple
receipt to your customers, if asked. But if you sell goods on credit you'll
need to issue invoices to your customers, to tell them how much to pay.

There are two ways you can issue your sales invoices:

by using a duplicate invoice book obtainable from stationers
by getting a supply of blank invoices specially printed up (e.g. like
business letterheads).

Using a duplicate invoice book
The easiest way of using the duplicate invoice book is this:

1. Write the invoice out making a copy with the carbon paper provid-
ed. Give the top copy to the customer and keep the carbon copy in
the invoice book.

2. When the customer pays, mark your copy of the invoice in the book
with the date and amount paid. If it is paid in full, fold the top right
hand corner of the invoice over.

3. At the end of each month any invoices not folded over remain
unpaid. You should then normally send a statement to the customer
of the amount still owed to you.

Using specially printed invoices
If you want something a bit smarter, then printed invoices might be the
answer. It's more expensive than the duplicate book method but,
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depending on the type of business, it may be a worthwhile expense to
impress your customers (and encourage them to pay!). Alternatively you
could print your own invoices from your computer which can include
graphics to give them an impressive look. A system for these invoices
might be as follows:

Prepare your invoices (handwritten or typed) in duplicate, using
carbon paper. Note: the second copy (which is for your use) could
be on plain paper. If you have prepared your invoices on a computer,
just run off a second copy.

Send the top copy to your customer and put the second copy in an
unpaid invoice file.

When the customer pays mark your copy invoice with the date and
amount paid, and when fully paid transfer it from your unpaid
invoice file to a paid invoice file (lever arch or ring-binder).

At the end of each month the invoices in the unpaid file represent
the customers who still owe you money. You should chase them for
payment!

Recording cash transactions
As your business expands you may have more cash transactions; the sys-
tem for dealing with them described on page 32 may no longer do. An
alternative system is to keep a special book to record transactions in
notes and coins separately from the bank transactions. You will also
need to keep a cash float from which to make your payments.

Unless you pay all your takings into the bank without keeping any
money to pay expenses in cash, you will need to keep some sort of
record of your sales. You may use a till that automatically records the
sales as you make them, but more likely in a small business you will just
use a cash box for the takings. This is fine but you must make sure that
you can establish the amount of sales. The easiest way is to use a daily
cash summary like the one shown in Figure 4.4.

During the day you put the money from your sales in the cash box. If
you have to pay any amounts in cash you take the money from the box
but you make sure that you put a note into the box to record how much
has been taken out. At the end of the day you list the expenses that you
have paid out and you also record any money that you have taken out for
your own drawings. Then by adding the expenses to the figure of cash
in the box at the end of the day and adjusting for the opening float you



DAILY CASH SUMMARY

Friday - 5 May 200X

EXPENSES
Joe
Ann

Wages

Window cleaner
Coffee A milk
Drawings

SALES
Cash in till
Add expenses
Less float brought forward

Sales

RECONCILIATION
Float brought forward *
Sales
Cash from bank

Less
Expenses
Cash to bank

Float carried forward

* from yesterday's reconciliation

228.75
746.27

57.90
63.26

5.00
2.59

100.00

228.75

821.27
228.75
423.42

626.60

423.42
626.60
Nil

1050.02

975.02

75.00

Fig. 4. A simple daily cash summary.

can calculate the true figure of sales. Each day you will need to transfer
the figures to the cash record book (as shown at Figure 5). You should
note the following:

Record your takings (sales) each day from the daily summary list or
till list. Note: it's best to treat all sales the same way regardless of
whether the customer has paid by cash or by cheque. If, for this
purpose, you include cheques in the total of takings, it will simplify
your records.
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CASH RECEIVED
Date
200X

2 May
2 May
3 May
4 May
5 May
6 May
7 May
9 May

10 May
11 May
12 May
13 May
14 May

Detail

Brought forward
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales
Sales

Amount

576.26
346.42
385.74
364.87
446.78
626.60
660.30
341.57
380.34
359.76
440.53
617.83
651.06

CASH PAID
Date
200X

3 May
5 May
6 May
6 May
6 May
6 May
6 May
6 May
9 May
11 May
11 May
11 May
13 May
13 May
13 May
13 May

Detail

Cash to Bank
Cash to Bank
Wages - Jenna
Wages - Alex
Window Cleaner
Coffee A Milk
Drawings
Cash to Bank
Cash to Bank
Cash to Bank
Stationery
Stamps
Wages - Jenna
Wages - Alex
Window Cleaner
Cash to Bank

Amount

1122.68
573.97
57.90
63.26

5.00
2.59

100.00
746.27
926.87
801.85

2.85
10.40
58.13
61.52
5.00

933.71

Fig. 5. A cash transaction record.



Record the expenses as they are incurred. File the invoices for cash
payments on a separate file from bank payments. Keep the invoices
in date order.

Periodically, say once a week, pay any excess money in your float
into the bank. When writing up the record of cash transactions you
should treat it as a payment since the money is being paid out of the
float. In your record of the bank transactions (your cash book) you
will record this as a receipt since the money is being received into
the bank account. Confusion can arise on this point, but if the cash
transaction is thought of as quite separate from the bank transaction
then all should become clear.

If you bank the takings intact you won't have to record them all
separately in your cash book. You will, however, need to draw money
from the bank to pay cash expenses, and these transactions should be
recorded as follows. Treat the money drawn from the bank as:

a payment in the bank records, and as
a cash receipt in the cash records (using the words 'Cash from
Bank').

Once again, if you think of cash transactions paid from the bank, and
cash received into the cash float, quite separately, then the treatment of
the transactions in your records should become clear.

SUMMARY

You should open a business bank account.

The records you require will depend upon the size of your business.

Don't overburden yourself with a more complicated system than
you need. Your bookkeeping system should work for you and not
against you.

The records described are the starting point for you to develop your
own system. Remember that many of the ideas in later chapters are
developments of the simple system so do read the description of the
simple system first.

There are alternative pre-printed accounts books available which
are suitable for use with some types of small business.

38 Book-keeping & Accoucting for the small Business
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If you employ staff then you will need some sort of wages records:
see Chapter 6.

Open files for unpaid and paid purchase invoices. Transfer the
invoices from the unpaid file to the paid file as you pay them.

Decide what sort of sales invoices you need, obtain the invoices and
set up the appropriate files if necessary.



Accounting for VAT

Almost everyone running a business will come up against Value Added
Tax (VAT). This chapter explains what it is, how it will affect you, and
what records you will need to keep and why.

WHAT IS VALUE ADDED TAX?

Value Added Tax (VAT) is a 17.5% tax on consumer spending. It was
brought in on 1 April 1973 to replace the old purchase tax system; it
went part-way towards harmonisation with taxes charged by the coun-
tries within the EEC (now the European Union). The tax is administered
by HM Customs & Excise (not the Inland Revenue).

VAT will affect many aspects of your trading, and you'll have to
decide whether to register the business for VAT purposes and, if so, ho..
to handle the extra information in your accounting records. This chapter
therefore gives a general introduction to VAT so that you can get an idea
of what's involved.

How does VAT work?
Under VAT, every business is in effect a tax collector. The tax is a charge
on the sale of goods or services by a business which is registered for
VAT. (Certain transactions are exempt from VAT or are charged at a zero
rate; details of these are given on page 58.) On most other transactions
the rate of VAT is currently 17.5% of the price of the goods. These trans-
actions are called taxable supplies and the VAT which you must charge
on your sales is called output tax. On the other hand, when a registered
business purchases goods (or services) from another registered supplier
it must pay to that other business the VAT which that business charges.
This tax on purchases coming into the business is called input tax.

A business registered for VAT has to pay to the Customs & Excise th.
amount of output tax minus the input tax. If the input tax is greater than
the output tax you can get the difference back from the Customs &
Excise.

40
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Example
Suppose a shop purchases a radio for £80 wholesale; it has to pay the
wholesaler an additional £14 input tax. When the shop sells the radio to
a consumer for £100 it charges a further £17.50 output tax and the cus-
tomer has to pay the shop £117.50:

Goods VAT
Sale £100 £17.50 Output tax
Purchase £ 80 £14.00 Input tax

Difference £ 20 £ 3.50

The shop must therefore pay to the Customs & Excise the difference of
£3.50. As you can see, there has been an increase in the value of the
radio at the shop of £20. This is the 'value added' bit. The net effect of
paying tax (on the difference between the output tax and the input tax
is to tax the value addedby the business - £20 x 17.5% = £3.50. It is this
idea that gives the tax its name.

HOW VAT AFFECTS YOUR BUSINESS

Do I need to register my business for VAT?
It depends on your turnover. If you are in business making taxable sup
plies (i.e. not exempt from VAT) then the total value of these supplies is
called your taxable turnover. Note: supplies exempt from VAT, or out-
side its scope, do not form part of the taxable turnover, but supplies that
are charged at a zero rate are included.

If at the end of any month:

(a) the value of your taxable turnover during the past 12 months has
exceeded £61,000, OR

(b) you have reasonable grounds for believing that the value of the tax-
able supplies you will make in the next 30 days will exceed £61,000

then you must register your business for VAT purposes.
You have to notify the Customs & Excise VAT Office that your busi-

ness has exceeded these limits within 30 days of the end of the month.
The registration will then take effect from the first day of the second
month following that date (e.g. if your taxable turnover in the last 12
months up to the end of January is over the limit, your date of registra-
tion will be 1 March). The easiest way to notify them is to use the
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National VAT help line. The number is 0845 010 9000.
If you take over an existing business then you must take account of

the level of taxable turnover under the previous owner and the date of
registration will be the day the business was transferred.

If your turnover is below the limit for compulsory registration you
can still apply to register for VAT if you think it will be an advantage.
For example, you may be selling to other businesses which are them-
selves registered for VAT. By registering your own business you will be
able to get the input tax back on your purchases; although you'll have to
charge VAT to your customers they will, of course, be able to get it back
too. If you are buying and selling only zero-rated goods you can still
register, so as to reclaim the input tax charged on your expenses (e.g.
motor expenses, telephone, professional fees, etc./

What if I have more than one business?
Remember that it is the 'person' who is registered for VAT and not the
individual business. For this purpose the term 'person' includes sole trad-
er, partnership and limited company (a company being treated as a 'per-
son'). If you run more than one business, even though they are
dissimilar, and the taxable turnover of all the businesses together exceeds
the prescribed limits then you must register for VAT. All the businesses
are covered by one registration; and you cannot register them separately.

How do I register for VAT?
You must complete application form VAT 1. If your business is a part-
nership you will also have to complete form VAT 2 which shows the
names and addresses of each of the partners. These forms and other
information are available from your local VAT office (see under VAT or
Customs & Excise in the telephone directory).

Once I have registered, what records must I keep?
It will depend partly on the kind of business you run, and is discussed in
more detail later in the chapter. But in summary records must enable you
to show details of the following:

the value of output tax on sales
the value of input tax on purchases
the amount of total sales excluding VAT
the amount of total purchases excluding VAT.
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How often do I need to advise the Customs & Excise of my
transactions?
The details of the transactions are not notified to the Customs & Excise
individually as they take place: they would be swamped by a sea of
paper! Instead, you accumulate the figures for a three-month period and
then advise them as to totals for the period on a VAT return (form VAT
100). An example of the return form is shown in Figure 6.

In order to spread the flow of work over the year, registered traders
are split into three groups according to their type of business. These are
called stagger groups and each group makes up returns to a different
date.

Group 1 Group 2 Group 3
31 March 30 April 31 May
30 June 31 July 31 August
30 September 31 October 30 November
31 December 31 January 28 February

These quarterly periods are referred to as VAT Accounting Periods.
The Customs & Excise will tell you which group you'll be in.

Exceptionally the Customs & Excise will let a registered person
make returns monthly instead of quarterly. This can help if your trade
gives rise to frequent VAT repayments. You can also ask for the account-
ing periods to be adjusted to match the financial year of your business.
For more details contact your local VAT office.

How long do I have to complete the VAT return?
You must complete the VAT return and submit it to the VAT office with-
in one month of the end of the VAT quarter. If you are late you will be
in default and you will get a surcharge liability notice. This will warn
you that if you are late again you may have to pay a penalty surcharge.
Each time you default the penalty rate rises to a maximum of 15% of the
VAT that you owe. This penalty threat remains in force until a full year
has passed without default. However, if your turnover is less than
£150,000 the penalties will not be automatically imposed; instead,
advice and support will be offered before such action is taken.

How do I complete the VAT return?
Look at the example in Figure 6. There are a series of boxes where you
enter the figures, numbered 1 to 9.

Box 1 is for the VAT output tax on sales. You must also include VAT
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Fig. 6. Sample VAT form (VAT 100), courtesy controller of
HMSO (Crown Copyright).
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on goods taken from the business for your own private use, the
motor fuel scale charge (see page 60), and on sales of assets
(e.g. machinery or office equipment).

Box 2 is used to record the VAT due on imports from other EU
countries.

Box 3 is the sum of boxes 1 and 2.

Box 4 shows the VAT input tax on your purchases.

Box 5 is the difference between boxes 3 and 4. It represents either
the VAT due to the Customs & Excise (if box 3 exceeds box 4) or
the sum you reclaim from them (if box 4 exceeds box 3).

The figures in boxes 6 to 9 are used by the VAT office to prepare
statistics and to check figures declared in the other boxes on the form.

Box 6 shows your total sales excluding VAT.

Box 7 shows your total purchases for the business excluding VAT
and certain other expenses such as wages.

Boxes 8 and 9 are used to record trading with other EU countries.

Full notes for guidance are given on the back of the return. More details
on the completion of the return form are given later in the chapter.

What are retail schemes?
You may have heard mention of retail schemes. These are special
schemes available for use only in connection with retail supplies.

The retail schemes provide a method of arriving at the value of your
taxable retail sales and allow you to determine the proportion of those
sales charged at the different rates of VAT. Most VAT registered busi-
nesses take these details from the sales invoices that they issue to their
customers but for retailers this is not practical due to the large number
of sales made direct to the public.

All the retail schemes require you to record the value of your retail
sales. In most schemes you work out the VAT output tax on your sales
by applying the VAT fraction (see page 47) to the appropriate proportion
of your sales.

There are five standard schemes as follows:
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The Point of Sales Scheme: the sales are analysed between the dif-
ferent VAT rates at the time of sale using an electronic till. This is
the most accurate but requires an expensive electronic till and staff
who know how to operate it.

The Apportionment Schemes.

Scheme 1: sales are apportioned in the ratio of purchases. Thus
if 40% of your purchases are zero rated then 40% of your sales
are treated as zero rated.

Scheme 2: you must work out the expected selling prices of all
the goods that you sell and then calculate the proportion of the
sales at each VAT rate by applying the appropriate ratio. This
scheme can be complex to operate but can be more accurate
than scheme 1.

The Direct Calculation Schemes.
 Scheme 1: under this scheme you work out the expected sell-

ing price of your 'minority goods' and with this figure known
it is possible to establish the standard rated sales chargeable to
VAT. Thus if 85% of your sales are standard rated and 15% are
zero rated then you must calculate the expected sales revenue
from the zero rated (minority) sales. By deducting this figure
from the total sales it is possible to establish the value of sales
chargeable to the standard rate of VAT.
.Scheme 2: works in the same manner..
able to a wider range of retailers.

There are special adaptations of the schemes for catering and for retail
chemists. For more details of these schemes you should contact your
local VAT office and ask for leaflet 727.

Can you show me an example of these schemes?
1. Where all sales are chargeable at the standard rate the tax content

can be found as follows:
£

Total sales for the period 58,750

VAT content (assuming 17.5% VAT)
17.5

£58,750 x
100+17.5 8,750

(Note: £50,000 x 17.5% = £8,750)
50,000



Accounting for VAT 47

2. Where sales are partly at standard rate and partly at zero rate then
you may be able to use an electronic till with multiple totals to analyse
your sales at the time of the sale. If you can establish the value of the
standard rated sales in this manner then you can apply the VAT frac-
tion to the appropriate amount in order to calculate the output tax.

Thus:
£

Total sales at standard rate 35,250
Total sales at zero rate 20,000

Total sales 55,250

VAT contents of standard rated sales:

17.5
£35,250 x

100+17.5 5,250

3. Where sales are partly at standard rate and partly at zero rate, and
you can't record the division at the point of sale, then you must use
one of the retail schemes outlined above to establish the amount of
VAT output tax. For example, using the Apportionment Scheme 1,
if 75% of the cost of your goods for resale are standard rated, then
75% of your takings are treated as standard rated and the VAT frac-
tion applied accordingly.

What is that odd-looking fraction?

17.5
The fraction is used to find the VAT content of an amount

100+ 17.5

that is stated gross (that is, inclusive of VAT).
Using a 17.5% VAT rate, the cost of goods plus VAT will be 100% o

the net value (i.e. the cost of the goods) plus 17.5% of the net value for
the VAT. The total gross value will therefore be 117.5% of the net cost
of the goods excluding VAT.

If you are trying to find the VAT content it will be 17.5/117.5 of the
total VAT-inclusive amount of the goods. (Note: this is not the same as
17.5% of the gross amount.)

By simple arithmetic the fraction 17.5/117.5 can be simplified to
7/47ths, which is an easier fraction to work with (but not much!). We'll
have to assume you've got a pocket calculator! This fraction is known as
the VAT fraction.
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Do I need to provide VAT invoices for all my customers?
Generally, yes; you must give detailed invoices to your customers. The
information that you must show is as follows:

an identifying number (it is usual to number the invoices sequen-
tially so that each has a unique number)

the date of supply (tax point)

your VAT registration number as a supplier

the name and address of the person to whom you are supplying the
goods (or services)

the type of supply

a description of the goods or services

the quantity of the goods or the extent of the services you are
supplying

the value of the goods (before any discount) excluding VAT

the amount of any cash discount

the rate of VAT (currently 17.5%) and the amount

the total amount payable.

If the invoice contains details of goods or services, some at standard rate
and some at zero rate (or exempt), then your invoice must distinguish
between the goods charged at each rate. However, if you are a retailer
you only have to give invoices to those customers who ask for a tax
invoice. In addition, you can provide modified tax invoices as follows:

Where the gross value (inclusive of VAT) doesn't exceed £100 then
the invoice need only show the following:

the name, address and VAT registration number of the retailer
- the date of supply (the tax point)
- a brief description of the goods
- the total value inclusive of VAT
- the VAT rate charged.
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Note: you can't include items at different rates of VAT on one modified
invoice.

Where goods exceed £100 then, if the customer agrees, a form of
modified invoice can be issued showing the VAT-inclusive value of
the standard-rated goods. However, it must also include a summary
showing the value of the goods (distinguishing between zero-rated,
standard-rated and exempt supplies), the VAT, and the total payable.
In all other respects it must be like a tax invoice.

RECORDING VAT TRANSACTIONS

The outline of the VAT system has already been discussed so we'll now
look at the records you must keep if you are registered for VAT.

The normal way of accounting for VAT is on a time-of-supply or tax
point basis. This is explained below, but there is an option for a cash
accounting basis for VAT purposes for traders whose annual turnove.
below £660,000. We'll come to this later.

The normal basis: tax point system
The time that you have to account for VAT is normally fixed by the time
of supply, or the tax point as it is known. VAT must be accounted for in
the VAT period in which the goods or services are provided. Of course,
this may not be the same as the time when they are paid for if a credit
period is involved.

Output tax and sales
There are two aspects to recording VAT on sales:

the information you need to put on your sales invoice (see page 48)
the information you need to record in your books of account.

Unless you are using one of the retail schemes (see pages 45 and
you will need to keep a separate record of your sales so that the VAT out-
put tax can be calculated. An example of this is shown in Figure 7. Once
again, until your business outgrows the system, an exercise book should
do to record the transactions: there is no need for any expensive
specialised book. Enter the details into it from your copy invoices on a
regular basis. Points to note:

Use a reference number. You should also record it on the copy
invoice, and it will help you identify each particular invoice.
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Invoice
number

379
380

381
382

383
384
385
386
387
388

389
390

391
392
393
394

Date
200X
2 May

5 May
6 May
6 May
7 May

9 May
11 May
13 May
14 May

16 May
19 May

21 May
23 May
26 May
28 May
30 May

Name

I Rowley
C Williams
D ft Duff
5 Hancock
P Grainger Ltd
C Hammond A Co
P Whitaker
C Hollins
BHunt
C Ashmore
P Whitaker
C Hammond &. Co
I Rowley
J Morton
C Hollins
P Grainger Ltd

Net

390.00
458.72

163.00
279.50
597.80

564.85
2.32

298.25
599.85
112.51

597.69
36.32

301.77
185.17

452.23
526.03

5566.01

VAT

68.25
80.28
28.53
48.91

104.62

98.85
0.41

52.19
104.97

19.69
104.60

6.36
52.81
32.40
79.14
92.06

974.05

Gross

458.25
539.00
191.53
328.41
702.42
663.70

2.73
350.44
704.82
132.20

702.29
42.68

354.58
217.57
531.37
618.09

6540.06

Record the net, VAT, and gross amounts. These amounts should be
clearly stated on your invoice. The net amount is the value of the
goods before the addition of VAT; the gross value is the value inclu-
sive of VAT.

At the end of the VAT period add the columns up in order to get the fig-
ures for your VAT return. Subject to any adjustments (page 59), the total
from the 'Net' column should be entered as the 'Value of Outputs' in
box 6 of the VAT return. The total of the VAT column should be entered
as 'VAT Due' in box 1 of the VAT return form.

Input tax on purchases
Again, unless you are using one of the retail schemes, the VAT book for

Fig. 7. VAT book - how to record output tax



Accounting for VAT 51

recording the VAT input tax on purchases is very like that used for sales
(see Figure 8). It is, however, useful to add a description of the expense
(purchases, telephone, motor expenses, etc.), as this will help when
preparing your accounts at the year end.

The total of the 'Net' column is used to complete box 7 (Value of
Inputs) on the VAT return. The total of the VAT column is then entered
in box 4 (VAT Deductible) on the form.

Note: certain items should not be included in boxes 6 or 7, and so should
not be written into the VAT books. These are:

wages and salaries
PAYE and National Insurance contributions

Fig. 8. VAT book - how to record input tax.

Invoice

No.

139

140

141

142

143

144

145

146

147

148

149

150

151

152

153

Date

200X

1 September

3 September

3 September

7 September

7 September

9 September

10 September

14 September

17 September

17 September

22 September

24 September

24 September

29 September

29 September

Name Details

& C Woodward Purchases

6 Derbyshire Ltd Purchases

R Cotton A Co Purchases

M Pepper Purchases

Shepley Insurance Insurance

Brokers

A Boyes PLC Purchases

British Telecom Telephone

G Derbyshire Ltd Purchases

R Campbell Autos Motor Exps

K Johnson A Co Stationery

T Chaplin Ltd Motor Exps

R Cotton A Co Purchases

S Hancock Ltd Stationery

MEB Electricity

C Hollins A Co Purchases

Net

300.52

112.51

335.76

301.91

152.45

570.42

150.05

598.68

184.58

147.78

73.82

264.34

2.17

130.72

299.39

3625.10

VAT

52.59

19.69

58.76

52.83

0.00

99.82

26.26

104.77

32.30

25.86

12.92

46.26

0.38

22.88

52.39

607.71

dross

353.11

132.20

394.52

354.74

152.45

670.24

176.31

703.45

216.88

173.64

86.74

310.60

2.55

153.60

351.78

4232.81
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money put into or taken out of the business by the proprietor
insurance claims or compensation payments
loans, Stock Exchange dealings, grants or gifts of money.

Cash book accounting for inputs
Alternatively, cash book accounting for inputs can be used where you
claim the input tax at the same time as you pay your suppliers. In this
system you'll need extra columns in your cash book: as well as the total
of each payment, the VAT content and the value exclusive of VAT are
also recorded (see Figure 9).

This method does have a drawback: since input tax is not claimed
until the time of payment, there can be a delay in claiming it. But since
your records are simpler it may be worth accepting this delay.

If you change over to cash book accounting for input VAT make sure
you don't claim the tax on any items of expenditure twice - once under

Fig. 9. Cash book accounting for input VAT.

Bank Payments

bate

200X

1 June

3 June

3 June

3 June

8 June

8 June

9 June

10 June

10 June

15 June

16 June

17 June

17 June

23 June

24 June

24 June

24 June

24 June

Name Details

Whatnot Manufacturing Purchases

Philip's Garage Motor Expenses

Wages

British Telecom

Swanhampton Advertiser Advert

MEB Electricity

Robert's Machine Supplies New Machine

Andrews Ltd Purchases

Wages

Stuart A Paul Ltd Purchases

Shepley Insurance Brokers Van Insurance

Streamway Advertising Advert

Wages

Swanhampton Dist Council Rates

Hoyland Investments Rent

Whatnot Manufacturing Purchases

Post Office Van Licence

Wages

Total

452.60

85.91

272.00

75.63

29.37

93.27

1051.62

521.30

269.25

390.50

389.00

109.27

271.00

392.71

650.00

621.37

155.00

265.00

6094.80

VAT

67.41

12.80

-

11.26

4.37

13.89

156.62

77.64

-

58.16

-

16.27

-

-

-

92.54

-

-

510.98

Amount

Ex-VAT

385.19

73.11

272.00

64.37

25.00

79.38

895.00

443.66

269.25

332.34

389.00

93.00

271.00

392.71

650.00

528.83

155.00

265.00

5583.82
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the old scheme at the time of supply, and again when the payment is
made within the new scheme.

Cash book accounting for input VAT is available to any trader (except
those using the retail schemes) and does not have the £660,000 turnover
limit applicable to the cash accounting basis described below.

Fig. 10. Accounting for VAT under a retail scheme.

Date
200X

IMay
2 May
3 May
4 May
5 May
6 May
7 May
8 May
9 May

10 May
11 May
12 May
13 May
14 May
15 May
16 May
17 May
18 May
19 May
20 May
21 May
22 May
23 May
24 May
25 May
26 May
27 May
28 May
29 May
30 May
31 May

Amount

273.23
420.81
560.19
474.58
605.15
-
-

282.41
688.47
485.84
689.79
521.55
-
-
517.13

636.43
472.20
688.44
474.76
-
-
316.19

474.43
347.94
385.76
689.95
-
-

344.25
345.48
475.35

11170.33

Date
200X

1 June
2 June
3 June
4 June
5 June
6 June
7 June
8 June
9 June

10 June
11 June
12 June
13 June
14 June
15 June
16 June
17 June
18 June
19 June
20 June
21 June
22 June
23 June
24 June
25 June
26 June
27 June
28 June
29 June
30 June

Amount

477.57
605.78
-
-

325.44
348.45
475.35
217.31
378.31
-
-

367.41
422.18
538.74
342.94
478.10
-
-

515.23
559.93
507.10
216.62
478.88

-
-

472.63
399.87
496.80
314.23
615.05

9553.92

hTotal(May,June& July)

Date
200X

1 July
2 July
3 July
4 July
5 July
6 July
7 July
8 July
9 July

10 July
11 July
12 July
13 July
14 July
15 July
16 July
17 July
18 July
19 July
20 July
21 July
22 July
23 July
24 July
25 July
26 July
27 July
28 July
29 July
30 July
31 July

30507.51

Amount

-
-

368.55
347.26
552.50
650.21
656.58
-
-

308.74
503.80
320.83
268.96
667.01
-
-

356.70
368.69
347.43
560.19
667.01
-
-
411.78

479.04
357.76
685.08
560.78
-
-

344.36

9783.26

(A)

30507.51x7/47=

(AS)-(B)=

4543.67 (B)-VAT Output Tax

25963.84 Total sales

excluding VAT



Using retail schemes
When using one of the retail schemes, the amount of output VAT on
sales you enter on your VAT return is not normally calculated for each
individual sale; instead it is calculated from the total sales. The exact
details that you will need to record will depend upon which retail
scheme you are using.

If all your sales are at the standard rate of VAT (17.5%), then you
must keep a record of your daily takings. The VAT content can then be
calculated as 7/47ths (17.5/117.5) of the total amount at the end of the
VAT period. The actual form of record can be quite simple; a book ruled
up like Figure 10 will do. VAT input tax on purchases should then be
worked out on the 'normal method' outlined above.

If part of your sales are exempt, or zero-rated, for VAT purposes then
you'll have to work out the amount of output tax on sales in proportion
to your purchases of goods for resale. The exact calculation will depend
on which scheme you are using, but in all of them you'll have to
identify the value of goods purchased for resale which are chargeable at
the different rates of VAT.

George Vyner Ltd of Holmfirth, Huddersfield, publish a very good
record book for recording VAT for the retail schemes. A sample ruling
from the book is shown at Figure 11; it might look complicated at first,
but the book includes worked examples to guide you. It is available from
most good stationers.

Cash accounting basis
The cash accounting basis is available to traders whose annual turnover
is less than £660,000.

What it means
On the tax point system the tax falls due at the time the goods or services
are provided. On the cash accounting basis tax is due at the time the cash
transaction takes place. The treatment of input tax is therefore similar to
cash book accounting described on page 52, but covers output tax as well.
This means that when you sell goods and give a period of credit to your
customers you won't have to account for VAT until you are actually pai.
for the goods. But it also means that where you buy goods on credit you
cannot reclaim the VAT until you've actually paid for them. This schem.
can have cash flow advantages, depending on whether your sales are
subject to VAT at a positive rate. If your sales are mainly chargeable at
zero rate you'll have no advantage; it will cause your claim for input tax
on purchases to be delayed until payment is made, but without a corre-
sponding delay in the payment of VAT on sales.

54 Book-keeping & Accounting for the Small Business
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Fig. 11. Sample page from Simplex VAT Record Book
published by George Vyner Ltd.

Records for cash accounting
The records for cash accounting are essentially the same as for cash book
accounting described on page 50, but under the cash accounting basis
they also extend to output tax (see Figure 12). Here we have added a col-
umn to record the VAT content of each amount received and also a col-
umn to record the net amount received (excluding the VAT). At the end
of the VAT quarter the total from the VAT column is used to arrive at the
figure of output VAT.

Invoices
Details of the information that you must show on your sales invoices are
discussed on page 48.

From time to time your accounting records will be checked by the
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Fig. 12. Cash accounting for output VAT.

Customs & Excise VAT office to make sure all VAT has been correctly
accounted for. To help their work (and help you get rid of them
quicker) it's recommended that you identify the invoices with your own
sequence of numbers, and use the same numbers for reference purposes
in your other records. You will also find this reference useful when you
want to look up an old invoice. This applies to both purchase and sales
invoices.

When the purchase invoices come in, write a number on them corre-
sponding to the next number from the VAT Input Tax Book. When
you've paid the invoice, file it away in your number order so that if you
need to refer to it later you can find it easily.

A similar numbering system should be used for your sales invoices.

Flat Rate VAT Scheme
As an alternative to keeping the conventional records outlined above,
with effect from 25 April 2002 it has been possible for small business-
es, with a turnover of up to £100,000 (£150,000 from 1 April 2003) to
opt for the flat rate scheme. Under this scheme, the business may then
dispense with the recording of the input VAT on each individual pur-
chase. This may be an administrative saving for some businesses
although they will still need to record the gross value of purchases for
income tax purposes.

Bank Receipts
Date
200X

1 September
2 September
7 September
7 September
9 September
12 September
12 September
15 September
16 September
18 September
21 September
23 September
26 September
26 September
28 September
30 September

Name Details

Miss H Soddard Sates
& Wills A Co Sales
I Rowley Sales
P Steel 4 Son Sales
Sill Derbyshire Sales
Miss H Goddard Sales
C Hollins (Staffs) Ltd Sales
A Eagle Partnership Sales
P Grainger Sales
W D Antrobus A Co Sales
Miss K Wright Sales
K Johnson PIC Sales
C Dyche Ltd Sales
F Marriott A Co Sales
P Whitaker Ltd Sales
J Bolton Sales

Total

40.61
134.76
680.36
432.52
191.95
84.60

484.57
173.47
476.14
496.94
310.36
547.60
321.09
567.05
343.94
128.66

5414.62

VAT

6.055

20.07
101.33
64.42
28.59
12.60
72.17
25.84
70.91
74.01
46.22
81.56
47.82
84.45
51.23
19.16

806.43

Amount
Bx-VAT

34.56
114.69

579.03
368.10
163.36
72.00

412.40
147.63
405.23
422.93
264.14
466.04
273.27
482.60
292.71
109.50

4608.19
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The trader still charges 17.5% VAT to his customers but he actually
accounts for and pays over a lesser figure to the Customs & Excise.

Output tax on sales

Fig 13. The flat rate VAT scheme.

The difference in VAT between the two rates is kept by the trader. This
is in place of the input tax that would otherwise have been claimed under
the regular VAT schemes, and used to reduce the VAT payment to Cus-
toms & Excise.

The actual rate of VAT payable to Customs & Excise is dependent
upon the nature of the trade. This recognises the fact that certain types
of business will incur more input tax than others. Examples of the rates
are given in the table below:

Trade
Retail of food, confectionery, newspapers etc
Public houses
Printing; vehicle repairs
Manufacture of clothing and textiles
Hotels and accommodation
Estate agency, Secretarial services
Hairdressers
Management consultancy
Accounting and bookkeeping, legal services,

computer and IT consultancy

Rate(%)
2

5.5
7.5
8.5
9.5

11
12
12.5

13

These are only a selection of the rates: for full details you should refer

Kept by trader

Charger tp
customers at

17.5

Flat Rater
V A T paid
to C & E,
Say - 10 %
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to the Customs & Excise VAT Notice 733 entitled 'Flat rate scheme for
small businesses'.

Although these rates may at first look very attractive you should note
that they are applied to the gross turnover when VAT is applied at the
standard rate. This is:

TT75% =1489%

Viewed in this way some of the rates look less favourable and you
should give careful consideration before you decide to apply for this
scheme. Obviously from time to time your business may incur a large
expense on which, under the standard VAT scheme, you would have
been able to reclaim a substantial amount of input tax. Examples of this
might be the purchase of a new delivery van or some expensive produc-
tion machinery. To allow for such special circumstances under the flat
rate scheme, you are permitted to reclaim the VAT on the acquisition of
capital assets that cost over £2,000.

One final point to mention is that if you are using the flat rate scheme
then when you issue invoices to your customers you should show the
full standard rate of VAT (unless the sales are zero rated) and your cus-
tomers will be able to reclaim all of the VAT (if appropriate) even
though you are paying a lesser rate to the VAT Office.

OTHER KEY POINTS ABOUT VAT

If you are registering your business for VAT there are a number of other
points you will need to be aware of. These include:

the treatment of zero-rated sales
VAT on domestic fuel and power
items on which you cannot reclaim input tax
adjustment for private use
VAT on your motoring expenses
VAT treatment of certain second-hand goods
the retention of your VAT records.

What are zero-rated sales?
Most sales by registered suppliers are chargeable to VAT at the standard
rate of 17.5%. However, a few categories of goods are charged at zero
rate. These are still treated as taxable supplies but no tax is normally

117.5%
14.89%
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charged. The main categories are:

foo.d
books (but not stationery)
some land and buildings (mainly new private dwellings)
transport of passengers
certain clothing and footwear (mainly children's).

Except for the fact that no VAT is charged to the customer, the treatment
of these sales should be exactly the same as standard-rate sales.

VAT on domestic fuel and power
An exception to the standard rate of VAT is that the tax charged on
supplies of domestic fuel and power is levied at a reduced rate of 5%.
This reduced rate also applies to non-business charity use. If you make
such supplies you must ensure that your records enable you to account
for the VAT on your sales at the correct rate.

Non-deductible input tax
Input tax suffered by a registered person can usually be reclaimed by
them (or used to reduce the amount of VAT due by them to the Customs
& Excise). However, input tax on certain expenditure can't be
reclaimed. This includes:

the purchase of motor cars (but VAT on vans or other commercial
vehicles can be reclaimed)
business entertainment
goods sold to them under one of the second-hand schemes (see
below).

Any VAT suffered on these expenses cannot be reclaimed. Accordingly
you don't have to distinguish the VAT in your accounting records; just
treat the gross payment (including the VAT) as an expense of your
business and analyse it according to the goods or services provided.

Adjustment for private use
VAT input tax may be incurred on goods or services which are partly
business expenses and partly the private expenses of the proprietor. In
these cases only part of the input tax (the tax on the business part) can
be reclaimed. An example might be telephone charges where the busi-
ness is run from home. For example, if a telephone bill was received for
£85.71 plus VAT (£15) and one-third of the expense is considered to be



of a private nature, then:

£15 x lh = £5 input tax disallow

The easiest way to account for these adjustments is as follows:
1. Reclaim all the input tax in your records.
2. When preparing your VAT return make a deduction from the total

input tax, disallowing for the private proportion of the tax that you
are not entitled to reclaim. Do keep a clear record of how you have
worked out the amount so that you can satisfy any enquiry from the
Customs & Excise VAT department.

Motoring expenses
There is no need to restrict the input tax on repairs and maintenance of
a vehicle which you use partly for private and partly for business pur-
poses; nor do you have to restrict the input tax on road fuel purchased.
But where a vehicle is used partly for private purposes and the input tax
on road fuel is claimed, you'll have to apply a scale charge like this:

Quarterly returns - 2004/2005 VAT Inclusive Scale VAT Due

Petrol engines
Engine cylinder capacity:
1400 cc or less £273 £40.66
Over 1400 cc up to 2000 cc £346 £51.53
Over 2000 cc £508 £75.66

Diesel engines
Engine cylinder capacity:
2000 cc or less £260 £38.72
Over 2000 cc £331 £49.30

The above table shows the figures for quarterly returns. Those for
monthly returns are approximately one-third of these figures. Both
monthly and quarterly figures are subject to annual review and you
should contact your local VAT office for the latest figures.

These figures represent the tax-inclusive value of fuel deemed to have
been used; you'll have to make the appropriate entries on your VAT
return. Supposing you make quarterly returns and use a vehicle with a
1600 cc petrol engine, your entries would be:

Box 1 - Additional output tax = £44.68
Box 6 - Additional outputs
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l300-l44.68=l255.32
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The only way you can avoid the scale charge is by not reclaiming any
VAT input tax on fuel that you buy, regardless of whether it's used for
business or private motoring. If you decide not to reclaim you must tell
your local VAT office. Depending on how much fuel you buy it can actu-
ally work out cheaper to forego the input tax on purchases and not to
apply the scale charge.

Note: the scale charge only applies to cars, not to other motor vehicles,
e.g. vans. But if you decide to forego the claim to input tax on purchases
of fuel you must forego the input tax on all fuel purchased by the
business including that used in commercial vehicles.

VAT treatment of certain second-hand goods
In general, VAT is chargeable on the full second-hand values of goods
sold by a registered person. However, this can lead to anomalies when
dealing with some goods and it is in recognition of this that the second-
hand schemes were introduced. The classes of goods covered by the
schemes are:

motor cars
works of art, antiques, etc.
caravans and motor cycles
boats

aircraft
electric organs
firearms
horses and ponies.

What's wrong with the normal method of accounting for VAT?
As we have already seen the normal method of accounting for VAT is to
charge VAT on the whole of the selling price, deduct the VAT that was
charged to you when you bought the goods and account to the Customs
& Excise for the difference. This is shown in diagrammatic form in
Figure 14.

However, if the person from whom you purchased the goods was not
registered for VAT then there would be no input tax to deduct and the
amount of VAT payable by you to the Customs & Excise would increase.
This could be illustrated as in Figure 15.

This is clearly not the intention of the tax because the amount of the
VAT payable would be related to the selling price of the goods and
would have no relationship with the value added.

The way round the problem
For goods in the categories listed above special schemes are used to
avoid the problem. Although there are minor differences between the
schemes they all work in the same way.
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Fig. 14. The normal method of accounting for VAT.

Fig. 15. VAT when the supplier is not VAT-registered.

Each item must be separately identified in the records and the profit
margin on each individual item is calculated (see Figure 16). The profit
is taken as being the VAT-inclusive figure of 'value added' and the VAT
content is found by applying the 7/47ths fraction. For example:

£
Car - purchased                                                               1265.

-sold 1500

Profit margin (including VAT) 235

VAT content £235 x 1_ = 35
47

However, where an item is sold at a loss there is no relief given: the loss
cannot be set against other profits.

12

VAT

Goods

Purchase Sale

Value Aded

Net VAT paid to Customer % esinis

VAT

Goods

Purchase Sale

VAT paid to Customer % esinis

Value Aded
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Fig. 16. Applying VAT on certain second-hand goods.

Retention of records
From time to time VAT representatives will call on you to check your
records. You must by law keep all your business records (including pur-
chase and copy sales invoices, till rolls if applicable, as well as cash
books and ledgers) for at least six years. Where keeping all these records
creates a serious storage problem, you can sometimes get permission to
keep certain records for a shorter period. However, Customs & Excise
approval must be obtained before you destroy any such records.

SUMMARY
VAT stands for Value Added Tax - a tax on consumer spending.

The VAT system collects tax on the value added to the goods by
each registered person handling them (e.g. the wholesaler or
retailer).

You must register for VAT purposes if your turnover exceeds pre-
scribed limits.

If you have several businesses then they must all be included
within one VAT registration.

Once registered you must account for VAT on a quarterly basis.

You have a period of one month after the end of the quarter to
complete your VAT return.

Special schemes are available for retailers.

Your sales invoices must set out certain information if you are reg-
istered for VAT.

Values

VAT

Gross Progit

SalePurchase

Margin (incldung vat



Certain items attract VAT at a zero rate.

Certain input tax is non-deductible.

Where expenses are incurred for both business and private purpos-
es then the VAT input tax must be apportioned accordingly and part
disallowed.

Special rules apply for fuel provided for private motoring.

If your turnover is less than £660,000 then you have the option of
using the cash accounting basis.

The flat rate VAT scheme is available for small businesses.

You must keep your VAT records for at least 6 years.
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Expanding Your Records as Your
Business Grows

USING AN ANALYSED CASH BOOK
As your business grows you may start wanting some elementary man-
agement information from the records. For example, 'How much have I
spent on advertising so far this year?' or 'What sales are each of my
products bringing in?'

Without getting into too much extra work this information can be
easily obtained by adding a few analysis columns to your cash book, so
that it becomes an analysed cash book. Of course, it can only be a guide
at this stage as it doesn't quite give the full picture. It does not, for exam-
ple, allow for the amounts that you still owe for advertising in last
week's paper. But it's a good starting point towards management infor-
mation.

Fig. 17. An overview of business accounts records.
Note: The actual records are shown in the boxes. The arrows show the flow of

information between the various records.

4
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How to keep the book
Figure 18 shows an example of a page from an analysed cash book. The
example is for the credit side of the book (payments), but you can make
a similar analysis for the receipts side. With this type of book, as well as
recording the amount of each payment in a 'total' column a second entry
is made in one of the analysis columns. You can adjust the headings of
these columns to suit your own business. Depending on how you claim
VAT input tax, for instance, you can enter the amounts in the analysis
columns either gross or net of VAT. If you are using the cash accounting
(or cash book accounting) methods of recording VAT (see Chapter 3),
then just add a VAT column next to the total column, and you can
analyse your expenses net of VAT.

By analysing the payments as shown in Figure 18 it is easy to see
how much, for example, has been spent on advertising during the month
(£138.64).

Tip: the last column is a sundries column to mop up anything that
doesn't fit neatly into any of the other columns. Your regular payments
should each have a column of their own; only items such as the purchase
of a new machine or other occasional 'one off payments need to be
entered in the sundries column.

It can also be useful to add small amounts of narrative (i.e. a few
words) to some of the items, to remind you later what some particular
expense was for.

There are two final points to make:

1. In the example on 16 June a cheque for £662.90 was written out to
the Insurance Brokers; this was to pay for both van insurance (motor
expenses) and office insurance. In a case like this put the appropriate
amount into each of the analysis columns just as in the example.

2. When you add up the page at the end of the month it is vital that you
check that the sum of the total of all the analysis columns does in fact
equal the sum of the total column. This is cross addition (because
you are adding across the page). If the totals don't agree then there's
a mistake somewhere and you'll have to recheck your work.

To summarise

An analysed cash book is the first step to providing management
information.
Each entry is made both in the total column and also in an analysis
column.
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Fig. 18. Sample page from an analysed cash book.

Date
200X
1 June
3 June
3 June
3 June
8 June
8 June
9 June

10 June
10 June
15 June
16 June
17 June
17 June
23 June
24 June
24 June
24 June
24 June

Name

Whatnot Manufacturing
Philip's Sarage
Wages
British Telecom
Swanhampton Advertiser
MEB
Robert's Machine Supplies
Andrews Ltd
Wages
Stuart A Paul Ltd
Shepley Insurance Brokers
Streamway Advertising
Wages
Swanhampton Dist Council
Hoyland Investments
Whatnot Manufacturing
Post Office
Wages

Total

452.60
85.91

272.00
75.63
29.37
93.27

1051.62
521.30
269.25
390.50
662.90
109.27
271.00
392.71
650.00
621.37
155.00
265.00

6368.70

Purchase
of goods

452.60

521.30

390.50

621.37

1985.77

Wages

272.00

269.25

271.00

265.00

1077.25

Motor
expenses

85.91

389.00

155.00

629.91

Telephone

75.63

75.63

Stationery
& adverts

29.37

109.27

138.64

Rent A
rates

392.71
650.00

1042.71

Heat A
light

93.27

93.27

Sundries

1051.62

273.90

1325.52

Drilling Machine

Office Ins. Adj.
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At the end of the month when the book is added up it must cross
add.

RECORDING YOUR SALES

So far, you have controlled which customers have paid you, and which
have not, by handling the individual invoices. You have filed your cop.
invoices in a separate file until they are paid, or 'flagged' them in your
duplicate sales invoice book until they are paid.

This is fine as far as it goes, but you'll probably find it has two main
drawbacks. First, you'll have to thumb through all the unpaid invoices,
adding them up as you go, to work out how much you are owed alto-
gether. Second, you can't tell very quickly how much a particular cus-
tomer owes you. They may owe you for several invoices and the
invoices may not be in sequence. And they may have only sent you
part-payments.

A better alternative - the sales ledger
As your business grows you'll need a better system to control how much
your customers owe you (see Figure 19). You'll need a proper sales
ledger. The sales ledger together with the purchase ledger (dealt with on
page 75), are sometimes referred to as the personal ledgers. This is
because they deal with persons rather than inanimate things such as the
bank account or motor cars. The ledger itself may take many forms. You
could use a bound book, a loose-leaf book, or just a set of sheets or cards.
It doesn't matter too much, the main thing is that each page or sheet is
ruled into debit (DR) and credit (CR) sides as shown in Figure 20.

This system has one great advantage: it gives all the information for
each customer on one page. You can easily tot up how much each owes
you at any date. Also, by adding all the balances in the ledger you can
work out how much your customers owe you as a grand total.

How the sales ledger fits in with other records
In Chapter 3 you were advised to keep a special book to record your
sales for VAT. Actually, this book can be a good way of starting a sales
ledger as well, since it forms a readymade register of all your sales
invoices. When used along with a sales ledger it becomes known as the
sales day book (or sales journal). It is called a day book because you
write it up every day as you invoice your customers.



To
Customer

Sales
Invoice

Copy
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Cash
Rec'd
from

Customer

Cash Book

Debit CreditSales
Day

Book

Sales Ledger

Debit
(Invoices)

Credit
(Cash
Rec'd)

Journal
(for

adjustments)Credit

Nominal Ledger

Debit

Fig. 19. An overview of the sales system.

The columns in the sales day book are almost the same as the VAT
book that we looked at earlier. The only difference is an extra 'Account
Reference' column, so you can cross-reference the entries to the entries
in the sales ledger (see Figure 21). You write your sales day book up
from your sales invoices. Then each week or month, you post the entries
from the sales day book {inclusive of VAT) to the (left) debit side of the
sales ledger.

Once you start using a sales ledger, you'll probably have to amend the
layout of your cash book. Earlier in the chapter we looked at how to use

File
of
Copy
Sales
Invoices



STARLET ENGINEERING LTD

Date
200X

16 June

25 June

4 July

Invoice

Invoice

Invoice

Invoice
ref.

469

491

522

Dr.

843.2]

321.0C

478.63

Date
200X

11 July Cheque

Folio
ref.

12

Cr.

1164.21

Fig. 20. Typical sales ledger page.



Expanding Your Records as Your Business Grows 71

Fig. 21. Typical sales day book entries.

the analysed cash book. When you start your sales ledger, rule up the
receipts side (debit) of the cashbook as shown in Figure 22 (one of the
analysis columns is a 'sales ledger' column). Throughout every month
enter the amounts that you get from your credit customers both in the
'total' column and in the 'sales ledger' column, as shown. You will
need the other receipts column to record any amounts received which
don't relate to sales, such as insurance claims or VAT refunds. At the
end of each month post (copy) the amounts from the cash book to the
sales ledger. The amounts entered on the left (debit) side of the cash
book need to be recorded on the right (credit) side of the sales
ledger. This is part of double entry bookkeeping which we'll come to

Invoice

No.

465

466

467

468

469

470

471

472

473

474

475

476

477

478

479

480

Date

200X

10 June

10 June

10 June

15 June

16 June

16 June

16 June

17 June

17 June

17 June

17 June

17 June

17 June

22 June

22 June

23 June

Name

Brought forward

F Marriott A Co

D Evans

A Shepherd

S Foster

Starlet Engineering Ltd

V Weston A Co Ltd

P Voss Ltd

6 Carr

A Shepherd

E Neesome

F Marriott & Co

A Parker A Co Ltd

D Evans

A Lee A Co

5 Foster

V Weston A Co Ltd

Carried forward

A/c

Ml

E3

52

F7

54

W5

VI

C7

52

N8

Ml

P5

E3

L4

F7

W5

Net

6727.69

747.25

706.06

372.81

749.81

733.23

140.64

45.40

377.21

10.07

231.46

565.29

657.54

375.65

140.63

419.69

377.39

13377.82

VAT

1177.35

130.77

123.56

65.24

131.22

128.32

24.61

7.95

66.01

1.76

40.51

98.93

115.07

65.74

24.61

73.45

66.04

2341.12

Gross

7905.04

878.02

829.62

438.05

881.03

861.55

165.25

53.35

443.22

11.83

271.97

664.22

772.61

441.39

165.24

493.14

443.43

15718.94
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Fig. 22. Cash book including 'sales ledger' column.

in Chapter 5. For the moment don't worry about why it is done; just how.
Once you have entered the invoices, and the cash received, into the

sales ledger, rule off each customer's ledger account at the point where
there is no outstanding balance. In practice you can do this at the same
time as you post the cash received. Look again at Figure 20: your two
invoices number 469 and 491 were paid by the customer on 11 July. At
that date the columns of figures were double underlined to show that they
were now in balance and that all entries before that point had been paid
up. Only the amount of £478.63 is still outstanding from the customer.

If you want to know the total amount owed to you by your customers,
you 'extract' a list of the balances from the sales ledger accounts. This
is shown in Figure 23: at 31 August 200X your customers owed you
£9,847.58 but there was also £23.14 owed by you to your customers
(presumably credits for returned goods or overpayment by them). So in
this example the net total due from your customers is £9,824.44.

How do I know I've done it all correctly?
Easy! - and yet it seems to cause some people a lot of problems. The
answer is a control account (or total account).

Date
200X

1 July
1 July
1 July
1 July
6 July
6 July
/July
7 July
7 July
7 July
8 July
8 July

8 July
8 July

13 July
14 July

Name

F Marriott A Co
Cash sale
P Voss Ltd
Cash sale
GCarr
Cash sale
E Neesome
A Shepherd
T Howard A Co
Cash sale
D Evans
General Insurance Co

(window breakage)
Starlet Engineering Ltd
Cash sale
A Parker A Co Ltd
A Lee A Co

A/c

Ml
-
VI
-

C7
-

N8
S2
HI
-

E3

-
54
-

P5
L4

Total

859.33
45.00
52.21

92.00
433.79
69.00

266.17
11.58

650.08
28.75

1243.95

214.72
1164.21

40.25
756.17
161.72

Sales
ledger

859.33

52.21

433.79

266.17
11.58

650.08

1243.95

1164.21

756.17
161.72

Cash
sales

45.00

92.00

69.00

28.75

40.25

Other
receipts

214.72
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Fig. 23. Typical extract of sales ledger balances.

The control account is used to monitor, in total, all the entries made
in the sales ledger. At the end of each month you post the total of cash
received (from the sales ledger column of the cash book) and the total
of the invoices for the month from the sales day book to the memoran-
dum control account. This account does not form part of the double
entry since the double entry has already been completed. However, by
repeating the postings in total to an extra memorandum account the
desired control over individual postings in the sales ledger is achieved.
Since these figures each represent the total of the postings in the sales
ledger, the resulting control account entries must also show the total of
all individual entries made in the sales ledger. In other words the bal-
ance of the control account should (if you have entered everything cor-

A2
B4

C2
D3
F4
68

L3

M6
P4

SI
54

T8

W4

Acme Engineering Ltd

D Beattie A Co

A Cunningham Ltd

C Duncan

D Fairgate Ltd

B Gibson & Co

R Lister

MacKenzie A Co

P Pickard Ltd

J Shipley A Co

Starlet Engineering Ltd

T Thomas

M Williams Ltd

Net Balances

Dr.

1718.66

857.45

323.47

104.42

867.57

532.35

1300.00

1512.33

863.98

478.63

323.44

965.28

9847.58

Cr.

23.1.4

2.3.14

9824..44

SALES LEDGER BALANCES - 31 August 200X
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Fig. 24. Sales ledger control account6556

rectly) equal the net total of the list of balances extracted from the sales
ledger. If it doesn't, there must be a mistake somewhere, and you'll have
to recheck your work if the figures are to be relied on. An example of a
control account is shown in Figure 24.

What else changes when I start a sales ledger?
You will no longer be using your copy sales invoice as a record of
who still owes you money. These invoices can therefore be filed, in
numerical order, as soon as you have entered them into the sales day
book. You won't need a separate unpaid invoice file any longer, because
you can now easily check the amount owing by any customer by check-
ing their page in your sales ledger (see Figure 25 for the contrast
between the basic system and the full sales ledger system).

To summarise
 The sales ledger is used when the number of transactions increases.

It provides a more easily accessed and controlled record of
customers owing you money.

 You write the sales ledger up in the following manner:
 Enter invoices into your sales day book.
 Enter cash received into a separate column in the cash book.

 At the end of the month:
 The details are transferred (posted) from the sales day book

and cashbook to the sales ledger.
 The total is entered onto the memo control account.
 The ledger is balanced off and the remaining balances are

Cash received

Carried forward

31 August

31 August

Cr

19062.79

9824.44

28887.2:28887.23

8821.14

20066.0S

Dr

Brought forward

Sales

1 Augus-

31 Augus

Sales Ledger Control - August 200X
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Fig. 25. Comparison of basic and sales ledger systems.

Pros
You can easily check how much
each customer owes you
You will know at the end of
each month how much all your
customers owe you
More accurate system: start of
double entry system with simple
cross-check.

Cons
More complicated, but it has to
be faced if your business
expands!

Pros
Very simple and quick to do

Cons
No easy way of checking how
much a particular customer
owes you

Each
day

Each
day

End of
month

End of
month

End of
month

Invoice your
customer

Basic System

Keep unpaid
copy invoices
in date order

File away
paid copy
invoices

Sales Ledger system

Enter sales invoices
in Sales Day Book

Enter cash received
into new column in
Cash Book

Post entries in
Sales Day Book to
Sales Ledger

Enter Sales Ledger
totals on Control
Account

Balance off the Sales
Ledger accounts and
check totals against
Control Account
(Start of double enrrj
bookkeeping system)
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From
Supplier

Purchase
Invoice

Purchase
Day Book

Amounts
due
for

Payment

File
of

Purchase
Invoices

Purchase Ledger

Debit
(Cash)

Credit
(Invoices)

Amounts
Paid

Cheque
to

Suppliers

Cash Book

Debit Credit

Journal
(for

adjustments)

Nominal Ledger

Debit Credit

RECORDING YOUR PURCHASES
We have seen how to start a sales ledger to give better control over
money owing to the business. In the same way a purchase ledger can be
used to control how we pay for goods supplied to us (see Figure 26).

Fig. 26. An overview of the purchases system.

listed onto a schedule.
The list of balances is agreed to the control account balance
and any difference is investigated.



Fig. 27. Typical analysed purchase day book.

Date

200X

1 September

3 September

5 September

7 September

7 September

9 September

10 September

14 September

17 September

19 September

22 September

24 September

26 September

29 September

29 September

Invoice

No.

139

140

141

142

143

144

145

146

147

148

149

150

151

152

153

Name

& C Woodward

G Derbyshire Ltd

I Fisher A Co

& Hamilton

Shepley Insurance
Brokers

B Palmer PLC

British Telecom

& Derbyshire Ltd

R Campbell (Autos)

C Morrell A Co

T Chaplin Ltd

& C Woodward

C Bartlett Ltd

MEB

A Carr Ltd

A/c

W5

D4

F2

H3

55

P6

63

D4

C2

M3

C3

W5

B6

M5

C5

Total

353.11

132.20

394.52

354.74

152.45

670.24

176.31

703.45

216.88

173.64

86.74

310.60

2.55

153.60

351.78

4232.81

VAT

52.59

19.69

58.76

52.83

-

99.82

26.26

104.77

32.30

25.86

12.92

46.26

0.38

22.88

52.39

607.71

Purchase

of goods

300.52

112.51

335.76

301.91

570.42

598.68

264.34

299.39

2783.53

Motor

expenses

184.58

73.82

258.40

Telephone

150.05

150.05

Printing A

advertising

147.78

2.17

149.95

Rent A

rates

0.00

Heat A

light

130.72

130.72

General

insurance

152.45

152.45

Sundries

0.00
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Fig. 28. A cash book as used when a purchase ledger has been started.
The cash book can now be simpler, with fewer analysis columns needed.

Date

200X

1 June

3 June

3 June

3 June

8 June

8 June

9 June

10 June

10 June

15 June

16 June

17 June

17 June

23 June

24 June

24 June

24 June

24 June

Whatnot Manufacturing

Philip's Garage

Wages

British Telecom

Swanhampton Advertiser

MEB

Robert's Machine Supplies

Andrews Ltd

Wages

Stuart 4 Paul Ltd

Shepley Insurance Brokers

Streamway Advertising

Wages

Swanhampton Dist Council

Hoyland Investments

Whatnot Manufacturing

Post Office - RFT for van

Wages

A/c

W8

P2

-

B3

59

M5

R4

A3

-

58

55

52

-

510

H6

W8

-

Total

452.60

85.91

272.00

75.63

29.37

93.27

1051.62

521.30

269.25

390.50

662.90

109.27

271.00

392.71

650.00

621.37

155.00

265.00

6368.70

Purchase

ledger

452.60

85.91

75.63

29.37

93.27

1051.62

521.30

390.50

662.90

109.27

392.71

650.00

621.37

5136.45

Wages

272.00

269.25

271.00

265.00

1077.25

Other

payments

155.00

155.00



In a nutshell the purchase ledger is the exact opposite of the sales
ledger. You enter goods purchased on the right (credit) side of the
ledger account and payments on the left (debit) side. Unlike sales,
there are likely to be all kinds of expenses that you need to analyse.
Most firms therefore use an analysed purchase day book along with
it (see Figure 27), so they can keep track of expenditure under differ-
ent categories. Since you'll now analyse most of your expenditure in
the purchase day book, the right (credit) side of the cash book can now
be simplified. You will still need some analysis (for non-ledger items)
but these will be fewer in number. For example, Figure 28 shows how
a cash book is used in conjunction with a purchase ledger. You might
like to compare this with Figure 18 on page 67 to see how the entries
are reflected.

Once again, since the purchase ledger is now your basis of knowing
who is to be paid, you don't need to keep the purchase invoices in a
separate file until payment is made.

SUMMARY
An analysed cash book will give you improved management infor-
mation.

A sales ledger system will make it easier to access and control
information about customers owing you money.

A purchase ledger can be used to control how you pay for goods
supplied.

An analysed purchase day book enables you to keep track of expen-
diture under a number of categories.
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Double Entry Bookkeeping

THE PROS AND CONS OF DOUBLE ENTRY

So far the records we have looked at have been the 'single entry' method
(although the sales and purchase ledgers were the first steps towards
double entry). The single entry method of bookkeeping, whilst adequate
for many purposes, will be incomplete and have shortcomings if your
business grows.

By contrast the double entry method of bookkeeping is a complete
method. It overcomes the shortcomings, but it may be more than is need-
ed by many small businesses.

Double entry bookkeeping has been around for many years; in fact
the first known work on this subject was published in the reign of
Henry VII in 1494. The modern system of double entry bookkeeping
was first put into general use by Italian merchants at a time when
Venice and other cities of northern Italy were Europe's main trading
centres.

Drawbacks of single entry
In the single entry method you only need to make one entry to record
each transaction. This system has several shortcomings. A major one is
that it is hard to tell how much was spent on a particular expense (for
example, motor expenses) in a given year. One way partly to overcome
this is to use an analysed cash book as described in Chapter 4, but even
this does not fully deal with the problem. The analysed cash book
doesn't record the amounts owing at the beginning and end of the year,
only those actually paid within the year.

For example, if at the beginning of the year £130 was owing
for goods delivered in the last month of the previous year, then the pay-
ments that you make during the year will include this amount. Likewise
if at the end of the year £165 is owing for goods this will not have been
included in the payments made. To arrive at the correct figure of expen-
diture for the year the figure of payment therefore has to be adjusted.
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Advantages of double entry
The advantages of a double entry bookkeeping system are:

It provides a specific means of making these adjustments.

It allows you to make an arithmetical check on your records since
the total of the debit entries must equal the total of the credit
entries.

Using the personal ledgers, amounts owing by or to each person
with whom you trade can be worked out easily.

Double entry records form a stepping stone to producing
annual accounts, and can help to save time and expense at the year
end.

The financial position of the business at any point in time can be
stated definitely.

It can reduce the risk of, and help detect, any errors and even
fraud.

Making two entries each time
As its name implies, double entry bookkeeping needs two entries to be
made each time a transaction is recorded. For each transaction you must
record:

the receiving of a benefit by one account (the debit)

the giving of a benefit by some other account (the credit).

Example
Suppose you buy a photocopier for your business; the entries might be:

Debit Machinery and Equipment Account (the account receiving the
benefit of the new machine).

Credit Bank Account (the credit - payments - side of the cashbook,
the account giving the benefit in that money is flowing from
it).
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It's worth noting that the cash book is really one of the accounts of the
business: it has a debit and a credit just like any other account.

Confusion can sometimes arise from this. A person might say Tm
in credit at the bank' meaning that they have money in their account.
So they assume that the cash received by them should be entered on
the credit side of the cash book - but this is wrong! The reason is that
when you look at the bank statement you are looking at a copy of the
account as recorded in the books of the bank. When you have money
invested in the bank, then, from the bank's point of view, they owe
money to you. So the account has to record the fact that it has to give
benefit and it is therefore a credit in the accounts of the bank. On the
other hand in your own books it is an account receiving benefit, and
so the money received has to be recorded on the debit (left) of your
cash book.

If all this seems a little baffling then remember the following:

Debits (lef                     Credits (right)
Cash receipts Cash payments
Expenses Income
Assets Liabilities

When you have time, go back and see how this little table fits in with the
rule stated above.

So how does the double entry system help?
There are several benefits in a double entry system:

Accuracy - 'balancing the books'
Since every transaction has two aspects (one debit and one credit) it
follows that if you add up all the debit entries and compare the total
with that of all the credit entries, then the amounts should be exactly
equal. If they are not, then you must have made a mistake somewhere!
This idea of cross-checking is a vital part of the double entry system.
In practice you will already have added up each individual account so
you won't need to add all the individual debit entries or all the indi-
vidual credit entries; instead you can just work out the difference
between the total debits and credits on each account. This difference is
called the balance.

You then list your balances. If all is correct the total of all your debit
balances will equal the total of all your credit balances. Such a listing is
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known as a trial balance (see Figure 29). If you have any friends or
acquaintances who work in accounts departments, they might tell you:
'My job is to get out a trial balance at the end of each month.' They
could probably share some experiences with you!

Useful summaries of information
Since all of the transactions relating to one type of expense (e.g. salaries
and wages) are entered onto a single account for that expense, you will
build up a summary of the total cost to the business for that expense for
the year. In Figure 29 each type of expense has been given a code (e.g.
41 Telephone Charges). Similar comments also apply to income.

Personal and impersonal accounts
So far, as we have seen, all the transactions in double entry bookkeeping
are recorded in accounts. These accounts can be of two sorts: personal
accounts and impersonal accounts.

Personal accounts
The first type are personal accounts - those relating to dealings with
customers or suppliers, collected in the form of the sales ledger and
the purchase ledger respectively.

Impersonal accounts (nominal ledger)
These are for recording objects owned by the business, or its trad-
ing (overheads) expenses or income (such as interest earned) for the
trading year. These impersonal accounts are normally grouped
together in a single ledger called the nominal ledger. Strictly
speaking, the cash book is one of the nominal ledger accounts, but
for convenience, due to the large number of entries, this account is
normally kept as a separate book.

YOUR DOUBLE ENTRY ACCOUNTS

So what accounts do I need?
The actual accounts you need to enter up in the nominal ledger will
depend upon the nature of your business. In summary:

1. Sales accounts
You may wish to distinguish between different types of sale, and so
would need several 'sales accounts'. Examples:

Home Sales Accounts and Export Sales Accounts
Head Office Sales Account and Representatives' Sales Account (e.g.
to work out commissions).



A/c No Account

I Sa
10 Opening stock
I1 Purchases
20 Closing stock
25 Bank interest received
30 Salaries & wages
35 Motor expenses
40 Repairs & renewals
41 Telephone
42 Printing & stationery
45 Heating & lighting
47 Insurance
49 Rates
61 Hire purchase interest
62 Bank interest & charges
63 Discount allowed
68 Accountancy charges
88 Sundry expenses
89 Depreciation
99 Loss on Sale of Assets
115 Stock
118 Sundry debtors
127 Bank deposit account
128 Bank account
129 Cash in hand
131 Sundry creditors
146 Freehold property
150 Motor vehicle
151 Vehicle additions
152 Vehicle disposal proceeds
153 Depreciation of vehicles
154 Loss on sale of vehicles
160 Furniture & fittings
161 Furniture additions
163 Depreciation of furniture
180 Opening capital
185 Drawings

Or Cr

114,306.62
21.533.00
84,238.76

25,757.00
189.94

5,793.70
755.17

1,514.44
249.04

1,155.26
645.60
424.71

1,523.82
111.49
178.76
289.18
665.00
603.88

1,398.21
881.00

25,757.00
312.00

2,511.96
17.20

545.13
4,420.15

8,447.70
3,381.00
4,000.00

2,500.00
1,000.00

881.00
268.00

1,326.35

398.21
38,205.35

19,130.91

187.658.27 187,658.27

Fig. 29. A typical trial balance.
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2. Sundry income accounts
You may want to keep track of odd items of income such as:

Interest earned from deposits in the bank
Commissions received
Any other special income or fees which you may receive.

3. Purchases of products and overhead expenses
(a) Purchases - raw materials or products for resale.
(b) Overhead expenses - for example:

Wages
Motor expenses
Telephone charges
Heating and lighting
Rent and rates
Bank charges and interest.

4. Current assets (more of this in Chapter 8) such as:
Trade debtors (money owed to you). Note: the accounts maintained in
the sales ledger are your trade debtors.
Bank account
Cash account
Stock and work-in-progress.

5. Current liabilities (more in Chapter 8) including:
Trade creditors (money owed by you). Note: the accounts maintained in
the purchase ledger are your trade creditors.

6. Fixed assets
Buildings
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment (including office equipment).

7. Capital
This will depend on the kind of entity trading.
Limited companies:

Share capital
Profit and loss account
Capital reserve (in certain instances).

Sole traders and partnerships:
The proprietor's capital account (with separate accounts for each
partner if it is a partnership).



86 Book-keeping & Accounting for the Small Business

Do I have to write up all of these entries at the same time?
No. It is normal to write up one half of each entry as the transaction
occurs and then to complete the double entry at a later date. The books
in which you make the initial entries consist of:

The cash book

The purchase day book

The sales day book

The journal (see below).
These books are collectively called the books of prime entry.

As we have seen, the cash book is really only one of the nominal
ledger accounts, kept as a separate book for convenience.

Strictly speaking, the purchase day book and the sales day book don't
form part of the double entry. Suppose we want to post the purchase of
goods for resale in a shop then:

Debit (left) - the purchases account in the nominal ledger.
Credit (right) - the supplier's account in the purchase ledger.

However, the day books are used for two purposes:

To form the initial entry where all the transactions of a certain type
(either purchases or sales) can be summarised.

By using analysed day books you can cut the number of entries
needed in the nominal ledger accounts (and so save time). Chapter
4 looked at the analysed purchase day book; we saw how all the
entries for one type of expense (e.g. motor expenses, or purchases)
could be summarised to give a total for the month. Earlier in this
chapter we saw that in double entry bookkeeping the total of the
debit entries must equal the total of the credit entries. But there's no
reason why several credit entries cannot be balanced by a single
debit entry or vice versa, provided that in total all the debits and
credits agree. For example, instead of posting every single item of
motor expenses individually in your motor expenses account in the
nominal ledger, you can just post the monthly total from the day
book. The day book is really a memorandum, linking the individual
entries on, say, the purchase ledger to the summarised figures
posted in the nominal ledger.
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The journal
Like the purchase and sales day books, the journal does not form part
of the double entry system as such. But it's only found in double entry
bookkeeping systems - it has no place within a single entry system. The
journal is rather like the two day books, but whereas the day books are
used to record all your day-to-day purchases or sales, the journal is used
to record any other odd transactions and adjustments for which no other
book of prime entry is available.

Example
Suppose you are unlucky enough to incur a bad debt. Your sales ledger
account might look like this:

Broke Engineering Ltd

2002 Dr Cr
5 April Goods 493.72
17 May Goods 151.05

There is a ledger balance of £644.77 that will remain on the ledger for
evermore unless you do something about it. That something is to trans-
fer the balance to a 'Bad Debts' account in the nominal ledger. This is
how you do it:

1. Make an entry in the journal (book of prime entry) as follows:

Note: A brief note is added to record why you made the transfer.

2. You then debit the bad debts account in the nominal ledger with the
same amount of £644.77.

3. Next, you credit the unfortunate customer's account in the sales
ledger with the same amount so that it no longer shows a balance
outstanding.

JOURNAL Dr Cr
Bad Debts Account 644.77
Broke Engineering Ltd 644. 77
Being transfer of balance to Bad Debts account following liquida-
tion of customer's business.
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We shall hope that you don't have to post too many entries like this!

Note: The journal is just a memorandum. You are just using its debit and
credit columns to record where the item is to be posted on the various
accounts proper.

You will normally bring your books up to date each month and extract a
trial balance to make sure they are in fact in balance.

HINTS ON FINDING ERRORS

So you have got to the end of extracting your trial balance and it
doesn't - balance that is! What do you do?
Well, after making a fresh cup of coffee, consider the following ideas
which may help you find the error.

Is the difference an even amount?
If so it might be that you have posted an item to the wrong side of the
ledger. Divide the difference by 2 and look to see if you can find an
amount for that figure. Why divide by 2? Well, consider the following:

Telephone Charges Account Dr Cr
£ £

Balance brought forward 340
Cheque payment 80
Balance 260

The payment should of course be posted to the debit of the nominal
ledger account but has been posted to the credit in error. Had the post-
ing been made correctly the balance would be £420: a difference of £160
from the true figure. By dividing by 2 it is possible to isolate the true fig-
ure so that you can double check to make sure that all the postings of £80
are correct.

Is the difference a round number?
Differences of lOp, £1 or £10, etc. are often errors in additions. So this
is the best place to start looking.

340 340
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Is the difference divisible by 9?
This is an odd one! The explanation is this. Consider a posting of £36
which has incorrectly been posted as £63: the numbers have been trans-
posed. The difference is:

63-
36

27

and of course 27 is divisible by 9.
So if the difference is divisible by 9 it might be that you have trans-

posed two figures. Try checking your postings.

Is the difference just a completely odd figure (e.g. £1, 042.37)?
If so then you have probably omitted a posting (or the extraction of a
balance).

It is not possible to forecast all the possible ways that errors can be
made and the above suggestions can only be a general guide. Unfortu-
nately if there are several errors they can be very difficult to find.

Console yourself with the thought that even qualified accountants
don't always balance first time but with practice your accuracy will
improve and there will be fewer errors to look for.

At the end of the accounting year you may want to prepare or draft
some annual accounts, and we'll see how to do this in Chapter 8.

SUMMARY

This chapter has dealt with:

the introduction of double entry bookkeeping

the reasons for double entry bookkeeping

debits and credits

the nominal ledger

the accounts that you will need

the trial balance

books of prime entry.



Doing the Wages

YOUR LEGAL OBLIGATIONS

If you employ any staff at all, you will need some system to record wages
payments. You must by law deduct income tax and national insurance
contributions from payments made to your employees where appropriate.
You should contact the local Inspector of Taxes and ask him to set up a
PAYE scheme for your business so that you can make the appropriate
deductions and pay the tax and national insurance contributions to the
Collector of Taxes as necessary. For 2006/2007 if your employee earns
more than £97 per week from you, then you must deduct national insur-
ance contributions. For a single person with no other employment, tax
is payable when the earnings exceed approximately £97.00 per week.
(The exact figure will depend upon his/her entitlement to personal taxa-
tion allowances.) Consideration should also be given to the Nationalal
Minimum Wage regulations (see page 99.)

WORKING OUT THE WAGES

The steps for calculating wages are:

calculate gross pay
calculate deductions - income tax and national insurance
calculate net pay.

Figure 30 shows it all in diagrammatic form.

Gross pay
The gross pay of an employee can be worked out in one of several ways.
The most common methods are:

Fixed weekly or monthly amount
The employee works a set period each week/month and is paid at a fixed
rate each week/month. This is commonly the case for office and shop
workers.
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Fig. 30. Wages calculation.
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At an agreed rate per hour
The employee keeps a record of the hours worked and is then paid at a
fixed rate for each hour that they work. This system is common, for
example, in engineering works. Normally the record is kept by means of
a time clock ('clocking in and out') but a manual system can work just
as well in a smaller business.

At an agreed rate per unit (piece work)
The employee is paid for the number of items that they handle during the
course of the week. An example might be a sewing machine operator in
a garment factory. The employee might be paid lOp for each sleeve that
they sew into a garment during a week. Normally the system works by
using a numbered slip, consisting of a number of perforated tickets.
Each ticket relates to a specific task; for example, cutting the fabric or
sewing the garment. The slip is attached to the cloth as it is laid out for
cutting; as it passes through the various processes each worker collects
the appropriate ticket. At the end of the week the tickets held by each
employee are counted and the wages calculated accordingly.

DEDUCTIONS FROM WAGES

Having calculated the gross pay entitlement, you next need to work out
the deductions (stoppages) from each employee's wage. There are two
main deductions:

income tax
national insurance contributions.

You may also need to deduct sums for trade union dues, sickness bene-
fit schemes, pension scheme contributions, and so forth.

Income tax
Income tax is collected from employees through the PAYE system, or
Pay As You Earn. The employee's liability to income tax is collected as
it is earned instead of by tax assessment at some later date.

Strictly speaking, PAYE is a method of tax collection, not tax assess-
ment. However, in most cases the system collects roughly the right
amount of tax. Accordingly the Inspector of Taxes does not normally
need to raise a formal assessment of Income Tax, but will do if the
amount collected through PAYE is substantially incorrect.

If a tax assessment is needed credit is given for the amounts already
collected through the PAYE system.
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From your viewpoint as an employer you must:

Make the appropriate deductions of tax from your staff's wages.
Keep a suitable record of the amounts paid to your staff and the
amounts deducted.
Account to the Collector of Taxes for the amounts of tax due each
month.
Prepare the returns at the end of the tax year, detailing the payments
made to each of your staff and showing the amounts deducted.

The documents you will need
The Inland Revenue now issue reasonably clear booklets explaining
how PAYE works. The main documents you need to operate PAYE
are:

1. A deduction working sheet (Form PI 1) for each employee.

2. The PAYE Tables. There are two books of tax tables in general
use:

Table A - Pay Adjustment Tables. Shows the amount that an
employee can earn in any particular week or month before the pay-
ment of tax.

Tables B to D and LR - Taxable Pay Tables. Show the tax due on an
employee's taxable pay.

3. Forms P45, P46 and P60. These forms are as follows:

P45 is given to an employee when transferring from one employ-
ment to another.

P46 is used when a new employee does not have a P45 from a
previous employment (e.g. a school-leaver starting work for the
first time).

P60 is used so that the employer can certify an employee's pay at
the end of the income tax year in April.

4. Form P35 - The year end declaration and certificate. This is used
to summarise all the tax and national insurance deductions from
employees for the tax year.
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5. The tax code advice (Form P6) - A notice issued by the Inspector
of Taxes telling you which tax code number to use for each
employee.

National insurance
As well as deducting income tax you must also deduct national insur-
ance (NI) contributions. There are three main rates of contribution for NI
purposes:

Table A - The most common rate, used in all cases except those
mentioned below.
Table B - used for certain married women who can produce to you
a certificate for payment at reduced rate.
Table C - used for employees who are over pension age (60 for
women, 65 for men).

For Tables A and B there are two aspects to the contributions: the employ-
ee's contribution and the employer's contribution. For Table C there is no
employee's contribution. The amounts of contributions are recorded on
the same deduction working sheets as used for income tax purposes.

CALCULATING DEDUCTIONS AND NET PAY

We have looked at the calculation of gross pay and the fact that there are
at least two deductions from gross pay - income tax and national insur-
ance. How do you calculate them?

Income tax
Figure 31 shows how the tax deduction is worked out. The steps are as
follows:

1. Add this week's gross pay to the previous total of gross pay to date,
so as to show the total gross pay up to and including this week of
the tax year.

2. By checking the tax code number of the employee and Table A
arrive at the figure of tax-free pay for that particular week.

3. Deduct the amount of tax-free pay from the total pay to date, to get
the amount of taxable pay.

4. By using Table B (which is actually a 22% ready reckoner) work out
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Fig. 31. Calculation of income tax deduction.
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the tax due on the total taxable pay for the year to date. Then make
the appropriate deduction to allow for the tax due at the starting rate.

5. Deduct the amount of tax already accounted for in previous weeks,
from the total tax due, to work out the tax due for the week.

If the pay interval is monthly then the method outlined above needs to
be adapted to months, not weeks.

Special tax codes
While this system covers most cases it does need modification in the
case of certain tax codes:

Those with a suffix D - used for some higher rate tax payers.
Those which are BR - all income is taxed at basic rate (currently
22%).
Those with a prefix K - used when allowance restrictions exceed
available tax allowances.

Check the PAYE literature for guidance in these cases. There are two
other cases where some modification is necessary:

Where the code number is suffixed 'Week 1'. In this instance cal-
culate each week as if it was the first week of the tax year. Do noto
use the accumulated figures of gross pay, or tax paid to date.

Where the income of the individual is such that they must pay tax
at above or below the basic rate. The limits at which higher or start-
ing rates of tax come into force are shown in the Taxable Pay
Tables. Refer to the PAYE booklets for guidance if necessary.

National insurance
Normally, both employer and employee have to make NI contributions.
The amounts of NI due are found by referring to the appropriate table.
The tables show both the employee's liability and also the total liability
for the week or month. Both these figures must be recorded on the
deduction working sheet.

Net pay
The net pay is worked out by simply deducting the employee's income
tax liability and NI contributions from the gross pay worked out before.

Note: it is only the employee's share of NI liability that should be
deducted, not the total.
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Payslips
The Employment Protection (Consolidation) Act 1978 means that
employers must provide their staff with itemised pay statements. These
must show:

gross pay
net pay
any deductions (stating the amounts of each item and the reason
why the deductions are made).

WHAT ACCOUNTING RECORDS WILL I NEED?

When you pay out wages and salaries to your staff you need to record
the net pay in your cash book. This will also record the PAYE and NI
paid to the Collector of Taxes.

If you only have one or two employees then the record of the pay-
ments in the cash book, together with the other PAYE documentation,
will probably do. But if you have any more, it won't! The deductions
working sheet gives you a record of the payments made to each employ-
ee throughout the year. You also need a summary of the payments made
to all employees on one particular date. You should therefore keep a
simple wages book as shown in Figure 32. You can buy books like this
from most stationers. The book uses a set of columns to record the fol-
lowing:

gross pay for the week

the tax deduction from each employee's wages for the week

the NI deduction for each employee for the week

the total deductions from employee's wages

the amounts of the net payments made to the employees for the
week

the total NI contributions due for each employee.

Add the columns up to give the total for each category for the week.
In a full double entry bookkeeping system you'll need to transfer

these totals into your nominal ledger. If you want to check the value of
the NI contributions that you are paying as an employer, just deduct the
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Week ended 11 October 200X

Fig. 32. Example of a wages book.

employee's contributions from the total NI contributions (£214.86 -
£95.03 = £119.83 in the example).

OWNERS AND DIRECTORS

Proprietor's drawings (sole traders and partnerships)
Sometimes confusion can arise if the proprietor believes that his week-
ly drawings are his wage. He is tempted to enter the figures in his wages
book and may even try to operate PAYE on his income. Beware! - this
is wrong. Proprietor's drawings are not wages and should not be entered
in the wages book.

Directors
If the business is carried on by a limited company then the directors of
the company are employees. PAYE must be operated on all salaries and
bonuses paid to them.

National Minimum Wage
There are now National Minimum Wage rates for employees and action
can be taken against employers who pay less than the prescribed rate.
The rates are:

Name

G Derbyshire

I Rowley

P Taylor

BHunt

K Johnson

Gross

258.00

268.67

279.00

180.25

212.50

1198.42

Tax

39.08

41.53

43.91

21.20

28.61

174.33

Employee's

NI

20.84

21.90

22.94

13.06

16.29

95.03

Deductions

59.92

63.43

66.85

34.26

44.90

269.36

Net

Pay

198.08

205.24

212.15

145.99

167.60

929.06

Total

NI

46.64

48.76

50.84

31.08

37.54

214.86
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From From
1 October 2005 1 October 2006

Adult rate (workers aged 22+) £5.05 £5.35
Development rate (18 to 21 year olds) £4.25 £4.45
Youth rate* (16 and 17 year olds) £3.00 £3.30

*this applies to 16 year olds who are no longer of compulsory school age

For more details contact the National Minimum Wage Helpline on 0845
6000 678 or look at the web site at
www.dti.gov.uk/employment/pay/national-minimum-wage/index.html.

SUMMARY
You must deduct tax and national insurance from your employees.
There are severe penalties if you fail to make the deductions.

You must then account for the sums deducted to the Collector of
Taxes each month - full instructions on this are given in the PAYE
documentation.

You need to instigate a suitable system for calculating the amount
of pay that each employee is entitled to, whether it is on a time basis
or on a piece work system etc.

If you have several employees then you should keep a wages book
to record the wages that you pay to your employees.

The drawings of the proprietor are not wages.

PAYE must be operated on directors' salaries.

Make sure you pay at least the National Minimum Wage rates.



Alternative Record-Keeping

In this chapter we'll look at some of the alternative methods of book-
keeping. These include:

the use of computerised systems
the use of preprinted accounting books.

COMPUTERISED BOOKKEEPING

Over the past few years there has been a significant improvement in
bookkeeping software available for the small to medium-sized business.
With the invention of the IBM compatible personal computer or PC
there was a standard platform for running computer programs and the
first affordable bookkeeping programs became generally available.

These programs are able to undertake all your bookkeeping and will
also allow you to 'do the VAT', prepare management reports and prepare
the final year end accounts. Some programs will calculate the wages for
your employees and also keep track of your stock.

With bookkeeping you have to be 100% accurate. On early programs
it was not possible to change an entry once it had been made. This was
sold as a security feature because, having balanced a particular account,
it could not subsequently be altered. The idea was sound but unfortu-
nately it ignored the human factor: we all make mistakes! Under that
system it became difficult to correct such errors. If you had wrongly
entered a receipt as £96.39 instead of £69.39 it was necessary to enter a
payment of £27.00 to correct matters. Not only was this messy and awk-
ward but it was also difficult to check the entries at a later date.

Fortunately most programs today include a 'delete transaction' or an
'Oops' button to remove erroneous entries. Even with this more friendly
approach it is still necessary to exercise care when using computer book-
keeping. Unfortunately there is a danger that because the printout looks
neat, you feel it must be right. This is not necessarily the case and indeed
some of the worst bookkeeping is undertaken using computers. Any

7
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computer program is only as good as the data input and the old
maxim 'Rubbish in = Rubbish out' certainly applies to bookkeeping
packages.

Some observations on the introduction of a computerised
bookkeeping system
'If it had not been for the help that I had from my accountant it would
have been in the bin long ago.'

'The computer company's idea of training is to go on a training
course for one day. I think that if I sat in a class with a lot of others I
would perhaps pick up some of the basics, but most would go in one ear
and out the other! It would seem much better to tackle problems as they
arise: that way it is at a better pace and you understand the answer. Of
course that means that you have to find someone to explain.'

'I think I understand it now. The screen is like a piece of paper: you
just have to get used to thinking of it in that way.'

CHOOSING THE SOFTWARE

First you must consider what you want your system to achieve and also
to some extent the nature of the equipment available to you. Most book-
keeping software used by small businesses runs using a Windows oper-
ating system although there are different versions of Windows available.
Windows is a graphical interface which provides an intuitive and
efficient work environment for your personal computer. The majority of
users of small business systems will use Windows although there will be
a few who will use Linux or Unix. It is to a degree a matter of personal
choice, although if you purchase a new computer it is likely to come
with Windows ME or one of the other versions of Windows.

If you have an old computer it may be painfully slow at printing any
reports. If this is the case then you should consider updating your com-
puter. With many machines now available for under £600 an upgrade
has become more attractive, and remember that not only will it run your
accounts software quicker: you will also be able to play some of those
super new games!

You should also consider what you want your program to do. Differ-
ent programs have different strengths and weaknesses. For example, do
you want to incorporate a stock control system so that you can always
know exactly what goods you have in stock?

Finally, you should consider who is going to use the program and
how many different businesses you need to maintain records for. If you
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are in a busy office you may want to select a program that will allow
more than one person to input information at the same time. For exam-
ple, you may want a clerk in the purchasing department to be able to
work on the purchase ledger whilst the sales ledger clerk is preparing
sales invoices using the system. For most small businesses this will not
be important but it is not infrequent for such entrepreneurs to have more
than one business. A multi-company option may therefore be useful.

Features to look for
Nominal ledger. The ledger where all the assets, liabilities, income
and expenditure of the business are recorded. (See Chapter 5 for
more details.)

Sales ledger. The record of who owes money to the business. The
computer will also be able to prepare statements to those customers
and if necessary many systems will allow the preparation of stan-
dard letters chasing the debtors for payment.

Invoicing. The ability to prepare sales invoices using the book-
keeping software. This has the advantage that the invoices are auto-
matically entered into the sales ledger without the need to re-enter
them.

Stock control. This is a system incorporated into the program in
order to keep track of your stock. If you were a greengrocer then
you would be unlikely to use stock control to find out how many
cabbages you had left. However, if you were a builders merchant
you may use stock control to save you counting the number of
lengths of drain pipe in stock. As you purchase items they are added
to the record of stock whilst preparing a sales invoice automatically
reduces the stock. In this manner you can quickly establish if an
item is available and also the total value of the stock on hand. In
addition by setting standard profit margins you can automatically
update the selling price of goods based on the purchase price so that
your selling price is always up to date.

Purchase ledger. The record of who your business owes money to.
The system will normally also be able to produce remittance advice
forms.

Order processing. This system allows you to record orders from
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customers. It will allow the preparation of quotations, pro-forma
invoices and the reservation of stock so that the items will be
available at the appropriate time. You can then track them through,
automatically producing the despatch note and invoice at the appro-
priate time.

Job costing. Allows you to work out the cost of a particular job that
you are undertaking for a customer. As you enter the components
used the computer calculates the cost of the items and the stock
record is automatically updated. Job costing can be useful in the cal-
culation of invoices to customers.

Payroll. Some programs will support the calculation of wages for
your employees or will link to a separate program that will carry out
this function. By using integrated or linked software it avoids the
need to re-enter the wages analysis and the appropriate accounts in
the nominal ledger are automatically updated.

Multi company. This means that the program can be used to main-
tain the records of more than one business on the same computer.

Multi user. If you have a larger business with a computer network
then several people may want access to the accounting software at
the same time. For example, the sales department may want to be
preparing invoices to customers whilst the wages department is
preparing the wages and the accounts department are preparing
management accounts. If this is the case then you will need a pro-
gram with multi-user access.

Batch or real time input. On some programs transactions such as
purchase invoices are entered in batches. This can have advantages
in that if the documents are pre-listed you have a total to balance to
so that you know that the values have been entered correctly. Often
the batch remains open for the current month and it is only at the
end of the month that the totals are transferred to the nominal
ledger. The disadvantage of such a system is that it is not possible
to obtain meaningful interim reports until the batch is processed at
the end of the month. By contrast on a 'real time' system each
invoice is posted to the nominal ledger as it is entered and although
this means that there are more ledger entries (made automatically)
it means that the ledger is always up to date.
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Password protection. Most systems allow some sort of password
protection. On some software this is a global password which pre-
vents unauthorised users gaining access to the program. However, a
better arrangement is to have different passwords for each user. This
allows the supervisor (boss) to allow each user different access
rights. Thus the sales department may have access to the sales
programs but be unable to gain details from the nominal ledger or
purchase ledger.

Correction capability. As mentioned previously, it makes the soft-
ware considerably more user friendly if you are able to correct
errors. We are all human and inclined to make the occasional error
and to be able to put matters right quickly and easily vastly
improves the usability of the software. Look for this feature when
choosing software.

Flexible coding of nominal ledger. Just as all people are different
so too all businesses are different. For this reason the requirements
of the software cannot be standardised. The nominal ledger
accounts required for a building contractor will differ from those of
a grocer's shop. You should make sure that the nominal ledger
headings can be tailored to your needs.

Departmental analysis. If your business has different branches or
departments then departmental analysis may be important to you.
By using departmental analysis you can, for example, look at the
results for a particular branch or for the business as a whole. Man-
agement reports can also be prepared by branch or department.

VAT accounting. As mentioned in Chapter 3, smaller businesses
have the option of using cash accounting for VAT. Not all account-
ing packages support cash accounting but if you are considering its
use then ensure that it is available on your chosen software.

Flexibility of reporting. On some systems it is only possible to
obtain a detailed report of transactions during the current month. At
the end of each month after you have printed the reports the system
is closed down and only the totals are carried forward to the next
accounting period. Other systems allow the data for earlier periods
to be locked to prevent changes but still allow the user to obtain
reports for earlier months or even from the previous year. This is
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particularly useful: somehow you can never find the report you
want and it is much easier to just print a new copy!

Format of reports. On some software packages the format of the
reports is fixed: if you want information presented in some other
way then hard luck! On the better programs there is a report format
writer which will allow you to tailor the reports to your needs.

Bank reconciliations. Most programs come with a bank reconcili-
ation option that will allow you to electronically tick off the items
as they appear on the bank statements - it certainly makes checking
the bank statement a lot easier.

Technical support. Technical support is important because things
never go quite as planned. Technical support should not be used to
solve bookkeeping queries: they should be addressed to your
accountant. The support service is for when things go wrong with
the program (or errors caused by the way you are using the pro-
gram). Hopefully you will not have to use the service often but it is
comforting to know that it is there if you need it.

Operating system. Last but certainly not least is the choice of
operating system. Some software will only run under a particular
version of Windows. The choice of software may therefore be
dependent upon the operating system that you have available.

Ensuring you can obtain all the reports you will need
Unfortunately some computerised bookkeeping software is only suitable
for home accounting: it lacks the functionality and reporting demands
needed by business. For example, some systems are unable to produce an
adequate audit trail (list of transactions) needed to keep the VATman happy.

When choosing a bookkeeping package don't be lulled into a sense
of false security by the sales talk or literature. You should see the
program running and try entering a few dummy transactions yourself to
prove that it really does do what you expected. You will then start to
get the feel of the program and you will sense if it will complement the
way that you work. Some packages such as TAS Books give you a 60-
day money back guarantee on the software so that if you don't like it
having tried it you can return it for a refund of the purchase price.
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IMPLEMENTING COMPUTERISATION

With any accounting system it is necessary to plan its implementation
but this is particularly important with a computerised system. Often a
bad decision at the planning stage can have consequences for years to
come! These are the steps to take:

Decide what is to be computerised - are you computerising the cash
book, ledgers, wages and stock control?

Decide how best to work - do you feel that batch entry is best for
you or is the ability to obtain interim reports important? Whichever
way you tackle the input it is best to have an input document from
which to work. Although it is possible to enter the details directly
from the cheque stubs and paying-in book stubs, it is much easier to
use a handwritten summary book or sheet to make the initial entry.
This makes it easy to see where you are up to so that items are nei-
ther omitted nor duplicated.

Having decided what you want to do it is time to choose the soft-
ware. Study the list of features above and write down which you
need. Then, when you speak to the salesperson you can ensure that
the software does what you want. But don't just take the salesper-
son's word for it - ask them to show you.

Having bought your software don't rush to enter the transactions.
You have some more choices to make first. Most software comes
with a 'chart of accounts' or list of nominal ledger headings. These
headings may not be appropriate to your business and you may wish
to change some or to add some more. If you are not already famil-
iar with the preparation of year end accounts then you should read
Chapter 8 before continuing.

If you study the list of nominal accounts you will probably see
that like items have been grouped together. So, for example, all the
overhead expenses (heat and light, rent, rates, insurance, motor
expenses) are gathered together in a block. This is because it sim-
plifies the production of accounts reports and it is more logical in
this form. If you need to add any new headings then you should try
to follow this idea of grouping like items. Thus if you were running
a garage and the Sales account had been allocated code 3200 you
might add Vehicle Sales at 3210, Forecourt Sales at 3220 and Work-
shop Sales at 3230.
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You should also be aware that the computer system needs to know
which accounts are used for specific purposes and that certain codes
may have been designated to these accounts. The accounts include:

- the default bank ac.
- the nominal suspense a.
- the retained earnings ac
- the sales (debtors) control a.
- the purchase (creditors) control a

If you alter the nominal structure relating to any of these accounts
then you must also alter the nominal interface table to point to the
new accounts.

You should decide upon the coding structure for your sales and pur-
chase ledgers. It is probably best to use an alphanumeric such as
T162 for Taylor although a pure numeric code could be used. Make
sure that you leave yourself enough space for a logical expansion of
the number of accounts.

You will need to design your management reports. As a minimum
these will include a Profit & Loss Account and a Balance Sheet but
you may wish to add further reports such as sales analysis reports.
If necessary you can add to or amend these reports later.

Up and running
Having gone through the above steps you are ready to enter the transac-
tions. Follow the instructions in the manual carefully: that way you will
get the best from the program by learning the correct way to make the
entries and also the shortcut keys that make the input of transactions so
much quicker.

Don't forget to make backup copies of your data at least weekly:
more frequently if there are a lot of transactions being processed. Unfor-
tunately you never know when your computer might fail or when you
may become a victim of theft but at least if you have backup copies of
the information (preferably kept at another address) then at least it
should be a relatively easy task to get up and running again.

The backup copy can be made by using one of the following:

2 inch floppy disks - if the data is compact and not too extensive.
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Zip disks which hold up to 100 MB of data (the equivalent of 70
floppy disks). You will need a special drive to record the disks and
to restore the information when needed.

CDR disks - these can hold up to about 700 MB of data which
should be more than enough for most needs. They need a special
drive to write the information to the CD but it can be restored onto
any computer that has an ordinary CD drive. The disks are 'write
once' which means that they cannot be reused but you can often
update several batches of information onto one disk. The disks cost
from about 30p each. You can also get CDRW disks which are
reusable but they are more expensive.

It is a good idea when using reusable media such as floppy disks or zip
disks to adopt the grandfather, father, son approach (see Figure 33). This
means that at any time, as well as having the disk in the machine you

Fig. 33. The grandfather, father, son technique of backing up computer data.

Grandfather

Father

Son
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have two earlier versions of your data on the backup disks. The first time
you record your data you use the grandfather disk. Next time you use the
father disk and the third time you backup you use the son disk. You will
see that when you prepare this third backup you already have two earlier
versions of your data. When you have used all three sets of disks you
start again by reusing the grandfather disk. Of course at this stage you
still have the father and the son disks containing earlier data. This
process then continues using each set of disks in turn.

Of course you need to keep some record of where you are up to with
the backup disks: a simple paper record kept with the disks recording
which set you used for each backup with the date should suffice.

With CDRs this approach to the backup does not apply although it is
good practice to keep several generations of backup just in case.

By carrying out regular backups of your data then even if the backup
is not fully up to date there will be comparatively little data that will
need to be re-entered should the worst happen.

At the end of each month you may have to carry out a close-
down routine. This is particularly so if there is batch processing
involved: real time systems let you run on but allow you to lock the ear-
lier accounting period when you are sure that all transactions have been
entered.

When you reach the year end there is normally a further routine to run
to transfer the balances from the revenue accounts to the Profit & Loss
Account and then to zeroise the account balances. Chapter 8 gives more
detail of the double entry that is taking place. Just remember that on
many systems once the year end routine has been run you will not be
able to print any further reports from the old period. Make sure that you
have printed all the necessary reports first and it is also a good idea to
make a backup copy of your accounting data.

You should note that the Inland Revenue require you to keep paper
records of the transactions - not just a computer disk.

There are many suppliers of computerised accountancy programs.
One of the most popular is Sage who produce a range of programs to suit
most types of business. Some of the programs are DOS based whilst oth-
ers run under Windows. Another package, TAS Books was the first entry-
level accounts software to receive accreditation by the Institute of Char-
tered Accountants in England and Wales.

There is further information concerning computer matters and con-
tacts in Appendix 2.



110 Book-keeping & Accounting for the Small Business

USING A PREPRINTED ACCOUNTING BOOK

There are several variations of this system on the market but perhaps the
best known is the Simplex D cash book published by George Vyner Ltd.
It has a separate page for each week, and includes both bank and cash
transactions (see Figure 34). It also contains useful notes for guidance
and worked examples to help you.

If you look at the weekly sheet (Figure 34) you will see there is space
to record your daily takings at the top left of the page. You can also put
in details of miscellaneous receipts such as insurance claims, or capital
introduced by the proprietor.

Columns 4 and 5 on the top right of the page record the money you
pay into the bank. Below them are columns 8 and 9 which you can use
to record payments for items other than stock. These have preprinted
headings for the commonest types of expenses but some blank lines are
included in case you want to add further details for your own particular
business.

You can see, too, that this section splits expenditure between that paid
by cash and that paid by cheque. This theme is also used to record the
payments for business stock in columns 6 and 7.

At the foot of the page there are spaces where you can summarise
both your bank and cash transactions for the week. It's obviously a good
idea to make sure that your bank transactions agree with your bank state-
ment and that the cash report agrees with the cash in hand. In practice
many traders don't bother to write up this section of the book! This is
unfortunate; unless these reports are balanced the trader can't check that
everything has been correctly recorded and that no transactions are
missed out.

Recording the VAT transactions
If your business is registered for VAT you will also need a separate book
to record VAT transactions. There is no way of keeping VAT records in
the Simplex D cash book. The Simplex D book is particularly suited to
smaller traders (especially shopkeepers) who don't allow their cus-
tomers any credit. Although it may be limited in scope, it can still form
the basis of a simple and reliable system of bookkeeping. The books are
available from most stationers, or direct from George Vyner Ltd, tele-
phone: Holmfirth (01484) 685221.



Fig. 34. Typical page from Simplex D cash book published
by George Vyner Ltd.
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SUMMARY

A computerised system may save you some time and provide you
with useful management information but it must be used with dis-
cipline and care - just because it looks good does not mean that it
is right..

If you don't need any ledgers and want a simple alternative to the
standard system of bookkeeping, consider using a preprinted
accounting book.



Preparing Your
Annual Acocounts

WHAT THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS SHOW

One purpose of keeping records is to prepare the accounts at the end of
the financial year, so that you can see how the business is doing. An
example of the year end accounts is shown in Figures 35 and 36.

As you can see, these accounts consist of two main pages (plus a
further page of notes which give more details; Figure 37). There are
many different ways of setting out year end accounts but the example
shows one of the commonest layouts.

Balance sheet
The first page, the balance sheet, is a 'snapshot' of the assets and lia-
bilities of the business at a certain point in time. At the year end, in this
example, the business owned the assets and owed the liabilities as
shown on the balance sheet. You can tell a lot from the balance sheet. In
this one, what has happened to the £6,622 on deposit from last year? Has
the business spent it on bigger stocks?

Profit and loss account
The second page, the profit and loss account, is a summary of trading
income and expenditure for the period. Is the gross profit margin
bigger, or smaller, as a percentage of its sales? Why is the net profit less
when sales seem to be up? Are the overheads under control?

Two types of expenditure
There is an important distinction to be made at this stage:

Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure relates to the purchase of fixed assets used by the
business and having a lasting effect over several years.

Revenue expenditure
Revenue expenditure on the other hand only contributes once to the
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Fig. 35. Example of balance sheet.
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FIXED ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Stock
Sundry debtors
Bank deposit account
Bank account
Cash in hand

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft
Sundry creditors

NET CURRENT ASSETS

NET ASSETS

FINANCED BY:
Capital Account

This Last
Note year year

£ £
1 12,644 12,097

2 25,757 21,533
312 580

2,512 6,622
17

545 695

29,143 29,430

56
4,420 3,266

4,420 3,322

24,723 26,108

37,367 38,205

3 37,367 38,205

E FOSTER
BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 March 200X

ACCOUNTANT REPORT
In accordance with instructions given to us, we have prepared
these accounts, without conducting an audit, from the
accounting records and information and explanations
supplied to us.

15 July 200X Harding Higgins Partnership
Chartered Accountants
Uttoxeter



Fig. 36. Example of a profit and loss account.
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Note

SALES

Opening Stock
Purchases
Closing Stock

COST OF SALES

GROSS PROFIT

LESS: OVERHEAD EXPENDITURE
Salaries & wages
Motor expenses
Repairs & renewals
Telephone
Printing & stationery
Heating and lighting
Insurance
Rates
Hire purchase interest
Bank interest & charges
Discount allowed
Accountancy charges
Sundry expenses
Depreciation 1
Loss on sale of assets 1

NET TRADING PROFIT
ADD: SUNDRY INCOME - Bank interest

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

This
year

£
114,307

21,533
84,239

(25,757)

80,015

34,292

5,794
755

1,514
249

1,155
646
425

1,524
111
179
289
665
604

1,398
881

16,189

18,103
190

18,293

Last
year

£
106,962

16,521
80,955

(21,533)

75,943

31,019

5,444
802
838
122
607
570
567

1,392
-

445
272
650
554

1,216
—

13.479

17,540
277

17,817

E FOSTER
TRADING AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
Year Ended 31 March 200X



Depreciation has been charged at the following rates:

2 STOCK

Stock has been valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Fig. 37. Typical notes to year end accounts.
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1 FIXED ASSETS
Written

down
value

beginning
of year

Freehold Property
Motor Vehicles
Furniture 6'i Fittings

8,448

3,381
268

12,097

Additions

4,000

1,326

5,326

Sale
proceeds

(2,500)

(2,500)

Loss on
sale

(881)

(881)

Dep'n
for year

(1,000)

(398)

(1,398)

Written
down
value

end of
year

8,448

3,000
1,196

12,644

Freehold Property
Motor Vehicles
Furniture & Fittings

Nil
25% On book value
25% On book value

E FOSTER
NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Year Ended 31 March 200X

4 TAXATION

No provision has been made in these accounts in respect of taxation.

3 CAPITAL ACCOUNT

As at start of year
Profit for the year
Drawings

£

38,205
18,293

(19,131)

37,367
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earning of profits; except for what may remain as stock, it is wholly used
up in the period the expenditure is incurred. For example, expenditure on
a new piece of equipment or a new building would be capital: it should
benefit the business for many years. Expenditure on raw materials or
motor expenses will have no long-term benefit so it is regarded as
revenue expenditure.

In the same way income can be classified as revenue or capital. If a
factory, or piece of equipment, is sold at a profit - that is a capital profit.
On the other hand, if stocks are sold, that is revenue income.

Example
Figure 38 shows the trial balance used on page 84, this time showing which
of the nominal ledger accounts are profit and loss account items and which
are balance sheet items. This broadly follows the distinction between
revenue and capital. There may be some confusion with regard to revenue
items such as stock and debtors: although these items are not of a capital
nature, the values are included on the balance sheet as they represent assets
held at the end of the accounting period. (Stock also appears on the profit
and loss account but in this case it is to reflect the change in the level of
stock during the year - opening stock less closing stock.)

If you look at the totals on each side of the trial balance you will see
that they are equal: the trial balance does in fact balance. But, if you just
take the profit and loss items (Accounts 1 to 100) then the totals of these
codes on their own do not balance. The debits total £121,961.02 and the
credits total £140,253.56. The difference by which the credits exceed the
debits is £18,292.54, which is in fact the amount of the profit for the
year. Conversely if you look at the balance sheet items the debits exceed
the credits by the same amount. This excess of debits reflects the
increase in assets resulting from the year's trading profit.

THE BALANCE SHEET

As we have seen the balance sheet sets out the assets and liabilities of a
business at a fixed point in time. However, it does more than just list
them. It arranges them into a suitable order so that the financial position
of the business can be clearly seen.

Except for companies, there is no 'legal' order for the entry of the items
on the balance sheet. However, it is usual to bring out certain figures to
highlight the strengths or weaknesses of the business. In particular:



E Foster
Trial Balance as at 31 March 200X

A/.c
No.

1
10
11
20

25

30
35
40
41
42
45
47
49
61
62
63
68
88
89
99

115
118
127
128
129
131
146
150
151
152
153
154
160
161
163
180
185

Account

Sales
Opening stock
Purchases
Closing stock

Bank interest received

Salaries & wages
Motor expenses
Repairs & renewals
Telephone
Printing & stationery
Heating & lighting
Insurance
Rates
Hire purchase interest
Bank interest & charges
Discount allowed
Accountancy charges
Sundry expenses
Depreciation
Loss on Sale of Assets

Stock
Sundry debtors
Bank deposit account
Bank account
Cash in hand
Sundry creditors
Freehold property
Motor vehicle
Vehicle additions
Vehicle disposal proceeds
Depreciation of vehicles
Loss on sale of vehicles
Furniture & fittings
Furniture additions
Depreciation of furniture
Opening capital
Drawings

Dr

21,533.00
84,238.76

5,793.70
755.17

1,514.44
249.04

1,155.26
645.60
424.71

1,523.82
111.49
178.76
289.18
665.00
603.88

1,398.21
881.00

25,757.00
312.00

2,511.96
17.20

545.13

8,447.70
3,381.00
4,000.00

268.00
1,326.35

19,130.91

187,658.27

Cr

114,306.62
Trading
Account

25,757.00

189.94 Sundry Income

Overheads

4,420.15

2,500.00
1,000.00

881.00

398.21
38,205.35

187,658.27

Fig. 38. The sections of the trial balance.

Total fixed assets
These are items such as property, motor vehicles, fixtures and fittings.
More details about the treatment of fixed assets are given on page 125.

Total current assets
These are items which are either cash, or which can be turned into cash
quite quickly. They include the balances of revenue expenditure not used
up at the date of the balance sheet. For example, if raw materials have
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been purchased but not used, they appear in stock at the balance sheet
date. These items are usually listed in the reverse order of liquidity: that
is to say you start with the item that is most difficult to turn into cash and
finish with the item that is easiest, i.e. cash itself.

Total current liabilities
This includes amounts owed to suppliers and can also include short-term
loans, such as overdrafts, which are usually repayable on demand.

Net current assets
This is the difference between total current assets and total current lia-
bilities. It's also sometimes referred to as working capital. It shows the
amount of 'ready money' available to the business for its day-to-day
business activities.

Net assets
The net total of fixed plus current assets minus liabilities is referred to
as the net assets of the business. This shows the net worth of the
business (subject to a few matters discussed below).

Proprietor's investment
The net assets are matched by an equal and opposite figure - the pro-
prietor's investments in the business. This is the amount owed by the
business to its owner. It may include money actually invested into the
business, and profits of the business left in to accumulate.

Comparison with previous period
As well as showing the figures relating to the current date it is also
normal to show the figures at the previous balance sheet date. This
allows the user to review the business, to assess its financial strength (or
weakness), and see how it has changed during the last financial year.

THE PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

The profit and loss account summarises the revenue income and expen-
diture for the year. After allowing for timing differences (debtors,
creditors and stock) it shows the profits and losses of the business. At the
end of the accounting period the various balances on the nominal ledger
revenue account (sales, purchases and overheads, e.g. wages, motor
expenses) are transferred from their respective accounts to the year end
profit and loss account summary. Figure 38 shows where the nominal
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ledger account balances go into the profit and loss account.
Modern financial accounts present the details in a vertical column

form (see Figure 36). It's usual to dispense with pence and just to show
'round pound' figures. Often, comparative figures for the previous year
are shown alongside the figure for the current year. The layout for the
profit and loss account may vary slightly according to the type of
business. The example in Figure 36 would apply where a product is
being bought and resold (for example as in a shop business). You will
see that it is split into three sections:

The top section is the trading account and this gives the figure of
gross profit.
The middle section is the overheads.
The final section deals with incidental non-trading income.

Gross profit
The gross profit is the figure of profit directly from the purchase and sale
of the goods. For example, suppose you ran a shop and purchase an
article for £10 and sell it for £15; you will have made a gross profit of
£5 on the transaction. This would represent a gross profit margin of 33
per cent on sales.

Where the business is just carrying out a service - for example, an
opticians or surveyor - it may be inappropriate to calculate a gross
profit. In such a case it would be normal just to state 'Income less expen-
diture' to show the profit (see Figure 39).

Gross profit and trading account
It is often useful to compare your gross profit rate either from one year
to another year, or with another business in the same trade. The easiest
way to do this is to work out your gross profit as a percentage. This can
be related either to the cost of the goods or to the selling price. Thus:

Gross profit on sales Example
Gross profit -f sales value £5.00 -f £15.00 = 33%

Gross profit on purchases (or mark-up %)
Gross profit -f cost of goods sold £5.00 -f £10.00 = 50%

The expression 'cost of sales' has been used, rather than 'purchases'.
This is because some of the goods which have been purchased may still
be in stock. They have not yet earned any profit and we have to allow
for this when working out the gross profit. Take the following example:



Note

SALES

LESS: OVERHEAD EXPENDITURE

Salaries & wages

Motor expenses

Repairs & renewals

Telephone

Printing & stationery

Heating and lighting

Insurance

Rent & rates

Hirte purchase interest

Bank interest & charges

Accountancy charges

Sundry expenses

Depreciation 1

Loss on sale of assets 1

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

This
year

£

45,307

8,794

755

514

249

1,155

646

425

1,824

111

179

665

604

1,398

881

18,200

27,107

Last
year

£

41,962

8,444

802

838

122

607

570

567

1,692

-
445

650

554

1,216

16,507

25,455

Fig. 39. Example of a profit and loss account for a service business.
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Example
John starts up in business running a shoe shop. He buys 120 pairs of
shoes at £10 per pair. During the financial year he sells 83 pairs of shoes
at £15 per pair and still has 37 pairs in the shop year end. His trading
account would look like this:

£
Sales 1,245

Purchases                                                                          ..1,200
Closing stock                                                .(370)

Cost of sales 830

Gross profit 415

His gross profit ratio would then be:

415
% of sales = 33%

1,245

Overheads and net trading profit
By contrast, any revenue expenditure apart from the purchase of goods
is referred to as overheads. Overheads include:

administration costs (office wages, telephone, stationery, etc.)

establishment costs (heating and lighting, property repairs, rent
and rates)

financial costs (bank interest and charges, HP charges, etc.)

other overheads including depreciation (see page 125).

Certain payments of wages may be included as a direct cost of the
business, and thus affect the gross profit. Whether they should be
included will again depend on the type of business. Where goods are
simply bought and resold, then wages will not form part of the cost of
the goods resold and should therefore be included as an overhead. On
the other hand, where a proceeyss is carried out on the goods before they
are sold (e.g. manufacture or assembly) then the value of the goods has
been enhanced before they are sold. In such circumstances these
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productive wages should be included with the purchase of the goods in
the trading account.

After deducting overheads from the gross profit you arrive at the net
trading profit. This is the amount that the business has earned from its
trade during the year after paying all its expenses.

Non-trading income and net profit
Non-trading income is that which arises from activities incidental to the
main trade. The most common sources of non-trading income are
interest earned from bank deposit accounts, and the rental income from
surplus property owned by the business.

After adjusting for non-trading income you finally arrive at the net
profit of the business for the year. In many cases there will be no non-
trading income; if so you don't have to state both the net trading profit
and the net profit, since the figure would be the same.

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

We have dealt with the balance sheet and with the profit and loss
accounts but some of the figures (particularly on the balance sheet) have
been summarised and shown as one figure for clarity. The 'Notes to the
Accounts' give extra detail to explain the summarised figures. Let's look
again at Figures 35 and 37. The fixed assets (equipment and property
having a long-term benefit to the business) have been shown as a single
figure on the balance sheet. The details of how this is made up are shown
in a note. From the note you can see that the fixed assets include freehold
property, motor vehicles, and fixtures and fittings of the shop. The note
also shows how these figures have changed from a year ago.

The notes also describe the movement on the capital account for the
year. The capital account shows the proprietor's investment in the
business. When the business makes a profit this is credited to the capital
account and increases the balance on that account (the business now
owes more to the proprietor). On the other hand, throughout the year the
proprietor will withdraw money from the business (drawings) and this
reduces the sum that the business owes to him. The drawings are debited
to the capital account, so reducing its balance.

A STANDARD APPROACH TO ACCOUNTS

Before we leave the subject of the annual accounts there are three other
matters to look at. These are the accounting concepts, the historical
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cost convention, and depreciation of fixed assets.

Accounting concepts
There are four accounting concepts in business today:

The going concern concept
This concept states that you should treat your business as if it will go on
trading, unless there is some very clear pointer to say that it will not. The
importance of this is that some of your assets may have a value in a con-
tinuing business, but very little value to anyone else.

Let's take the case of a business taking up a five-year non-transfer-
able lease on some premises; in addition to the annual rental let's
suppose it has to pay an initial premium of £5,000. As we assume that
the business will continue, we don't need to write off the whole cost of
the premium in the profit and loss account in the year that it is expended.
Instead we would write it off at £1,000 per annum over the period of the
lease. Thus after two years there will still be an asset of £3,000 repre-
senting the balance of the lease premium: although it may have no
resaleable value, it does have a value to the business as a going concern.

Accruals
To 'accrue' means to charge an amount in the accounts for the period to
which it relates which may not actually be when it is due to be paid.
Take the case of a business which pays rent of £1,200 pa for its premises,
six monthly in arrears on 31 March and 30 September. If the business
makes up its accounts to 31 December it will have to make an accrual of
£300, being three months' rent (October-December) which has not yet
actually become due for payment, though the business has had the use
of the premises.

The consistency concept
This means that matters within the accounts should be treated consis-
tently from one year to the next. Suppose, for example, you decide to
depreciate (write off) the cost of a machine over five years by equal
instalments: unless there is some big change in the business to justify
altering this treatment, this depreciation should be consistently applied
over the five-year period.

The prudence concept
Don't assume a profit until it is actually earned! Always be prudent and
err on the side of caution. For example, it may be acceptable to state the
profit on a sale, even though the debt has not yet been settled, but if there
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is any doubt over the debt being paid the profit should not be anticipat-
ed. Indeed, if there is a potential bad debt the potential loss must be
provided for in the profit and loss account.

Historical cost convention
One potential weakness of a balance sheet prepared in the way outlined
is that the value of the assets is based on their actual historical cost. In
times of low inflation this may not matter much but when inflation rises
it can lead to their real value being understated in the balance sheet.

Suppose a business purchased a freehold workshop in 1967 for
£12,500, and those same premises are worth £80,000 today. Unless the
accounts are adjusted for inflation the balance sheet would still only
show the original (historical) cost of £12,500.

In times of high inflation annual accounts will include some adjust-
ment, so that the current (true) value is shown. Such a system is termed
current cost accounting. Whilst inflation is at its current low rate,
current cost accounting is not thought necessary for most businesses.

Often, however, a statement or note will be included to remind the
reader that an historical cost basis of accounting has been used and that
the valuation of certain assets, in particular freehold property, may be in
need of some review.

Depreciation of fixed assets
We have seen that fixed assets are items purchased which will benefit the
business over several years. If a business buys a van to deliver its goods
it may expect to go on using it for three or four years before replacing it.
But if the van originally cost, say, £4,000, the business would hardly
expect to receive £4,000 when it sold the van four years later. Suppose
instead it receives £1,200 when the van is sold: if this is put into accoun-
tancy terms the motor vehicle account might look like this:

Dr Cr
£ £

Yr.lrBank- Yr.4:Bank-
Purchase of Van 4,000 Sale of Van 1,200

Yr.4: P & L a/c
Loss on sale of Van 2,800

4,000 4,000
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We have had to transfer the balance on the account (£2,800) to the profit
and loss account; there we will write it off with the other expenses of the
business. However, the above example charges the whole of the loss of
value of the van in the year that it was sold even though it was actually
losing value throughout the whole of the period of ownership.

To overcome this problem it is normal to depreciate assets over their
useful lives; that is to say, to write off part of their value to the profit and
loss account in each year so as to reflect the reduction in value that has
taken place in the year. It's not normally practical (or necessary) to get
valuations of such assets each year. The proprietor of the business will
himself have a good idea of their value and their expected life.

There are two main methods of working out depreciation:

the straight line method
the reducing balance method.

Either can be used but once started you should not change from one
system to the other (consistency - see above).)..

Straight line depreciation
This method writes off the cost of the asset, less its expected residual
value, by equal instalments over its estimated useful life. Using the
example above, the van would be depreciated by £700 in each of the
four years of ownership. This would mean that there would be an
equal charge for the use of the van in the accounts for each of the four
years.

Reducing balance method
Under this system a fixed rate per cent on the diminishing value of the
asset is written off to the profit and loss account each year. The rate
should be such that the depreciation is roughly equal to the loss in the
value of the asset over the period of use. For example:

£
Van cost 4,000
Yr. 1: Depreciation 25% x £4,000 = 1,000

Reduced value at end of year 1 3,000
Yr.2: Depreciation 25% x £3,000 = 750

Reduced value at end of year 2 c/fwd 2,250



Preparing Your Annual Accounts 127

Reduced value at end of year 2 b/fwd 2,250

Yr.3: Depreciation 25% x £2,250 = 562

Reduced value at end of year 3 1,688
Yr.4: Depreciation 25% x £1,688 = 422

Reduced value at end of year 4 1,266

THE RIGHT ACCOUNTS FOR THE BUSINESS

All this can only give a broad outline of how to prepare annual accounts,
and in practice you may well be bringing in your accountant to do them
for you. But it should be mentioned that different businesses need
different things from their accounts. We have already seen that in some
cases, where a product is being bought for resale, it will be right to show
a figure for gross profit in the accounts. In other cases, particularly if the
trade is providing a service, showing a gross profit will be inappropri-
ate. In the same way, if the business is manufacturing goods for sale it
can sometimes be appropriate to include a manufacturing account such
as that shown below.

As you can see, all the expenses relating to the manufacturing process
have been charged in the account, to arrive at the works cost of goods
produced. This figure is then carried into the trading account which
states the gross profit realised on the goods sold.

One further point which can cause confusion on annual accounts arises
on the exchange of assets; for example, in the part exchange of motor
vehicles. The simple and correct way of viewing the transaction is not to
try to adjust figures using only the net sum that has been paid, but to deal
with the purchase and the sale as two distinct transactions. Clearly
the consideration for the sale of the old asset is part of the purchase
price of the new asset but, apart from this, if the transaction is thought
of as two separate deals it should prove much easier to record it all
correctly.
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Manufacturing Account

£ £
Opening stock of raw materials 2,615
Purchases 16,834

19,449
Less closing stock of raw materials 1,780
Cost of materials consumed 17,669
Productive wages 10,350

28,019
Opening work in progress 835

28,854
Less closing work in progress 870

Prime cost of goods produced 27,984

Add works indirect expenses
Factory - Power 2,356

- Rent and rates 780
- Insurance 305

General factory expenses 115
Plant repairs 392
Plant depreciation 800

4,748

Works cost of goods produced 32,732

To summarise

The balance sheet is a 'snapshot' of the assets and liabilities of a
business at a point in time.

A profit and loss account shows how the change in the net worth
of the business has occurred since the last accounts were prepared.

There are the four accounting concepts to keep in mind during the
preparation of the accounts: going concern, accruals, consistency
and prudence.

Some fixed assets will have lost value during the year as their
useful life is slowly used up. Such assets need to be depreciated.

Accounts are normally prepared using the historical cost basis.

The way in which accounts are presented will depend partly on the
nature of the business.
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COMPANY ACCOUNTS

The laws on limited liability companies date back to the mid-nineteenth
century. Since then there have been a number of further Acts of Parlia-
ment governing company legislation. Companies are currently governed
by the Companies Act 1985 (with its subsequent amending Acts and
Statutory Instruments) which brings together all the regulations for the
control of companies.

Limited companies are obliged by law to keep accounting records
and to present annual accounts to the shareholders each year.

Furthermore, although a sole trader or partnership can present
accounts in any format they wish, the disclosure of information in
company accounts is set down by law. The accounts must include:

a profit and loss account
a balance sheet signed by a director
an auditors' report signed by the auditor (unless able to claim
exemption - see below)
a directors' report signed by a director or the secretary of the
company
notes to the accounts.

The profit and loss account and balance sheet must be presented in a
fixed format and companies also have to consider other rules set out in
the Statements of Standard Accounting Practice (SSAPs) and
Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs) issued by the main
accountancy bodies. Certain types of company may also have to obey
specialist regulations contained within other Acts of Parliament (for
example, insurance broker accounts).

The fixed format of company accounts
The Companies Act 1985 states the layout that the annual accounts of a
company must comply with. There are two balance sheet formats and
four profit and loss account formats. The formats are as follows:

Balance sheet
Format 1 - Vertical layout
Format 2 - Horizontal layout

Profit and loss account
Format 1 - Vertical layout - with expenses classified by function

(e.g. cost of sales, distribution costs)
Format 2 - Vertical layout - with expenses classified by type (e.g.

raw materials, staff costs)
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Format 3 - As Format 1 but in horizontal layout
Format 4 - As Format 2 but in horizontal layout

The horizontal layout uses one page to record the profit and loss expen-
diture and the facing page to record the income. In a similar manner one
page of the balance sheet shows the liabilities of the business and the
facing page shows the assets.

The more modern vertical layout shows the figures of the profit and
loss account or the balance sheet in one vertical column and by carefully
choosing the order of the items certain key figures can be disclosed to
the user of the accounts.

Balance sheet format 1 and profit and loss formats 1 and 2 are repro-
duced in Appendix 3.

It will be appreciated that accounts prepared in this way reveal very
little information. It is therefore usual for a more detailed profit and loss
account to be prepared to help the management. As this management
profit and loss account is not a statutory document there is no fixed
format. However, a format similar to that used by sole traders and part-
nerships for their accounts is normally adopted.

Who else sees my company's accounts?
All limited companies must file their accounts with the Registrar of
Companies each year. In the case of private companies they must
normally file the accounts within ten months of the end of their financial
year. Public Limited Companies have a shorter period and must normally
lodge their accounts with the Registrar within seven months of the year
end. However, these time periods for filing accounts are currently under
review and may be shortened. There are special rules that apply to new
companies.

Once filed the accounts are on public record and can be inspected by
anyone for the payment of a small fee. You can also obtain copies of the
accounts via the Internet: see www.companieshouse.gov.uk. There are,
however, exemptions for small and medium-sized companies which are
able to send in abbreviated accounts which put less information on
public record.

Is my company a small or medium-sized company?
The Companies Act sets out the meaning of 'small' and 'medium' when
they are applied to companies. The factors to take account of are the
level of annual turnover, the average number of employees and the
balance sheet total. The balance sheet total means the total of the fixed
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Turnover less than

Growth assets less than

Average number of employees

Company Size * Audit Exemption
Small 1 Medium Current

£5.6m £22.8m £5.6m

£2.8m £11.4m £2.8m

50 250

Fig. 40. Audit exemption and abbreviated accounts.

and current assets. See Figure 40 for more details of the conditions. In
each case the company has to meet at least two of the three conditions in
the particular year although there can be complications if the company
did not also meet the criteria in earlier years.

Preparing abbreviated accounts
All companies must prepare full accounts for presentation to the
company's members but as mentioned above small and medium-sized
companies can send abbreviated accounts to the Registrar of Companies.

Small companies' accounts delivered to the Registrar must contain:

an abbreviated balance sheet
selected notes to the accounts including

accountingiesspolici
- share ca
- particulars of creditors payable in more than five .
- the basis of any foreign currency trans.

a special auditor's report (unless exempt).

For medium companies the accounts must contain:

a full balance sheet
an abbreviated profit and loss account
notes to the accounts
a directors' report
a special auditor's report.

The rules of disclosure are complex and the above only gives a brief
outline of the requirements. If you are in doubt as to the information that
you must provide then you should take professional advice.

* all other companies are Jarge companies and not entitled to exemptions.
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Where the company takes advantage of the regulations permitting the
filing of abbreviated accounts it must have a special auditor's report
confirming that the exemptions have been satisfied and the directors
must make a statement at the foot of the balance sheet saying that they
have relied upon the exemptions.

The audit report
Some companies will be required to appoint an auditor and have their
accounts audited. It is the job of the auditor to report to the members
(shareholders) of the company as to whether the accounts have been
properly prepared taking notice of the appropriate accounting rules. The
auditor must also report as to whether the accounts give a true and fair
view of the state of the company's affairs.

In order to arrive at their conclusion the auditor will carry out an
examination of the records on a test basis to ensure that the accounts are
not materially incorrect. This does not mean that the auditor will check
every transaction or that the accounts have to be 100 per cent accurate:
just that anyone looking at the accounts will be able to obtain a fair view
of the state of the company's affairs and will not be misled if they rely
upon the figures. Very often, particularly with smaller companies, the
auditor will also act as accountant to the company and they will prepare
the accounts and deal with the necessary taxation matters.

Choosing an auditor
The auditor of your company must be a member of a recognised profes-
sional body and hold the relevant practising certificate so as to be
eligible for appointment as a company auditor under the rules of that
body. Under the Companies Act there are five recognised bodies:

the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants
the Association of Authorised Public Accountants.

For the addresses of these organisations, see page 168.

Some companies are exempt from audit
Statutory Instrument 2004/16 revised the requirement for an audit and
now the smallest companies, with a turnover of less than £5,600,000 can
be exempted from the requirement of an audit subject to certain condi-
tions. You should not, however, confuse this exemption with the
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definition of a small company as set out in the Companies Act. Some
companies which qualify as small companies are nevertheless required
to have their accounts audited.

There are a few classes of company which cannot be exempt from an
audit. They are:

parent or subsidiary companies
insurance broker companies
banking or insurance companies
companies authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000
public limited companies (PLCs)
charitable companies with gross income of more than £250,000.

In addition, if the shareholders owning more than ten per cent of the
issued share capital request an audit then the requirement cannot be
waived.

If the company claims exemption from the audit requirements it must
still prepare its accounts in accordance with the terms of the Companies
Act and send them to the Registrar of Companies. In this case there must
be a directors' statement at the foot of the balance sheet stating amongst
other things that:

exemption from audit has been claimed
the members have not requested an audit
the directors acknowledge their responsibility for maintaining
proper accounting records and preparing accounts based upon those
records.

Limited Liability Partnerships
The accounts of Limited Liability Partnerships (LLPs) are prepared in
much the same way as limited companies (see above) and they have the
same disclosure regulations. The accounts must be filed on public record
with the Registrar of Companies within the ten month time limit. If the
business qualifies it may file abbreviated accounts and it may be
exempted from audit in the same way as a limited company.

Getting professional help
As you will see from the notes above, the preparation of company
accounts, which comply with all the requirements of the Companies Act
and at the same time permit the maximum exemption from disclosure,
can be highly complex. Some useful information can be obtained
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from Companies House (Central Enquiries 0870 33 33 636; Web site
www.companieshouse.gov.uk). However, unless you have time on your
hands to study the detailed legislation, then it is suggested that you ask
a professional accountant to prepare the accounts for you. There are
notes in Chapter 12 on choosing an accountant.

SUMMARY

Limited companies are obliged by law to maintain proper account-
ing records.

The accounts of a limited company have to be prepared in accor-
dance with a set format laid down by the Companies Act.

In addition to the requirements of law there are other regulations
that must be complied with (e.g. the Statements of Standard
Accounting Practice).

There is a requirement in law for the accounts of limited companies
to be audited, subject to an exemption for smaller companies.

A company must file its accounts with the Registrar of Companies
annually.

Small and medium-size companies can file abbreviated accounts
with the Registrar of Companies.



How to Use Management
Information

As we have seen, the books and records allow the preparation of annual
financial accounts for a business. However, by the time they are prepared
it is often too late for crucial management decisions to be taken . There
are therefore several things that the small business (or indeed any busi-
ness) should do to monitor trade throughout the year.

CONTROLLING THE CASH POSITION

Profit does not necessarily mean cash
There is often a lack of appreciation that profits do not necessarily mean
cash in the bank. Without close control the additional profits quickly
become locked into non-cash forms: more stock is held, debtors
increase, and possibly the profit gets tied up in capital equipment
(see Figure 41). Such common problems have led to the winding-up of
many a small business.

Fig. 41. Profit and cash are not the same.
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Payments
Trade creditors
Other creditors
Wages and salaries
Heat, light and power
Advertising
Rates
Other expenses
Loan interest
Tax
Dividends
Capital outlay

Total

4,000
500

11,000
500
—

2,000
1,000

—
10,000

—
—

29,000

Cash increase (decrease) (7,440)
Initial cash
Ending cash

4,750
(2,690)

3,500
800

11,000
200

2,000
—

2,700
—
—
—

1,500

21,700

300
(2,690)
(2,390)

3,000
400

11,100
200
—
—

2,700
500
—
—
—

17,900

3,220
(2,390)

830

3,200
1,000

11,200
500
—
—

1,000
—
—

1,200
—

18,100

950
830

1,780

2,800
700

11,200
200

2,000
—

2,700
—
—
—

2,000

21,600

(3,400)
1,780

(1,620)

3,000
800

11,200
200
—
—

2,700
—
—
—
—

17,900

1,200
(1,620)

(420)

Fig. 42. Specimen cash flow forecast.

The cash flow statement
In order to overcome this problem a simple cash flow statement (fore-
cast) should be prepared. An example of this is shown in Figure 42. You
can draft it on a piece of plain paper or get a preprinted form from your
local bank if you prefer.

Decide on the length of time that the forecast is to cover; for exam-
ple, one year. The nature of the business may mean using a shorter
or longer period, particularly if it is highly seasonal.

Next, decide on the length of the individual periods to be forecast.
Normally this would be months, but again depending on the busi-
ness it might be better to prepare the statement by weeks or calen-
dar quarters.

Write in your initial (opening) cash or bank balance.

136

Receipts
Trade debtors
Sales of assets
Other

Total

Jan.
£

20,000
1,500

60

21,560

Feb.
£

22,000

—

22,000

March
£

21,000

120

21,120

April
£

19,000

50

19,050

May
£

18,000
200
—

18,200

June
£

19,000

100

19,100
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Then forecast the cash receipts for each of the periods. Remember,
if you sell goods on credit the cash may not come in for one, two or
even three months after the date of the sale. Thus if you sell goods
in the first month of the cash flow statement you should enter the
cash received for those goods in the month of probable receipt (e.g.
in the case of customers taking an average of 60 days credit, then
the entry should be in month 3).

Then forecast your cash outgoings. Remember to include such
items as the purchase of capital equipment, the payment of PAYE
and any other tax, and any drawings taken out by yourself. Remem-
ber, too, that you may be able to get credit on goods that you pur-
chase. Thus goods delivered to you in month 1 may be paid in
months 2 or 3 and the entry on the cash flow statement should there-
fore be in the relevant month. (Depreciation, as we have seen, is not
a cash item, and so you don't need to include it in your cash flow.)

Next the boring part! - Add through the statement as follows:
(a) Add up the total receipts for each period.
(b) Add up the total payments for each period.
(c) Deduct the total payments from the total receipts to arrive at

the cash increase or decrease for the period.
(d) Add the cash increase (or deduct the decrease) from the open-

ing balance to arrive at the new cash balance at the end of
the period. If the figure becomes minus you need to get an
overdraft, or cut expenditure.

(e) The closing cash balance becomes the opening cash balance
for the next period.

By reviewing the closing balance each month you will be able to esti-
mate the cash needs of the business. If, for example, your business has a
seasonal Christmas trade you might need overdraft facilities to help you
to buy stock in October and November before the cash comes in from
the sales in December.

You can also add the actual expenditure to this statement each month
in order to monitor the trading results. You might be surprised (? horri-
fied) at how the actuals compare with your estimates. But you should get
more accurate with experience.

Controlling the credit
In business your main income will be from your customers, but this only
materialises into cash when they actually pay up! Until the customer
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pays, you are financing their business.
Suppose you are owed £1,000 by one of your customers who helps

themself to an extra four months beyond the agreed credit period. The
cost to your firm in interest charges will be £27 (based on an interest rate
of 8%). This is not only expensive, but lack of cash could jeopardise
your whole business if you are already stretched to the limit on your bor-
rowing facilities. And problems, like the proverbial number 7 bus, have
a nasty habit of showing up all at once!

You can keep bad debts and the level of accounts receivable to a min-
imum by careful credit control procedures. Always check the credit-
worthiness of major new customers, either through a banker's reference
or by using a credit-rating agency.

You should also monitor the time taken by your customers to pay.
You can do this by preparing an aged debtors list. On page 73 it was
suggested that you should list the amounts owing to you by your cus-
tomers. The aged debtors list as shown in Figure 43 is a development of
this idea. Beside the total column are added, say, 5 extra columns, these
being headed Current, 1 month, 2 months, 3 months and over 3 months.
You then enter each of the debts not only in the total column but also into
the column for its appropriate 'age'. You can then see at a glance which
customers are taking ages to pay. Remember, the longer an account is
outstanding, the less chance there is that you'll ever get
paid.

Don't be afraid of taking legal action to recover debts that are becom-
ing old. Often, the threat of legal action against a financially unsound
customer (who doesn't want his other creditors to be aware of his situa-
tion) will bring a positive response and your account will jump to the
head of the queue for payment.

Don't worry about upsetting customers who are bad payers. They
tend to be thick-skinned and know full well that you are only trying to
run your business. If you do manage to upset them remember that, with
the additional problems they are causing, you are probably better off
without them.

Finally, whilst on the subject, it is worth mentioning that good credit
management will almost literally pay dividends. On an annual turnover
of £100,000, if your customers take an extra month's credit it is going to
cost you around £667 per annum in finance costs (assuming interest
at 8%).



A2
B4
C2
D3
F4
£8
L3
M6
P4
51
54
T8
W4

Acme Engineering Ltd
D Beattie <& Co
A Cunningham Ltd
C Duncan
D Fairgate Ltd
B Gibson <& Co
R Lister
Mackenzie & Co
P Pickard Ltd
J Shipley <& Co
Starlet Engineering Ltd
T Thomas
M Williams Ltd

Total

1,718.66
857.45
323.47
104.42
-23.14

867.57
532.35

1,300.00
1,512.33
863.98
478.63
323.44
965.28

9,824.44

Current

963.42
857.45

-23.14

532.35
1,300.00
1,057.61
863.98

323.44

5,875.11

1 Month

755.24

323.47

Credit
274.36

454.72

478.63

2,286.42

2 Months

965.28

965.28

3 Months

593.21

593.21

Over
3 Months

104.42

104.42

Fig. 43. Typical aged debtors list.

A6ED DEBTORS LIST - 31 August 200X



140 Book-keeping & Accounting for the Small Busines.

MANAGING A BUDGET

What is a budget? Someone once defined it this way: 'A statement of a
financial position for a definite period of time, based on estimates of
expenditure and proposals for financing them'. This sounds a bit grand,
but it's really quite a simple idea and one that every schoolboy uses. The
schoolboy only sets his budget for a short period, say the afternoon. He
has 37p in his pocket and plans how he will spend it. He can buy a comic
at 18p and a chocolate bar at 19p, or a packet of crisps at 14p and an ice-
cream for 23p. He will plan his budget for the afternoon and make his
decisions accordingly. If when he gets to the ice-cream shop he finds
that the ice-cream is on special offer and is only 20p then there will be
a variation from the budget resulting in a budget surplus of 3p.

How does budgeting apply in business?
A good budget can be a very powerful tool for management. It will nor-
mally be set for a year in advance, but be subdivided into monthly peri-
ods.

The cornerstone for the budget will be your anticipated sales volume
and revenue for the forecast period. This is not always easy to forecast:
you will have to take into account such factors as past performances,
new products, advertising campaigns, competition, and seasonal factors.
And remember that when you split it into 12 months it may not just be
a question of dividing all the figures by 12. You know the pattern of your
trading best.

As well as sales income your budget should forecast all the expenses
of the business.

Preparing a budget can be a chore, involving a fair amount of detail.
But you'll know more about your business as a result, have a useful tool
for the efficient management of your business, and know what level of
profit (and liquidity) to expect.

Monitoring progress
The budget statement can also be used to monitor the progress of your
business. If you work out a simple monthly operating summary, like that
in Figure 44, you can see how your actual results compare with the bud-
get you set. A monthly management profit and loss account such as this
will differ from the cash flow forecast because it takes no account of the
timing differences on making payments; it will also make the necessary



How to Use Management Information 141

Fig. 44. A simple monthly operating summary.

adjustments for changes in stock levels and depreciation (non-cash
expenses).

If you find that actual results differ markedly from your budget, you
should be able to identify the reasons and think about what action to
take. You may, of course, need to modify your budget, but either way it
will give you a better insight into the way your business finances
actually work.

Month ending March 200X
Month Year to date

Actual
£

Budget
£

Actual
cumulative

£

Budget
cumulative

£

Sales

Direct cost of sales
Materials
Labour
Direct overheads

Total

Gross margin

Expenses
Factory
Selling
Technical
Accounting
Administrative

Total expenses

Contribution to annual
profit

8,288

2,475
2,063

675

5,213

3,075

1,140
375
308
245
335

2,403

672

7,500

2,250
1,950

650

4,850

2,650

1,100
400
300
240
345

2,385

265

24,960

7,527
6,248
2,071

15,846

9,114

3,527
1,201

963
757

1,080

7,528

1,586

23,250

6,825
5,925
1,950

14,700

8,550

3,375
1,170

915
735

1,050

7,245

1,305
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Performance ratios
There are several key ratios which you can use to measure and monitor
the financial health of your business. Unfortunately, because there are so
many different types of business one can't give any general guidance on
what ratios to expect: they vary so much from one trade to another.

Some of the key ratios to look for are given below and you may wish
to monitor these figures for your business. You could check them month-
ly, quarterly, and certainly at the end of each year when you have your
annual accounts, and you'll be able to tell (as will your bank manager!)
where you are going right and where you may be going wrong.

SUMMARY

You should now be able to:

Prepare a cash flow statement and use it to forecast finance require-
ments.

Prepare a budgeted profit and loss account statement.

Gross profit rate = gross profit
x 100 per cent

sales turnover

Net profit rate = net profit
x 100 per cent

sales turnover

Return on capital = net profit
x 100 per cent

capital employed

Outstanding accounts outstanding accounts
receivable expressed = x 365 days
in days' billings accounts sales

Stock turnover = materials used per annum
per annum

average stock held
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Monitor the actual progress of the business against the budgeted
profit and loss account and the cash flow statement and make
necessary amendments to your trading plan.

Operate a good system of credit control and chase up the old debts.

Calculate the performance ratios: check to see if these are improv-
ing compared with prior years and try to obtain details from others
in the same trade in order to see how your business compares.



Taxation and Your Business

You can blame Napoleon for the existence of this chapter. Income tax
as we know it today was introduced to pay for a war against the said
gentleman. That was in 1799. It was so hated that when it was with-
drawn in 1816 all the records were destroyed. However, Sir Robert
Peel re-introduced the tax in 1842 and it has been with us ever since.
The lowest standard rate ever charged was 2d in the £ (0.83%) between
1874 and 1876 and the highest was 107- in the £ (50%) between 1941
and 1946.

Employees pay their tax by deduction from their wages under the
PAYE scheme. However, self-employed people don't come within the
scope of the PAYE system. Instead they are taxed in arrears on the basis
of their previous earnings.

How your business is taxed will depend upon the entity carrying on
the business:

sole traders and partnerships
limited companies.

We'll deal first with the taxation of sole traders and partnerships. The
taxation of limited companies is discussed at the end of the chapter.

SOLE TRADERS AND PARTNERSHIPS

The method of working out the tax liability of sole traders and partner-
ships is practically the same, except that in the case of a partnership it's
necessary to work out each partner's share of the total liability.

The taxes involved
The taxes that may be involved are:

income tax - on profits
Class 4 national insurance - on profits

144
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taxation on capital gains
inheritance tax.

The last two taxes don't normally occur each year. Inheritance tax might
occur on death or occasionally on certain gifts. It can be complicated to
work out the correct allowances and liability and the reader should get
specialist advice if needed.

Capital gains arise on the sale of business (and other) assets. It taxes
the increase in the value of the asset during the period of ownership.
There are several allowances which relieve the effect of the tax. The
main reasons why capital gains could affect a person in business are:

the sale of certain equipment at a profit on its original cost, and
more importantly, when a business or business premises are sold.

Again it is suggested that you obtain specialist advice as necessary.
Class 4 national insurance is calculated at the same time as the

income tax liability, and these two taxes will be dealt with together.

Income tax
The accounting concepts (Chapter 8) go part way to defining the profit
of the business, but there are some matters still left to the discretion of
the accounts producer which affect the profit disclosed. The rate of
depreciation, for example, is left to the individual. In addition accounts
often include the full cost of running the proprietor's motor car or other
expense, where in practice part of these costs is for his own personal
benefit. So that the Inland Revenue can apply the taxes on a standard-
ised profit a computation is needed to adjust the profit disclosed by the
accounts to that required by the Inspector of Taxes.

Figure 45 illustrates the way in which the adjustments are made to the
accounting profit to arrive at the profit for taxation purposes.

In the computation some of the expenses are disallowed. These
include depreciation (and the loss on the sale of a motor car) and also
the private element of expenses that has been charged in the accounts. In
the illustration the only private expense is the car, but on other occasions
it might include the following:

telephone charges (if home telephone bills are paid through the
business)
heating and lighting 1 where the business is run from the
rent and rates roprietor's homerientotmo ew



Illustration of adjustments to accounting profit

Refer to the accounts of E Foster on page 115.

CAPITAL ALLOWANCES

Fig. 45. Illustration of taxation adjustments.
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Profits per accounts

Add: Depreciation
Loss on sale of assets
Motor expenses - 50%

Less: Bank interest received

Less: Capital Allowances (see below)

Adjusted profit

£
18,293

1,398
881
378

20,950
190

20,760

1,567

19,193

FYA Pool

£
Brought forward

Additions 1,326

Disposal proceeds

First year allowance

@ 40% (530)

Writing down allowance

@25%

Balancing allowance

796

Carried forward

Restriction - private use of vehicles

(£1,043 + I,000)x50% =

Pool

£
63

(16)

47
796

843

Ford Car Volvo Car Allowances

£ £ £

3,543

4,000

(2,500)

530

(1,000) 1,016

(1,043) 1,043

3,000

2,589

1,022

1,567
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This is not an exhaustive list: each case must be considered on its merits.
Where the proprietor uses goods from the business for his own pur-

poses then an adjustment for this should also be made. If, for example,
the business is a newsagents and the proprietor takes cigarettes for his
own use the appropriate entries should be made. The removal of the
cigarettes without payment changes the profit margin revealed by the
accounts, and so the adjustment should ideally be made on the face of
the accounts by adding those goods to sales (the other balancing entry
of the double entry being included as drawings). However, if the
adjustment is not made in the accounts it should be included as an 'add
back' in the tax computations.

The result of disallowing or adding back expenses to the accounting
profit is to remove the effect of charging them in the accounts in the first
place.

The reasons for this should be clear for expenditure that is of a
private nature. Less clear will be the reason for adding back deprecia-
tion: it is done to standardise the depreciation allowance.

As well as certain expenses being 'added back' in the computation
some of the income is deducted to remove it from the assessable profit.
This is not because it escapes tax but because the taxation treatment of
this income differs from that of the profits. The main examples of items
treated like this are bank interest received and property rental income.

Having arrived at the adjusted taxable profit there are various
allowances that can be claimed in respect of depreciation.

Capital allowances
As stated above, it is up to whoever produces the accounts to set the
rates of depreciation. This is unsatisfactory for the purpose of assessing
income tax; accordingly the Inland Revenue have their own system of
allowing depreciation called capital allowances.

Capital allowances at various rates are granted in respect of:

general plant and equipment including motor vehicles
industrial buildings
agricultural buildings.

The rates of allowance for industrial and agricultural buildings are cur-
rently 4% of the cost of the asset for the first 25 years of the claim. Spe-
cial rules apply where buildings are sold, or purchased before the full
allowance has been claimed by the original owner.

The capital allowances scheme for general plant is based on a written



148 Book-keeping & Accounting for the Small Business

down value at the rate of 25% p.a. However, you may claim a First Year
Allowance at a rate of 40%. Thus if a new machine costs £1,000 the
allowances on it would be as follows:

and so on.
In practice the allowance is not calculated for each item of plant;

instead they are accumulated together in a pool. This applies to all types
of plant and equipment including motor vans. The FYA items are ini-
tially included as a separate pool but it is added to the main pool after
the First Year Allowance has been claimed. For more details contact an
accountant or the Tax Office.

The exceptions are motor vehicles or other assets where there is an
element of private use, and motor cars with an original cost exceeding
£12,000. These items must each be calculated separately and each
forms a separate pool value. Where there is private use the allowance
must be restricted so that only the business proportion is claimed, but
the value of the asset is reduced by the full 25% each year. For cars
costing over £12,000 the Writing Down Allowance is restricted to a
maximum of £3,000 p.a. Also note that First Year Allowance is not
available on cars.

When assets are sold the proceeds are deducted from the appropriate
written down value. This may then exhaust the particular pool and a
negative value be obtained. In this case you will already have obtained
more allowances than the loss in the value of the asset since acquisition.
Accordingly the excess is clawed back by giving rise to a balancing
charge. What if the sale is of the last of the assets within that particular
pool? If there is any remaining unallowed positive value in the pool

Year 1 Cost

Allowance 1,000 x 40% FYA

Year 2 Allowance 600 x 25% WDA

Year 3 Allowance 450 x 25% WDA

£
1,000

400

600
150

450
112

338
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after deducting the proceeds, it shows that the annual allowances were
not enough to grant relief for the loss in value since acquisition.
Accordingly an additional allowance is given, the balancing
allowance.

In some cases, where profits are low, it is not beneficial to claim cap-
ital allowances. This is because the tax on the profit will already have
been relieved by personal allowances. If capital allowances are claimed
then no further relief may be obtained but the value of the pool will be
reduced and will therefore restrict allowances available in future years.
In such circumstances it is possible to waive the claim to capital
allowances for the year.

Net taxable profit
The adjusted profit (net of any capital allowances) is the taxable profit
on which you must pay tax. This is rather like the gross pay of someone
taxed under PAYE.

Under Self Assessment the basis period of a year of assessment is the
accounting year ending within that tax year. Thus if a trader makes up
his accounts to 31 December, his basis period for the income tax year
2003/2004 (6 April 2003 to 5 April 2004) is his accounts for the year
ended 31 December 2003. There are special rules which apply during
the first and last years of the business and there is overlap relief to
ensure that the tax is charged on a fair basis. For more details of these
rules you should refer to your accountant or to the Inland Revenue.

Unless your turnover (sales) is less than £15,000 then you will need
to complete a detailed tax return for the Inland Revenue. This form asks
for your accounts to be summarised to reveal the turnover, gross profit
and the overheads analysed under 13 headings. There is also provision
on the form to enter the expenses that have been disallowed in the cal-
culation of the taxable profit. The actual accounts for your business are
no longer sent to the Inspector of Taxes unless he/she specifically
requests them.

The personal allowances available to the individual are deducted
from the taxable profit and the tax calculated at the current rates on the
resulting total. In addition, Class 4 national insurance contributions are
payable on the taxable profits between £5,035 and £33,540 at a rate of
8% (2006/2007 rates). On profits over £33,540 Class 4 national insur-
ance is charged at 1%. This is paid in addition to the flat rate Class 2
contributions of £2.10 per week.

If the venture incurs a taxation loss, the loss can be relieved
against:
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other income of the same year, or

the profits of the same trade in any future year.

If the business is a partnership the profit will have to be allocated
between the various partners. The rules for doing this can be complex.

Finally, remember that the legal onus is on the individual to tell the
Inland Revenue of all his sources of income. There are severe penalties for
failing to disclose information. If you start up in business you should notify
the tax authorities without delay. Don't wait for them to contact you. The
easiest way to advise them is by completing form CWF1 (available from
the Inland Revenue website or tax offices) and sending it to the address
shown on the form. There is a penalty of £100 if you fail to notify them
within three months of the end of the month in which your business
started.

You must also ensure that the information you give is accurate. Under
Self Assessment the figures from the accounts are received and
processed by the Inland Revenue without any form of review at that
stage. The Inland Revenue will even calculate your tax for you based
upon those figures but this does not mean that they accept and agree
them. They have until a year after the filing deadline in order to review
the accounts and raise any queries and if errors are found (perhaps
because you have claimed an expense that should not have been
allowed) penalties may be charged.

If you are in doubt about the taxation of your business then contact
your local Inspector of Taxes, or discuss things with a qualified accoun-
tant. An accountant's fee will usually be money well spent because they
may be able to save you at least as much in tax.

Limited Liability Partnerships
With just a few modifications, LLPs are taxed in the same manner as
ordinary partnerships (see above).

COMPANY TAXATION

We saw in Chapter 1 that a limited company is a separate legal entity. As
such it is responsible for the payment of its own tax on profits. It is not
for the owners of the business to pay the tax themselves. An outline of
the taxation structure for companies is set out in Figure 46.

In small companies, the owners of the business (the shareholders) are
also often the directors. What the directors get by way of salary or bonus
is taxable as a liability of them as individuals. In most cases the tax is
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collected via the PAYE system in the company; the directors don't nor-
mally pay the tax directly to the Collector of Taxes.

As with any other form of wages, directors' remuneration is a com-
pany expense; it reduces the profit of the company charged to tax.

The profit of the business, after directors' remuneration, is adjust-
ed to arrive at the taxable profit in the same way as for individuals
and partnerships (see earlier in this chapter). However, the taxation
treatment of some items differs between individuals and companies.
When an individual uses a business asset for private purposes it is
normal to disallow part of the expense charged in the profit and loss
account by adding a proportion of the amount to the profit in the tax-
ation computation. This increases the business profit chargeable to
tax; since it is the responsibility of the individual to settle the tax lia-
bility it means that he/she must pay the tax on the benefit he/she has
obtained.

Clearly, for a limited company responsible for its own taxation lia-
bility, it would not be right for it to suffer an extra liability on benefits
provided to directors. Accordingly the value of these benefits is not
adjusted within the company's taxation computation; instead each
director is assessed for income tax on the value of the benefits
received.
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Two stages of tax for companies
Since 1965 the profits of companies have been taxed in two stages:

on the company profits for the year (corporation tax)

on the distribution of profit to the shareholders by way of
dividend.

At first sight this seems to tax the profits twice, but the system is so
arranged that (with certain restrictions) the tax paid on company
profits is not charged again when the profits are distributed to
shareholders.

Corporation tax
Corporation tax is charged on the company profits for the accounting
year. The rate of tax depends on the size of the profits and whether it has
any associated companies.

For small companies which are not associated with others and do not
receive dividend income the corporation tax rates for the 2006 Financial
Year (year commencing on 1 April 2006) can be summarised as
follows:

Band Rate(%)

On the first £10,000 0

On the next £40,000 23.75

On the next £300,000 19

On the next £1,200,000 32.75

Over £1,500,000 30

Where there are dividends received or the company has associated
companies the rules become more complicated and you should seek pro-
fessional help.

Corporation tax is payable nine months after the end of the account-
ing period. So for example if the company's year end is 31 January the
tax will be payable on the following 1 November.

Dividends and tax credits

When an individual gets a dividend from a company, it comes with an
associated tax credit. This means that if he/she is liable to tax at the
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basic rate he/she won't have to pay any more tax. In other words the
company has paid tax on the profits earned, so when the profits are
shared among the shareholders via the dividend then they have already
suffered tax and so don't have to pay the tax again.

The rate of tax credit is 10% of the gross value of the dividend. For
basic rate taxpayers this income is assessed at an 'investment rate' of
10% so there is no further tax due. For higher rate taxpayers the 'invest-
ment rate' is 32.5% and so allowing for the 10% tax credit there is a
further 22.5% of tax to pay.

Capital gains in companies
Capital gains made by companies are worked out in the same way as for
individuals, but they have to pay corporation tax at the relevant rate. If
the company qualifies for small company relief then its tax rate will be
20%; if it doesn't it will be 30%. The marginal relief also applies (see
above).

The accounting implications of taxation
Since a limited company is a separate legal entity it is responsible for
paying its own taxes. This is not like the sole trader or partnership,
where the individuals running the business are responsible for paying
the tax. The tax on their business profits will depend on their individual
circumstances, such as their tax allowances and their taxable income
from other sources.

Since taxation is an expense of the limited company it must be
included in its accounts. As the liability to pay tax is due nine months
after the company's year end, then corporation tax will normally appear
as:

a charge in profit and loss account, and

a creditor on the balance sheet.

SUMMARY

Companies are responsible for their own taxation.

Companies pay corporation tax on their profits.
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Dividends received by basic rate taxpayers do not attract a further
tax liability.

The liability to taxation should be included in the accounts of com-
panies.



Accounting for Loans,
Hire Purchase and Leasing

THE DIFFERENT TYPES OF FINANCE

From time to time you may want to buy an expensive piece of equipment
or a motor vehicle for your business. Depending on the financial state of
the business you may need to raise extra finance. One method is to
approach your bank. If you only want short-term finance (up to a year)
you will probably do best to try and negotiate an overdraft facility. But
if you need finance over a longer period then your options are:

bank loan (as distinct from overdraft)
hire purchase
asset leasing.

There are many variations on these options. Your choice will depend
upon several factors:

the period of the finance required
the nature of the asset to be acquired
interest rates, and what they will cost.

If you are buying property then a loan from a bank or other financial
institution is probably the only real option. Of course, you may be able
to rent premises but you will never become the owner.

For other assets you may be able to use any of the methods of finance.
Let's examine them in turn.

Bank loan (often called a development loan)
The bank makes you a loan so that you can buy the asset. The interest
and repayments can be handled in various ways; for example:

Fixed interest, fixed repayment
The interest rate will be fixed at the start of the loan and will stay the
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same for the whole period of the loan. The repayments can also be set at
a fixed amount (e.g. per month).

Fixed interest, reducing repayments
The interest rate is fixed at the start of the loan. The payments then made
to the bank consist of two parts: the repayment of a fixed proportion of
the sum originally borrowed, plus payment of interest at the agreed rate
on the outstanding (and reducing) balance. For example:

Loan £6,000 over 5 years at 8% interest with monthly repayment of
capital £100

Floating interest rate
This system works very like the fixed interest, reducing repayment sys-
tem outlined above. But instead of the interest rate being fixed at the
start of the loan it varies throughout the period of the loan. Interest rates
are normally expressed as so many per cent above bank Base Rate. The
actual rate will depend upon the risk involved for the bank in the loan
but typically it might be 2.5% to 3% above Base Rate.

Hire purchase
Under a hire purchase contract the HP company buys the asset on your
behalf. You can then use the asset but ownership does not pass to you
until the end of the repayment period. At that time you'll have to pay a
small option fee actually to exercise your option to buy the asset. A
charge is made for the finance and you'll usually have to pay this by
monthly instalments along with the repayment of the capital. For
example:

Quarterly interest Monthly repayments

1st quarter £118

2nd quarter £11 2

3rd quarter £106
(and so on)

£100
£100
£100
£100
£100
£100
£100
£100
£100

Total per month
£100
£100
£218
£100
£100
£212
£100
£100
£206
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New motor van - cost £8,000: £1,000 deposit and balance over 3
years

£
Cost 8,000
Hire charges (finance charge) 1,010

Total HP cost 9,010

Repayments
Deposit 1,000
36 monthly payments of £222.50 8,010

Total                                                                             9,010.

The accounting treatment and taxation for HP are discussed below. You
should note that for both purposes you are treated as if you acquired the
asset at the start of the agreement, even though from a legal point of view
this is not the case.

Asset leasing
In a lease the goods never become your own property: they always
belong to the leasing company. The lease will normally be for a period
between 2 and 5 years. During this period you pay a rent for the use of
the asset. At the end of the period you can normally continue to use the
asset for which you pay a peppercorn (nominal) rent. These periods are
respectively called the primary and secondary lease periods. For exam-
ple:

Motor van on lease over 3 years

Primary - 36 monthly rentals of £250.00

Secondary - Thereafter annual (peppercorn) rental of £25.

When you eventually stop renting the asset it is sold by the leasing com-
pany and the proceeds divided between the lessor (the leasing company)
and the lessee (you or your business). If, for example, you use the van
for four years (and so were in the secondary lease period), and the lease
then ceased, the position might be:
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£
Proceeds of sale of van 1,000

Kept by leasing company 100
Leasing premiums returned to lessee 900

The exact arrangements would depend upon the terms of the lease,
which you'd have to look at carefully.

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT

Bank loans
How do we record a bank loan in a full double entry system? It's rela-
tively simple.

Example
Dr Cr

1. Debit the bank account (main cash book)
with the amount of the loan received 6,000

Credit a new bank loan account (to set
up the initial loan transaction) 6,000

2. Debit the bank loan a/c with the capital 100
portion of the monthly repayments per month

Debit the bank interest a/c with the
interest portion of the monthly repayments 118
or the quarterly interest charge in the first quarter
Credit the bank account with the monthly 100 &
repayments or the quarterly interest charge 118

This records the loan repayments.

At the end of each financial year you'll transfer the balance on your
Bank Interest account to your profit and loss account, and write it off.

Hire purchase
In order to enter hire purchase contracts in your accounts it's important
to keep two aspects in mind:

you need to account for the monthly repayments
you need to account separately for the hire charges (finance cost).

The accounting entries would be as shown in Figure 47.



Deposit payment
Repayments in year 1

7 @ £222.50=
Balance carried down

(end year 1)

Hire charges

Cr
8,000.00

1,010.00

9,010.00

6,452.50

Fig. 47. Accounting entries for hire purchase.

Dr
1,000.00

1557.50

6452.50

9010.00

Cost of van

Balance brought down

HIRE PURCHASE INTEREST ACCOUNT

HIRE PURCHASE CREDITOR ACCOUNT

Hire charges

Balance brought down

Dr
1,010.00

1,010.00

813.62

Profit & Loss A/c year 1
7/36 X £1010.00 =

Balance carried down

Cr
196.38

813.62

1,010.00
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Example
Let's take it step by step.

Dr Cr
Step 1 Set up the accounts for the transaction

Debit the asset a/c with the cost of the asset
(excluding HP charges) 8,000.00
Debit the hire purchase interest a/c with the
total of the HP charges 1,010.00
Credit the hire purchase a/c with the cost 8,000.00
of the asset and the HP charges 1,010.00

Step 2 Record payment of the deposit
Debit the hire purchase creditor a/c 1,000.00
and Credit the bank account with the
payment of the deposit 1,000.00

Step 3 Record repayments made in the year
(7 x £222.50)

Debit the hire purchase creditor a/c 1,557.50
and Credit the bank account with the
monthly repayments 1,557.50

Step 4 Charge the HP finance (interest) costs
in your profit and loss account

Debit the profit & loss account 196.38
and credit the hire purchase interest a/c 196.38
with the proportion of the hire purchase
charges relating to the year (see notes below).

Notes
There are several ways of apportioning the HP charge for the account-
ing year (Step 4). Here we have applied the fraction:

No. of instalments paid
x HP charges

Total no. of instalments
7/36 x £1010 = £196.38

This is not particularly accurate but it does for most purposes. To reflect
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the actual interest pattern accurately you'd have to take account of the
fact that the interest would be proportionately higher in the early months
of the agreement when most of the capital is still outstanding.

Leases
The accounting treatment of leases has changed in recent years. In the
past the accounting treatment followed the legal position and the
monthly rentals paid were written off as a charge in the profit and loss
accounts each year.

However, it was felt that outsiders looking at accounts were getting a
false impression of a business; they couldn't tell the value of the assets
used by the business even though they were owned by an independent
leasing company. Accordingly Statement of Standard Accounting Prac-
tice 21 now recommends leases should be treated like HP transactions.
This is obligatory for company accounts but optional for sole traders and
partnerships.

TAXATION TREATMENT

The taxation treatment of assets acquired on HP or leasing is very
different.

Hire purchase
When you acquire assets under an HP agreement, the Inland Revenue
treats you as owning the assets from the outset. You can thus claim cap-
ital allowances (see Chapter 10) on the cash value of the asset. You can
also claim tax relief for the hire charges (i.e. interest/finance costs)
because you have to deduct them from your profit and loss account. You
can also get the whole of the VAT back at the time of the acquisition (if
appropriate).

Leasing
The tax treatment for assets acquired under a lease has changed in
recent years. If you acquire an asset under a lease, you will not be able
to claim any capital allowances (since you don't own the asset and
never will). Instead you can deduct the whole of the amount that you
pay to the leasing company (except the VAT) from your business
profits. This, however, must be averaged over the life of the asset and
not just over the period of the lease as was the case previously.

Thus if a piece of equipment with an expected life of 5 years is
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acquired on a lease requiring 24 monthly payments of £250 (excluding
VAT) then the company will pay £6,000 (plus the VAT) to the leasing
company over the 2 years. For taxation purposes, however, the company
will only be able to claim tax relief at the rate of £1,200 for 5 years.

VAT is charged on each leasing instalment and so can only be
reclaimed over the period of the lease - not in one lump sum as with HP.

It will be seen that the timing of the tax relief depends on whether the
asset is acquired by lease or HP.

The capital allowances system gives relief on plant and equipment
over a number of years, but the amount of the relief reduces each year.
The relief is actually as follows:

Year % of cost in year Cumulative % relieved
1 25 25
2 19 44
3 14 58
4 10 68
5 8 76
6 6 82
7 4 86
8 3 89

After 8 years, 11% of the cost is still left unrelieved.
As you will appreciate, the amount allowed each year for an asset

acquired on lease will depend not only on its cost but also on its
expected life. Using the above example it is likely that there will be
higher relief in the early years by using the HP route but in the long term
there will be no effect on your overall tax liability.

SUMMARY

There are three ways of financing the purchase of new assets: bank
loan, hire purchase and leasing.

The method you choose will depend on the period of the finance
required, the nature of the asset and interest rates.

Each method has to be accounted for in a different way.



Dealing with Your
Professional Advisers

There are several professional people, and potential allies, that you will
need to consult when running your business. These might include:

your accountant
your bank manager
your solicitor
your insurance broker.

DEALING WITH YOUR ACCOUNTANT

Before you start in business it is well worth finding an accountant to
advise you. They will normally:

- prepare, and if necessary audit, your annual accounts
- agree your tax liabilities with the Inland Revenue.

They will also be able to help you with:

advice on the purchase or sale of your business
advice on how to keep the books
arrangements for business finance
writing up the statutory books for a limited company (if applicable)
investment advice
many other kinds of independent financial advice.

Although we looked at the preparation of annual accounts earlier in this
book, in practice few small businesses actually do this themselves.
Instead they keep the books of prime entry (cash book, day book, etc.)
and pass them to their accountant at the end of the year so that he or she
can prepare the accounts for them.

Choosing an accountant
When choosing an accountant the following points should be con-
sidered:
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1. Choose a firm of the right sort of size for your business. If your
business is small with only a few staff then a local accountancy
practice may be best. It will undoubtedly have plenty of experi-
ence of dealing with businesses just like yours and appreciate
local trading conditions. On the other hand if your business is
large, or if you need advice on specialist areas (e.g. the taxation
implications of setting up a subsidiary company in Alaska) then it
is probably better to consult one of the larger national firms.

2. If you choose a small firm, it's best to find one whose partners
belong to one of the main recognised bodies (e.g. The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales or the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants). They'll have the following
letters after their names:

FCA Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
AC A Associate member of the Institute of Chartered

Accountants
CA Member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
FCCA Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants
ACCA Associate Member of the Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants

3. Listen to the advice of other local traders (particularly in the same
line of business). They have had practical experience of dealing
with an accountant and can base any recommendations on personal
knowledge.

4. Finally, the personal factor. Choose an accountant you can really
talk and discuss your problems with. Your association may last
many years and you need someone you feel 'right' with in the good
times and the bad.

Be open with your accountant
Your accountant will prepare your annual accounts and advise you on
your financial affairs. But they can only do so if you give them all the
facts. If they ask you questions about your finance, it's because they
needs the details to help and advise you. They're not just being nosey!

Sometimes, for example when dealing with your tax, they might ask
questions that seem rather searching and even seem to question your
honesty. But it's far better that they ask the questions rather than the
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Inland Revenue! The accountant can then give an explanation to the
Inspector of Taxes about something that might otherwise arouse suspi-
cions and perhaps give rise to detailed enquiries.

How does an accountant fix their fees?
Most accountants charge according to the amount of time taken to deal
with your affairs. Many use a sophisticated time recording system to
keep track of the time they spend on each client's affairs; for example,
office work, meetings and telephone calls. Different members of the
accountant's staff will be charged out at different rates depending on
their technical ability. A junior clerk will obviously be charged out at
much less per hour than a partner. The accountant will use the most suit-
able grade of staff to look after the different aspects of your work.

Clearly, if you present your records to the accountant in a neat and
tidy condition they can keep their fee to a minimum. But if they had to
spend many expensive hours sorting out a 'messy' set of records, their
fee will certainly reflect the extra work.

Do make sure that your work on writing up the records will in fact
help your accountant. Some traders spend hours writing up records, but
since they are not in the right form for their accountant much of the time
is completely wasted. Discuss your records with your accountant early
on, so that you can agree the best way of doing things.

Briefing your accountant
Soon after the year end let your accountant have all your accounting
records. Do make sure that your records are complete at both the begin-
ning and end of the year. Often bank statements will cover a period that
spans the year end. If so the accountant will need the statement twice,
i.e. for the previous year and the next year.

It will also help your accountant (and save fees) if you provide them
with the following as at the year end:

details of your stock valuation

details of debtors (money owed to you)

details of creditors (money owed by you).

It is also useful to your accountant for you to note any unusual matters
concerning the business that have occurred during the year. All these
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matters will help your accountant prepare your annual accounts (and
thereby save you money)!

DEALING WITH YOUR BANK MANAGER

Almost every business needs a bank account to carry on its trade. You
will want to pay your suppliers by cheque, and need some way of clear-
ing cheques that you get from customers for sales.

The high street banks offer much the same services, although from
time to time they bring out new accounts or services, giving them an
edge (until their rivals copy the idea).

As with choosing an accountant, find a bank that you can work with.
Often this depends, at least to some extent, on the local branch manager.
If you get on well with them your financial path should be that much
smoother.

Arranging bank borrowing
Sooner or later most small businesses need extra loan finance and in
most cases the best place to get it is their own bank. Knowing how to put
your case to the bank manager can prove to be a major hurdle and by not
putting forward a well-argued case you will hamper your chances of suc-
cess. The bank manager can only decide about the loan on the informa-
tion that they are given. If this is too little or incorrect they'll have little
option but to say 'no'.

Remember, the bank manager does not want to say 'no'. Banks make
their profits by lending money and if all propositions were turned down
they would make no profit! On the other hand a bank must be satisfied
that it's a good lending proposition, and that they will get their money
back.

If the proposition is not financially sound the bank will not permit the
borrowing. This may seem hard at first, but in practice it often kills a
scheme at the outset that would in any case be doomed to failure. As well
as protecting their own investment the bank may also be saving yours.
Remember, they have lots of experience of small businesses; the failures
as well as the successes.

Putting forward your case
When you put forward your case to the bank, make sure you provide the
manager with the following:

the reason why you require the loan
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the amount of the loan
the anticipated period of the loan
your proposals for repayment
details of any assets you can put up as security for the loan.

If the manager is not familiar with your business (perhaps because you
have only just moved to the bank) you should provide them with a brief
typed review of the business and its history. You will be helping them to
help you.

DEALING WITH YOUR SOLICITOR

From time to time you may need to consult a solicitor to deal with vari-
ous business matters, for example:

the purchase or sale of your business
the purchase, sale or rental of property used by the business
disputes between the business and its suppliers or customers,
including debt collection
the preparation of partnership or other legal agreements.

Many of the points about dealing with your accountant also apply to
dealing with your solicitor. Remember they are working for you, and
you will get the best from them if you give them all the necessary infor-
mation. Bear in mind, too, that they charge for many of their services on
a time basis, perhaps £50 to £150 an hour (probably more in London).
Don't be afraid to ask how much. Be clear in your own mind what you
want them to do for you when you contact them; you can then give them
clear, concise instructions about what is needed. This will save them
time and you money.

USING AN INSURANCE BROKER

Most businesses need some sort of insurance to protect them when
things go wrong. For example:

fire at the business premises
theft of goods or equipment
product failure resulting in a claim from customers
liability to employees (and the public) for injury at the business
premises.
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Remember, it could only take one disaster to put all your plans - and
perhaps your whole business - at risk. Contact an independent insurance
broker and discuss your needs with them. Ask them for competitive
quotations and take out insurance accordingly. Many types of cover can
often be brought together in one 'business policy' with savings in the
total premiums.

Brokers who belong to the British Insurance Brokers Association
(BIBA) have to meet certain requirements, and this acts as a safeguard
to their clients.

Along with your other professional advisers your broker may also be
able to help you on life assurance and pension plans.

LOOKING FOR EXTRA HELP

A book such as this one can only introduce the main accounting topics,
and there will be times when you want further information.

Who you ask will depend upon what kind of information you
need. The following list may help you:

General accountancy, finance and taxation matters
Your local accountant. If you don't know one to contact, get in
touch with one of the following professional bodies for a list of
names:

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
Chartered Accountants Hall
Moorgate Place
London EC2P 2BJ
Tel: 020 7920 8100

The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
21 Haymarket Yards
Edinburgh EH12 5BH
Tel: (0131)347 0100

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
29 Lincoln's Inn Fields
London WC2A 3EE
Tel: 020 7396 7000
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The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
87-89 Pembroke Road
Ballsbridge
Dublin 4
Tel: 00 3531 6377200

The Association of Authorised Public Accountants
10 Lincoln's Inn Fields
London WC2A 3BP
Tel: 020 7396 5913

Taxation queries
Try your local Inspector of Taxes (see the telephone directory). They are
staffed by humans. They can supply sample forms and various useful
booklets and notes. Or of course ask your accountant if you have one.
Details are also available on the Inland Revenue web site:
www.hmce.gov.uk.

VAT queries
Your local Customs & Excise VAT Office should be able to help (see
under VAT in the telephone directory). Or of course ask your accountant
if you have one. Alternatively you can get information from their web
site: www.hmce.gov.uk.

National insurance queries
Contact your local Contributions Agency Office (see under Contribu-
tions Agency in the telephone directory). Or again ask your accountant
if you have one.

Finance
The following may be able to help you. The high street banks - see
under 'Banks' in Yellow Pages. For example, Barclays, Lloyds TSB,
HSBC, NatWest and others.

Hire purchase - see under 'Credit & Finance Companies' in Yellow
Pages.

Leasing - see under 'Credit & Finance Companies' in Yellow Pages.

Business start-up and consultancy
There may be many occasions in your business life (particularly when
you are just starting) when you feel you could benefit from getting help
and advice from someone. 'The bloke in the pub' is one source but the
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information that you get is likely to be far more reliable if it has come
from an accountant or a professional adviser.

One such source is Business Link (also called Small Business Gate-
ways in Scotland and Business Connects in Wales). Business Link is
managed nationally by the Small Firms Service, which is a government
agency dedicated to promoting small businesses. The service offers
information and advice on many matters ranging from starting a busi-
ness to employment law for your workers. They can also arrange con-
sultancy visits to discuss marketing, obtaining grants and finance or even
exporting to Europe.

In most cases the initial services are free and so Business Link makes
a good reference point for small businesses to seek advice. Even if they
cannot help you themselves then they will probably 'know a man who
can'!

They can be contacted on 0845 600 9006 (England): 0845 607 8787
(Scotland); and 0845 796 9798 (Wales).

And finally:
Remember the other books published by How To Books, including:
Cash Flows and Budgeting Made Easy (Peter Taylor)
Coping with Self Assessment (John Whiteley)
Financing a New Business (Phil Stone)
Mastering Book-Keeping (Peter Marshall)
Preparing a Winning Business Plan (Matthew Record)
Setting Up A Limited Company (Robert Browning)
Starting a Business From Home (Graham Jones)
Starting Your Own Business (Jim Green)
Taking up a Franchise (Matthew Record)
Understanding Financial Accounts (Phil Stone)
Your Own Business (Phil Stone)

Please send for a free copy of the latest catalogue for full details (see
back cover for address).

SUMMARY

Find an accountant to advise you on the financial aspects of your
business.

Build up a good relationship with your bankers. You don't know
when you might need their assistance.
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Consult a solicitor as and when necessary. If you use the same solic-
itor regularly they will come to know your business and its require-
ments which will help to keep fees to a minimum.

Do arrange necessary insurance. Discuss your requirements with a
broker.



Glossary

ACT. See advance corporation tax.
add-back. Adjustments made in the taxation computations adding non-

allowable expenditure included in the accounts on to the profit for the
year so that it suffers tax.

advance corporation tax. A liability to tax due following the payment
of a dividend by a limited company.

assets. The items of property and equipment owned by the business
together with money owed to the business by the customers, etc.;
money with bankers and cash held by the business. Contrast liabili-
ties.

balance sheet. A statement of the worth of the business at the account-
ing date expressed in terms of historical cost.

bank reconciliation. A statement showing the items making up the dif-
ference between the balance per the cash book and the balance on the
bank statement.

capital gains tax. Tax due on the profit from the sale of a capital asset.
capital introduced. Money (or other assets) introduced into a business

by the proprietor.
cash book. A book used to record either bank or cash transactions. Nor-

mally the left page (debit) is used to record receipts whilst the right
page (credit) is used to record payments.

cash float. A sum of money retained by the business to provide change
for future cash transactions and for the payment of some expenses in
cash.

cash flow statement. A schedule showing the budgeted receipts and
payments for the forthcoming year. Often there is provision to include
the actual amounts received and paid alongside the budgeted figures
which aids the monitoring of the results.

corporation tax. Tax paid by companies on their trading profits and
capital gains.

credit. An entry made on the right side of an account to record the giv-
ing of some benefit by the account. Contrast debit (see Chapter 5).
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debit. An entry made on the left side of an account recording the receiv-
ing of a benefit by the account. Contrast credit (see Chapter 5).

dividends. A distribution of the profits by a limited company to the
shareholders. The company is also obliged to pay ACT on the pay-
ment of a dividend.

drawings. Money (or other assets) withdrawn from a business by the
proprietor.

fixed assets. Property and equipment owned by the business which will
have a long-lasting benefit to the business.

gross profit. The profit earned by a business from trading, prior to the
deduction of overhead expenses. That is to say sales less direct cost
of sales equals gross profit (see also net profit).

historical cost. The original cost, particularly applicable to fixed assets,
without any adjustment for inflation which will have changed the
purchasing power of money.

income tax. Tax paid by individuals on their profits and other income.
The basic rate of tax for the year 2006/2007 is 22% but the higher rate
of 40% is chargeable when the taxable income, net of allowances,
exceeds £33,300. There is also a reduced rate of 10% charged on the
first £2,150 of taxable income.

input tax. VAT incurred on purchases which is reclaimable by a VAT
registered trader (or at least set against output tax due to reduce pay-
ments made to the Customs & Excise).

invoice. A document listing goods or services supplied and showing the
price, any VAT and the total amount due.

journal. A book of prime entry used to record adjustments and other
non-recurring accounting entries. It has debit and credit columns but
it does not form part of the double entry: it merely acts as a memo of
the entries to be made.

liabilities. Amounts owed by the business to suppliers, on hire purchase
arrangements, to bankers (loans or overdrafts) or to anyone else.
Contrast assets.

limited company. A business where the owners (the shareholders) have
a limited liability to contribute money to the business. The company
is a separate legal entity. Contrast partnership and sole trader.

mainstream liability. A company's liability to corporation tax prior to
any adjustment for ACT.

national insurance. A system of insurance run by the government into
which workers and employers make regular payments and which pro-
vides money for people who are unemployed, old or ill.

There are four classes of national insurance contribution:
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Class 1 - Employees/employers - payable on earnings over the mini. mini_
mum level (£97 per week in 2006/2007). The rate for the
employee is 11 % on the earnings between £97 and £645 per
week and 1% on the excess above that amount. For the
employer the rate is 12.8% on the excess over £97 per week.
There is no maximum contribution for the employer.

Class 2 - Self-employed persons - a fixed weekly contribution ofbutuiin of.
£2.10 per week.

Class 3 - Voluntary contributions - used to maintain benefits if no
other contributions are required. Rate £7.55 per week.

Class 4 - Self-employed persons - a further charge on the self-
employed levied at a rate of 8% on the taxable profits
between £5,035 and £33,540 and 1% on the excess above
that amount.

net profit. The profit of a business after taking account of all the
expenses.
NIC. National insurance contribution (see national insurance).
output tax. VAT charged on sales by a registered business.
overheads. Money spent regularly to keep the business running. Over-

heads include such charges as rent, heat and light, bank interest on
overdrafts and other expenses which are not directly related to the
purchase of the goods or services being sold by the business.

partnership. A business which is owned and run by a group of individ-
uals with a view to profit. Unlike a limited company the business is
not a separate legal entity from those that own it and the individual
partners are each responsible for the debts of the business. Contrast
limited company and sole trader..

paying-in book. A book of credit slips for paying money into a bank
account. There is normally space to write the source of the money on
the counterfoil which is retained in the book.

post. To make entries in a ledger to complete the double entry recording
of a business transaction.

profit and loss account. An account summarising the income ande and
expenditure of a business for a given period and showing the surplus
income (profit) or deficit (loss).

purchase day book. One of the books of prime entry. It is used in con-
junction with a purchase ledger and to record the purchase invoices
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received by the business. The items are then posted to the individual
purchase ledger accounts (the credit entry) and the double entry is
made by posting the summarised figures (normally for the month) to
the debit of the nominal ledger. The book also forms a useful sum-
mary from which VAT information can be extracted.

records. A global word to include all the accounting information for the
business. The records would comprise: the cash book and bank state-
ments; purchase invoices and copy sales invoices; sales and purchase
ledgers and associated day books if applicable; the wages book and
the nominal ledger.

retail scheme. The retail schemes are methods of calculating the output
VAT of a business where it is impractical to record the detail of each
individual sale (see page 47).

sales day book. One of the books of prime entry. It is used in conjunc-
tion with a sales ledger to record the sales invoices issued by a busi-
ness. The items are then posted to the individual customer sales
ledger accounts (the debit entry) and the double entry is made by
posting the summarised figures (for the month) to the credit of the
nominal ledger. The book also forms a useful summary of the infor-
mation needed to complete the VAT return.

sole trader. A person running a business on his/her own; that is without
any business partner. He/she is responsible for the debts of the business.

statement. A summary of a person's ledger account extracted from the
books of account and issued to that person. For example, a statement
for a sales ledger account would be issued to a customer and would
summarise all the invoices that they owed to the business at that time.
A bank statement details the transactions on a bank account and is
issued to the customer periodically so that they can confirm that the
final balance shown is correct.

takings. The receipt of money as a result of sales.
taxation computation. A schedule showing the adjustments to thethe

accounts profit in order to arrive at the taxable profit of the business.
In particular some items of expense that have been recorded in the
accounts will need to be 'added back'. See Chapter 10 for more
details.

trial balance. A list of balances on the accounts in the nominal ledger
extracted primarily to ensure that the total debits equal the total
credits and the accounting records are therefore correct and in
balance. See page 83 for more detail.

turnover. The amount of business done in a particular period. It is
generally expressed as a measure of sales: for example, £10,000
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per year would mean that the total sales in one year amounted to
£10,000.

VAT. See Value Added Tax.
Value Added Tax. A tax (currently 17.5%) levied on the sales/supplies

made by a registered trader. Because of the set-off of tax charged to
the trader on their purchases the result is to collect from them tax on
the value added by them (basically their profit). See Chapter 3 for
more detail.



Further Reading

100 Ways to Make Your Business a Success, Neil Bromage (How To
Books, 2003).

Cash Flows and Budgeting Made Easy, Peter Taylor (How To Books,
4th edition 2002).

Going for Self-employment, John Whiteley (How To Books, 2nd editionion
2003)

Lloyds TSB Small Business Guide, Sara Williams (Press Vitesse, 2003).
Managing Your Personal Finances, John Caxton (How To Books, 4th

edition, 2003).
Mastering Book-Keeping, Peter Marshall (How To Books, 6th edition,

2001).
Preparing a Winning Business Plan, Mathew Record (How To Books,

4th edition, 2003).
Starting Your Own Business, Jim Green (How To Books, 3rd edition,

revised and re-issued 2003).
Tolley 's Tax Guide, (Tolley Publishing Co Ltd) published annually.
Setting up & Running Your Own Business, (How To Books, 2nd edition

2004).
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Sources of Further Information

USEFUL WEBSITE ADDRESSES

Name
Inland Revenue
Inland Revenue Self Assessment Site
HM Customs and Excise
H M Treasury
Department of Trade and Industry
Companies House
The Charity Commission

Her Majesty's Stationery Office
Bank of England
Office of the Information Commissioner
Office of Fair Trading
Government Press Releases
Institute of Chartered Accountants

in England & Wales
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland
Association of Accounting Technicians
The Law Society
The Institute of Taxation
Accounting Standards Board
Auditing Practices Board

USEFUL TELEPHONE NUMBERS
Name
Companies House
Office of the Information Commissioner
Institute of Chartered Accountants in

England & Wales
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland
Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland

The Law Society
The Institute of Taxation
Accounting Standards Board
Auditing Practices Board
Association of Accounting Technicians

Website address
www.inlandrevenue.gov.uk
www.inlandrevenue.gov.uk/sa/
www.hmce.gov.uk
www.hm-treasury.gov.uk
www.dti.gov.uk
www.companieshouse.co.uk
www.charity-

commission.gov.uk
www.hmso.gov.uk
www.bankofengland.co.uk
www.dataprotection.gov.uk
www.oft.gov.uk
www.coi.gov.uk
www.icaew.co.uk

www.acca.co.uk
www.icas.org.uk
www.icai.ie
www.aat.co.uk
www.lawsociety.org.uk
www.tax.org.uk
www.asb.org.uk
www.apb.org.uk

Telephone number
02920 388588
01625 545700
02079208100

020 7396 7000
0131 3470100
01232 321600 (Belfast)
003531 6377200 (Dublin)
020 7242 122
02072359381
02074048818
020 7920 8408
020 7837 8600
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Appendix 1
Tax Rates

The tax rates apply to the financial year 2006/2007.

Income tax (basic rate) 22%

Starting rate on first £2,150 taxable income 10%

Higher rate on taxable income over £33,300 40%

Corporation tax (full rate) 30%
(small companies rate) 19%

Capital gains tax (individuals) Depending upon your total
income for the year - either

10%, 20% or 40%
(annual exemption) £8,800

Value Added Tax (standard rate) 17.5%
(fuel rate) 5%

VAT turnover registration limit
(from 1 April 2006) £61,000
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Appendix 2
Sources of Computer Information

COMPUTER BOOKKEEPING SOFTWARE

The following companies produce bookkeeping software suitable for
small to medium-sized businesses:

Sagesoft Ltd
Sage House
Benton Park Road
Newcastle upon Tyne
NE7 7LZ

TAS Software pic
Addington House
5 Compton Road
London
SW19 7QA

Pegasus Software Ltd
Orion House
Orion Way
Kettering
Northamptonshire
NN15 6PE

Other useful contact:

Microsoft

Tel: (0191) 255 3000
Fax: (0191) 255 0308

Web site: www.sage.com

Tel:
Fax:

0845 245 0220
0845 245 0220

Web site: www.tassoftware.com

Tel:
Fax:

(01536) 49500.
(01536) 49500.

Web site: www.pegasus.co.uk

www.microsoft.com
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Appendix 3
Format of Company Accounts

Extract from The Companies Act 1985
(Numbers in brackets refer to Notes below).

BALANCE SHEET FORMAT

Format 1
A. Called up share capital not paid (7)

B. Fixed Assets
I Intangible assets

1. Development costs
2. Concessions, patents, licences, trade marks and

similar rights and assets (2)
3. Goodwill (3)
4. Payments on account

II Tangible assets
1. Land and buildings
2. Plant and machinery
3. Fixtures, fittings, tools and equipment
4. Payments on account and assets in course of

construction

III Investments
1. Shares in group companies
2. Loans to group companies
3. Shares in related companies
4. Loans to related companies
5. Other investments other than loans
6. Other loans
7. Own shares (4)

C. Current assets
I Stocks

1. Raw materials and consumables
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2. Work in progress
3. Finished goods and goods for resale
4. Payments on account

II Debtors (5)
1. Trade debtors
2. Amounts owed by group companies
3. Amounts owed by related companies
4. Other debtors
5. Called up share capital not paid (7)
6. Prepayments and accrued income (6)

III Investment
1. Shares in group companies
2. Own shares (4)
3. Other investments

IV Cash at bank and in hand

D. Prepayments and accrued income (6)

E. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
1. Debenture loans (7)
2. Bank loans and overdrafts
3. Payments received on account (8)
4. Trade creditors
5. Bills of exchange payable
6. Amounts owed to group companies
7. Amounts owed to related companies
8. Other creditors including taxation and

social security (9)
9. Accruals and deferred income (10)

F. Net current assets (liabilities) (11)

G. Total assets less current liabilities

H. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
1. Debenture loans (7)
2. Bank loans and overdrafts
3. Payments received on account (8)
4. Trade creditors
5. Bills of exchange payable
6. Amounts owed to group companies
7. Amounts owed to related companies
8. Other creditors including taxation and

social security (9)
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9. Accruals and deferred income (10)

I. Provisions for liabilities and charges
1. Pensions and similar obligations
2. Taxation, including deferred taxation
3. Other provisions

J. Accruals and deferred income (10)

K. Capital and reserves
I Called up share capital (12)

II Share premium account

III Revaluation reserve

IV Other reserves
1. Capital redemption reserve
2. Reserve for own shares
3. Reserves provided for by the articles of association
4. Other reserves

V Profit and loss account

Notes on the balance sheet format
(1) Called up share capital not paid

(Format 1, items A and C.II.5)
This item may be shown in either of the two positions given in
Format 1.

(2) Concession, patents, licences, trade marks and similar rights and
assets

(Format 1, item B.I.2)
Amounts in respect of assets shall only be included in a
company's balance sheet under this item if either:
(a) the assets were acquired for valuable consideration and are

not required to be shown under goodwill; or
(b) the assets in question were created by the company itself.

(3) Goodwill
(Format 1, item B.1.3)

Amounts representing goodwill shall only be included to the
extent that the goodwill was acquired for valuable consideration.

(4) Own shares
(Format 1, items B.III.7 and C.III.2)

The nominal value of the shares held shall be shown separately.
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(5) Debtors
(Format 1, items C.II.l to 6)

The amount falling due after more than one year shall be shown
separately for each item included under debtors.

(6) Prepayments and accrued income
(Format 1, items C.II.6 and D)

This item may be shown in either of the two positions given in
Format 1.

(7) Debenture loans
(Format 1, items E.I and H.I)

The amount of any convertible loans shall be shown separately.

(8) Payments received on account
(Format 1, items E.3 and H.3)

Payments received on account of orders shall be shown for each
of these items in so far as they are not shown as deductions from
stocks.

(9) Other creditors including taxation and social security
(Format 1, items E.8 and H.8)

The amount for creditors in respect of taxation and social
security shall be shown separately from the amount for other
creditors.

(10) Accruals and deferred income
(Format 1, items E.9, H.9 and J)

The two positions given for this item in Format 1 at E.9 and H.9
are an alternative to the position at J, but if the item is not shown
in a position corresponding to that at J it may be shown in either
or both of the other two positions (as the case may require).

(11) Net current assets (liabilities)
(Format 1, item F)

In determining the amount to be shown for this item any amounts
shown under 'prepayments and accrued income' shall be taken
into account wherever shown.

(12) Called up share capital
(Format 1, item K.I)

The amount of allotted share capital and the amount of called up
share capital which has been paid up shall be shown separately.
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(Note 13 has been omitted as it refers to the Format 2 Balance Sheet
which is not reproduced here.)

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FORMATS

Format 1
(See Note (77) below)

1. Turnover
2. Cost of sales (14)
3. Gross profit or loss
4. Distribution costs (14}
5. Administrative expenses (14)
6. Other operating income
7. Income from shares in group companies
8. Income from shares in related companies
9. Income from other fixed asset investments (75)

10. Other interest receivable and similar income (75)
11. Amounts written off investments
12. Interest payable and similar charges (16)
13. Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities
14. Profit or loss on ordinary activities after taxation
15. Extraordinary income
16. Extraordinary charges
17. Extraordinary profit or loss
18. Tax on extraordinary profit or loss
19. Other taxes not shown under the above items
20. Profit or loss for the financial year

Format 2
1. Turnover
2. Change in stocks of finished goods and in work in progress
3. Own work capitalised
4. Other operating income
5. (a) Raw materials and consumables

(b) Other external charges
6. Staff costs:

(a) wages and salaries
(b) social security costs
(c) other pension costs

7. (a) Depreciation and other amounts written off tangible and
intangible fixed assets
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(b) Exceptional amounts written off current assets
8. Other operating charges
9. Income from shares in group companies

10. Income from shares in related companies
11. Income from other fixed asset investments (75)
12. Other interest receivable and similar income (75)
13. Amounts written off investments
14. Interest payable and similar charges (76)
15. Tax on profit or loss on ordinary activities
16. Profit or loss on ordinary activities after taxation
17. Extraordinary income
18. Extraordinary charges
19. Extraordinary profit or loss
20. Tax on extraordinary profit or loss
21. Other taxes not shown under the above items
22. Profit or loss for the financial year

Notes on the profit and loss account formats
(14) Cost of sales: distribution costs: administrative expenses

(Format 1, items 2, 4 and 5)
These items shall be stated after taking into account any neces-
sary provisions for depreciation or diminution in value of assets.

(15) Income from other fixed asset investments: other interest receivable
and similar income

(Format 1, items 9 and 10: Format 2, items 11 and 12)
Income and interest derived from group companies shall be
shown separately from income and interest derived from other
sources.

(16) Interest payable and similar charges
(Format 1, item 12: Format 2, item 14)

The amount payable to group companies shall be shown
separately.

(17) Format 1
The amount of any provisions for depreciation and diminution in
value of tangible and intangible fixed assets falling to be shown
under items 7 (a) and A.4(a) respectively in Format 2 shall be dis-
closed in a note to the accounts in any case where the profit and
loss account is prepared by reference to Format 1.
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abbreviated accounts, 131
accountant, 17, 163-166
accounting concepts, 123-124, 128
accruals, 124
aged debtors, 138
analysed cash book, 65-67
analysed purchase day book, 76
annual accounts, 113-134
asset leasing, 155, 157-158
assets, 14, 85, 113
audit, 13, 17, 129, 132-133

backup copies, 107-109
bad debts, 87
balance sheet, 22, 107, 113, 117,

128, 129
bank account, 28, 30-32
bank loan, 155, 158
bank manager, 166-167
bank reconciliation statement, 31-32,

105
batch input, 103
books of prime entry, 86
budget, 140
business

size, 19
start-up, 130-131, 169
type, 20

capital account, 85, 123
capital allowances, 147
capital expenditure, 113
capital gains, 145, 154
capital introduced, 30
cash book, 24, 27-30, 38, 52-55,

65-67, 86
cash expenses, 32-33
cash flow, 16, 135-136
cash transactions, 32, 35-38

cheques, 31
choosing software, 24, 101-105
Class 4 national insurance, 144
Companies Act 1985, 129, 181-186
company accounts, 129-134
company taxation, 150-153
computerised accounting, 24,

100-109
consistency concept, 124
control account, 73
corporation tax, 152
credit, 30, 81-82
credit control, 137-138
creditor, 18
current assets, 85, 118
current liabilities, 85, 119
Customs & Excise, 17

daily cash summary, 35-37
day book, 68, 74, 76, 77
debit, 30, 81-82
debtor, 18
deductions from wages, 92-96
departmental analysis, 104
depreciation, 125-127

reducing balance, 126
straight line, 126

development loan, 155
directors, 21, 98, 129
dividends, 152
double entry bookkeeping, 80-89
drawings, 22, 23, 98

employees, 90
Employment Protection

(Consolidation) Act 1978, 97
errors, 88-89
expenses, 22, 32
financial decisions, 14-16
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Financial Services Act 1986, 18, 133
First Year Allowance, 127-148
fixed assets, 85, 118, 125-128

depreciation, 125-127

glossary, 172
going concern concept, 124
gross profit, 120

hire purchase, 154-161
historical cost convention, 125, 128

impersonal accounts, 83
income tax, 94, 96, 145
inflation, 125
inheritance tax, 145
Inland Revenue, 16, 90, 93, 145,

147, 149, 150, 169
insolvent, 14
insurance broker, 167
interest rates, 155
invoices, 24, 28, 33-35, 102

duplicate book, 34
printed, 34
purchase, 24, 33-34
sales, 24, 34-35, 68
VAT, 48-49, 55

journal, 86-88

leasing, 153, 157-158, 161
limited company, 21, 85, 129-134,

150-153
loans, 155

management information, 135-143
manufacturing account, 127-128
monitoring progress, 140

national insurance, 94, 96, 97-98, 169
Class 4, 144, 149

national minimum wage, 98, 99
net assets, 119
net profit, 113, 122
nominal ledger, 24, 83, 102
notes to accounts, 123, 129
overdraft, 155
overheads, 85, 122

partnership, 20, 85, 144
pay

gross, 90-92
net, 96

PAYE, 23, 92-93, 144, 151
paying-in books, 31
payslips, 97
performance ratios, 142
personal accounts, 83
personal ledgers, 68
preprinted accounting books, 110-111
profit, 23, 113, 119
profit and loss account, 21, 107, 113,

119-123,128,129
prudence concept, 124
purchase day book, 20, 24, 76, 77, 86
purchase ledger, 20, 24, 68, 76, 102

real time input, 103
Registrar of Companies, 130, 131
retail schemes, 45-47, 54
revenue expenditure, 113

sales day book, 20, 24, 68, 86
sales ledger, 20, 24, 68-75, 102
self assessment, 16, 149
shareholders, 21
sole trader, 20, 85, 144
solicitor, 167
solvency, 14
Statements of Standard Accounting

Practice (SSAPs), 129
stock control, 102
Surcharge Liability Notice, 43

tax
allowances, 16, 149
credits, 152
liability, 13, 17
rates, 179

taxation
company, 150-53
partnership, 144-150
sole trader, 144-150

trading account, 120
trial balance, 83, 117

VAT, 13, 17, 40-64, 66, 104, 110,
161, 162, 169
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accounting periods, 43
adjustment for private use, 59-61
cash accounting basis, 54, 55
form, 44
input tax, 40-41,50
invoices, 48-49
motoring expenses, 60
non-deductible input tax, 59
output tax, 49, 54
registration, 41, 42
retention of records, 63
return, 43-45
second-hand goods, 61, 62

taxable supplies, 40
taxable turnover, 41
tax point system, 49-52
zero-rated sales, 58

wages, 90-99, 103, 122
wages book, 97
Windows, 105
working capital, 119
Writing Down Allowance, 148

year end accounts, 113-134
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